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Reader’s Guide 
Autoliv Inc. is incorporated in Delaware, USA, and  
Autoliv follows Generally Accepted Accounting 
 Principles in the United States (U.S. GAAP). This annual 
report also contains certain non-U.S. GAAP measures, 
see pages 32–33. All amounts in this annual report are 
in U.S. dollars unless otherwise indicated. 

“We”, “the Company” and “Autoliv” refer to  “Autoliv 
Inc.” as de�ned in Note 1 “Principles of Consolidation” 
on page 49. 

For forward-looking information, refer to the “Safe 
Harbor Statement” on page 31. 

Data on markets and competitors are Autoliv’s esti-
mates that are based on orders awarded to us or our com-
petitors. The estimates are also based on plans announced 
by vehicle manufacturers and regulatory agencies.

Financial Information
Every year, Autoliv publishes an annual report and a 
proxy statement prior to the Annual General Meeting 
(see page 26). The proxy statement provides informa-
tion not only on the agenda for the meeting, but also on 
the work of the Board and its committees, compensa-
tion paid to and presentation of directors and certain 
senior of�cers. 

For �nancial information, please also refer to the 
Form 10-K and Form 10-Q reports and Autoliv’s  other 
�lings with the Securities and Exchange Commis-
sion (SEC) and the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE). 
These �lings (including the CEO/CFO Section 302 Cer-
ti�cations, Section 16 Insider Filings, and the 2007 CEO 
 Certi�cation to the NYSE) are available at www.autoliv.
com under Investors/Filings and at www.sec.gov. 

The annual and quarterly reports, the proxy statement 
and Autoliv’s �lings with the SEC as well as the Com-
pany’s Corporate Governance Guidelines, Charters, 
Codes of Ethics and other documents governing the 
Company can be downloaded from the Company’s cor-
porate website. Hard copies of the above-mentioned 
documents can be obtained free of charge from the 
Company at the addresses on page 27. 
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Autoliv – Driven for Life

Advanced Safety Systems

Autoliv has accounted for virtually all major technological breakthroughs in the occupant restraint  industry 
over the last 20 years and we are determined to remain in the forefront of development. The new 2008  Laguna 
obtained the highest result ever in the EuroNCAP crash test program. This is an example of a  vehicle that 
 features many advanced products from Autoliv1).

Airbags

O Curtain airbags reduce the risk of life-threat-

ening head injuries in side impacts by approxi-

mately 50% for occupants who are sitting on the 

side of the vehicle that is struck. Curtain airbags 

cover the whole upper side of the vehicle. 

O�The adaptive frontal airbag for the driver re-

duces fatalities in frontal crashes by approxi-

mately 25% (for belted drivers) and serious head 

injuries by over 60%. Both the driver and the pas-

senger airbag in the new Laguna are “smart”. 

Consequently, the power of the airbags can be 

tuned to the severi ty of the crash, using dual-

stage airbag in�ators (i.e., airbag in�ators with 

adaptive output). The Laguna driver airbag is 

Seatbelt Systems

O�Modern seatbelts can reduce the overall risk 

of serious injuries in frontal crashes by as much 

as 60% thanks to two advanced seatbelt tech-

nologies installed in the Laguna’s front and rear 

seats: pretensioners and load limiters.

O�Retractor pretensioners tighten the belt at 

the onset of a frontal crash, using a small pyro-

technic charge. Slack is eliminated and the oc-

cupant is restrained as early as possible, thereby 

reducing the risk of rib fractures.

O�Load limiters pay out some webbing in a con-

trolled way to avoid the load on the occupant’s 

chest from becoming too high. 

O�Lap pretensioners in each front seatbelt 

 system further tighten the webbing to avoid slid-

ing under the belt which improves lower leg pro-

tection and prevents abdominal injuries from a 

loose belt. These pretensioners are deployed 

both in frontal and side-impact collisions. 

When used in combination, pretensioners, 

load limiters, lap pretensioners and frontal air-

bags can reduce the risk for life-threatening 

head or chest injuries by 75% in frontal crashes.

also using a new type of cushion, Multi-Volume 

Cushion (see separate description). 

O�The 3D frontal airbag for the front-seat pas-

senger reduces fatalities in frontal crashes by ap-

proximately 20% (for belted front-seat passen-

gers). It deploys in 50 milliseconds, half the time 

of the blink of an eye. 

O�Front side-airbags have dual chambers to 

protect both the pelvis and the chest areas of the 

occupant, reducing the risk of serious injuries in 

side-impact crashes by approximately 25%.

O�Rear side-airbags reduce injuries for rear 

seat occupants. 

1
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O�The steering wheel has several different op-

tions for control switches. The switches that are 

sitting at “a �nger tip’s distance” for the driver 

make it not only more comfortable to control dif-

ferent functions but also makes driving safer.
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1) Other Important Products
Autoliv also produces knee airbags, anti-sliding 

bags, whiplash protection systems, child seats, 

and pedestrian hood-lifters, as well as night  

vision systems, telematics and other active  

safety systems.
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Multi-Volume Cushion
The Laguna driver airbag cushion is not circular as most traditional driver 

airbags. Thanks to its speci�c shape, the bag catches the occupant earli-

er, making the “landing” in the bag softer. The bag also has a number of 

different tear-seams that will open depending on the actual size of the 

occupant and the crash severity.

Electronics

O The Electronic Control Unit (ECU) is the brain 

of the car’s safety systems. It decides not only if, 

but also exactly when, the seatbelt pretension-

ers should be tightened and each airbag protec-

O3
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tion system should be deployed. The ECU con-

tains crash sensors and a microprocessor, as 

well as back-up electricity in the event the con-

nection to the car battery is cut off in the crash. 

The ECU is located in the middle of the vehicle, 

where it is well protected during a crash. 

O To further improve the protection of the occu-

pants in side crashes, special attention has been 

put into the Laguna’s side crash sensor system. 

For controlling the deployment of the curtain air-

bags and the new generation dual chamber side 

airbags, the electronic system has two satellite 

sensors located in each door instead of only one. 

A speci�c algorithm sets the time for deployment 

depending of the violence and direction of the 

impact.  

11

12

1 Small statured occupants and relatively 

low crash severity; only the tear seams in 

the lower part of the cushion open during 

deployment due to low weight of the occu-

pant.

2 Full statured occupants and high crash 

severity; the tear seams in the lower part of 

the cushion will open as for the smaller 

 occupant. Additionally, the inertia force 

from a heavier occupant will also open tear 

seams in the upper part of the cushion 

 increasing the volume and adding venting 

areas to adapt the performance of the 

 airbag.
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t  Sales growth resumed. 

t  Operating margin affected by start-up costs in China, commodity prices and a court ruling. 

t  Continued strong cash �ow and record returns to shareholders.

t  Continued move to and expansion in low-cost countries.

t  Acquisitions of joint ventures in Korea, China and India.

t  First order for Europe’s “eCall in Every Car” and new contracts for night vision and  integrated ECUs.

Net Sales
In 2007, sales grew by 9% to a record level of 

$6.8 billion after three years with relatively �at 

sales due to weak light vehicle production in 

Western Europe and North America where Auto-

liv generates more than 70% of sales. Growth in 

2007 was driven primarily by strong demand for 

seatbelts and strong growth in light vehicle pro-

duction in emerging markets.   

(Dollars in millions, except as indicated) 20071) 20062) 2005 

Sales  $6,769 $6,188 $6,205 

Operating income 502 520 513 

Income before taxes 446 481 482 

Net income 288 402 293 

Earnings per share in $3) 3.68 4.88 3.26 

Operating margin (%) 7.4 8.4 8.3 

Cash �ow from operations  781 560 479 

Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 12.0 17.1 11.7 

Dividends paid  121 112 105 

Share repurchases  $380 $221 $378 

Earning per Share (EPS)
In 2007, a court ruling (see page 37) reduced 

earnings per share by 26 cents while earnings 

per share in 2006 was boosted by $1.15 from the 

release of tax reserves. Excluding these effects, 

earnings per share rose by 6% to $3.94 (non-

U.S. GAAP measure, see page 32) between 

2006 and 2007, and at a compounded average 

annual growth rate (CAGR) of 8.8% since 2003. 

Shareholder Returns
During 2007, Autoliv returned $501 million to 

shareholders through share buybacks and quar-

terly dividends. This was $151 million more than 

cash �ow before �nancing of $350 million and 

corresponds to a yield of 11% in relation to the 

Company’s average market capitalization dur-

ing the year. 

1) A court ruling (see page 37) reduced operating income and income before taxes by $30 million, net income by $20 million, earnings 
per share by 26 cents, operating margin by 0.5  percentage points, cash from operations by $36 million and return on equity by 0.8 
percentage points (see page 32). 2) Release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items boosted net income by $95 million, earnings 
per share by $1.15 and return on equity by 3.9 percentage points (see page 32). 3) Assuming dilution.
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Overview

A Quick Ride Through Autoliv

2002   Anti-sliding bag, Adaptive load limiter

2000   Telematics

1998   Curtain airbag, Anti-whiplash seat

1997   ITS (side airbag for head protection) 

1995   Knee airbag, seatbelt load limiter

1994   Side thorax airbag

1992   Steering wheel integrated sensor

1989   Seatbelt buckle pretensioner

1980   Airbag production

1956   Seatbelt production

2004   Asymmetric driver airbag  

2005   Night vision system, Pedestrian hood

2006   Safety Vent Airbag, ECU integration

2007   Bumper Airbag, Front Edge Airbag, 
 Multi-Volume Cushion

1986   Belt grabber

World’s Firsts from Autoliv

Each year more than one million people are killed in automotive accidents and many 
more are injured, causing immeasurable suffering to individuals and families – Autoliv’s 
vision is to substantially reduce traf�c accidents, fatalities and injuries.

Technological Leadership (see page 18)
Autoliv is a highly innovative company. We hold 7% of all important automotive safety patents in the 

world. R,D&E, gross corresponds to 8% of sales. 

Growth Drivers (see page 14)
Autoliv’s market – the global occupant restraint 

market – has grown at an annual average rate of 

5% during the last 10 years to $18.5 billion. The 

market has grown by 2% per year due to higher 

light vehicle production and by 3% as a result of 

growing safety content per vehicle. 

Global Presence (see page 14)
Autoliv’s sales have risen at an average rate of 

7.6% per year to $6.8 billion since the start of 

the new Autoliv Inc. company in 1997. This com-

pares favorably with the average growth rate of 

our market of 5% per year. 

One reason for this outperformance and in-

crease in our market share is our strong pres-

ence in Asia and other Rest of the World-coun-

tries. As a result, Autoliv now accounts for more 

than one third of the global market for occupant 

restraints (i.e. airbags, seatbelts and related 

safety electronics).

Average safety content per vehicle
Global light vehicle production

Total market
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Attractive Customer Mix (see page 14)
We have sales to all the leading vehicle manufacturers, and our attractive customer mix has   

become even more diversi�ed. 

Capital Efficiency (see page 24)
Since 2003, Autoliv has grown sales by 28% 

and operating income (on an comparable basis) 

by 25% without increasing capital employed by 

more than 11%. This capital ef�ciency improve-

ment has resulted in steady earnings per share 

growth and cash �ow.

Creating Value for  
Our Shareholders (see page 25)
Our share repurchases have contributed to grow-

ing earnings per share by 40% which is a growth 

rate of 8.8%, signi�cantly faster than operating in-

come, which increased by 25% at a rate of 5.7%.

All numbers adjusted see page 32.

Motivated and Dedicated 
Employees (see page 22)
Autoliv’s dedicated and motivated 42,000 asso-

ciates in 32 countries provide the highest com-

mitment and service to customers all over the 

globe.
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Quality Excellence (see page 21)
Autoliv’s products never get a second chance. 

Therefore, manufacturing and quality excellence 

are imperative for a world-class supplier of safety 

systems. Plants accounting for more than 99% of 

consolidated sales are certi�ed to the automotive 

quality standard ISO/TS 16 949. 

Autoliv 
Quality System

(AQS)

Autoliv 
Production System

(APS)

Autoliv 
Supplier Manual

(ASM)

Autoliv Product 
Development System

(APDS)

Eliminate bad 
designs

Eliminate bad 
components

Eliminate bad 
manufacturing

Eliminate 
non-conforming 
products

Zero 
defect

Customer Mix 2007
2007

1997
Ford 12% / Volvo 6% 

GM 11%

Mercedes 4%

Chrysler 4%

Renault Nissan 12%

Volkswagen 10%

Peugeot Citroën 8%

BMW 6%

Honda 5%

Hyundai 4%

Others 12%

Toyota 6%

Opportunistic Share  
Buybacks (see page 25)
We have used some of this cash �ow to buy back 

shares in an opportunistic way; i.e. we have 

bought more shares when we believe the price to 

be low and fewer shares when the price has been 

higher.
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President’s Letter

Dear Shareholders,

I intend – together with our associates – to fur-

ther develop Autoliv’s leading positions. We will 

continue to grow our Company faster than the 

global automotive safety market, both organi-

cally and through acquisitions. We will also con-

tinue to reduce costs to increase our pro�tabili-

ty and cash �ow. This cash can then be used to 

create shareholder value either through share 

buybacks, dividend increases or acquisitions.  

And, of course, in line with our social respon-

sibility and business vision, we will continue to 

create value for our customers, employees and 

the societies where we operate.

Autoliv’s  vision ”to substantially reduce traf-

�c accidents, fatalities and injuries” is  concrete 

and measurable. It is highly motivating – in fact 

a privilege – to work for this company and for 

something as important and meaningful as sav-

ing lives. Unlike many companies’ visions which 

are abstract and only achievable in the distant 

future, we turn our vision into reality every day. 

However, as we “Live our Vision”, we must 

not lose focus of the realities of business. Since 

no company in the long run can provide value-

added products for its customers, well pay-

ing jobs for its associates, or attractive returns 

for its shareholders without pro�tability and 

growth, I set the following priority list when I as-

sumed of�ce:

1. Short- and long-term Profitability
2. Long-term Growth
3. Shareholder Returns

Profitability
Pro�tability quickly became our top priority re-

�ecting the fact that we saw operating margin 

sliding. The margin slid from 8.4% achieved in 

2006 to “exceeding 8%” expected for 2007 at 

the beginning of the year, and then slid further 

to “close to 8%” expected after the �rst quarter. 

The �nal level landed at 7.9% on a comparable 

basis (i.e. excluding the effect of a court ruling, 

see page 37). 

Although this decline of 0.5 percentage 

points is due to unusually high start-up costs in 

China, higher raw material prices and distressed 

suppliers, we had to ensure that this would not 

become the start of a new trend.

Therefore in 2007, we intensi�ed our efforts 

to shift production and engineering to low-cost 

countries (LCC) and to increase our sourcing of 

components in these countries. As a result, we 

currently have 52% of our personnel in LCC (see 

graph) compared to 47% a year ago and less 

than 10% when the program started in 1999.  

As to purchasing components, we increased 

the share purchased in LCC to 30% (see graph) 

and we remain committed to our target to reach 

50% by the end of this decade. 

Additionally, in 2007, our restructuring activ-

ities were unusually high, which resulted in $10 

million higher restructuring costs than in 2006. 

One seatbelt plant in the U.S was closed down 

and several other manufacturing lines were 

moved to Mexico and other LCC. 

In 2007, we also improved labor productivity by 

more than 7%, well above our target of at least 

5% annually (see graph).

Our 42,000 associates have done a great job 

to help Autoliv achieve these results. I am grate-

ful to everyone who continously contributes to 

the success of our company through their ded-

icated daily work. Thanks to them and the ac-

tions I just mentioned, operating margin should 

recover in 2008.

Long-term Growth
However, it is not enough to maintain a steady 

margin. In order to grow earnings and cash �ow 

we also need to grow our top line. 

In this respect, we are helped by the expected 

continued growth of both vehicle production and 

the safety content per vehicle. Global light vehi-

cle production is expected to increase at an av-

erage annual rate of 4% through 2010 according 

to industry forecasting institutes and, according 

to our estimates, the average safety content per 

vehicle is expected to increase in the range of 

0-1% per year depending on the production mix 

(see page 14) during same period. Our target is 

to grow faster than this expected growth rate for 

the market of at least 4% and, as a result, to take 

market share. 

Of course, as Autoliv already has more than 

one third of the global market, this target is chal-

lenging. However, we have several opportu-

nities to continue to outperform the market. 

On April 1, I had the honor of becoming the new President and CEO of your company. I have 
worked for Autoliv in various positions for eight years and my predecessor, Lars Westerberg,  
is now the Chairman of the Board. Continuity is therefore assured.
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 Furthermore, we have initiated a strategic re-

view to identify new ways to accelerate growth 

even further, for instance, by acquisitions and/

or by expanding into adjacent markets. Conse-

quently, we are pursuing a dual-path strategy.  

Strengthening Core Business
First of all, we aim at capitalizing on opportuni-

ties that will strengthen our core business.  We 

will, for instance, take advantage of the fact that 

the fastest growing product in our market is side 

curtain airbags. 

Autoliv introduced this patented technolo-

gy in 1998 and we still command a global mar-

ket share of approximately 40%. Over the next 

several years, sales of this product will be driven 

by new regulations issued in 2007 that, in effect, 

mandate the phase-in through August 2013 of 

side curtain airbags in all new light vehicles sold 

in the U.S. In other regions, sales will be driven 

by the fact that curtain airbags are twice as ef�-

cient in preventing head injuries in side crashes 

as frontal airbags are in eliminating severe inju-

ries in frontal crashes. 

We are also taking advantage of increas-

ing demand for active seatbelts (see page 19).  

These belts can be tightened ahead of an immi-

nent crash by use of an electrical motor. In addi-

tion, these seatbelts are reversible and the web-

bing can therefore be released again to normal 

comfort, should the driver manage to avoid the 

crash. Currently, we have two customers with 

three luxury vehicle models for these state-of-

the-art seatbelts. From these manufacturers of 

premium vehicles, active seatbelts are likely to 

migrate to  typical higher-volume vehicles there-

by driving higher demand, lower cost and pric-

es. The strong demand is also the result of the 

market penetration of electronic stability con-

trol (ESC). 

Our Safety-Vent Airbag (see page 18) also 

offers new growth opportunities. This airbag 

 addresses the problem in a frontal crash when 

front-seat passengers are sitting too close or are 

coming too close to the airbag in a sudden pre-

crash braking. Our uncomplicated but  reliable 

safety-vent solution is also seen as an alterna- Jan Carlson, President and CEO.
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An entirely new area where we see signi�cant 

long-term potential is alcohol sensors and so 

called “interlock systems”. Virtually all types 

of traf�c fatalities have been reduced thanks 

to improved vehicle and road safety. However,  

alcohol-related fatalities have remained a very 

serious traf�c problem. Vehicle crash statistics 

indicate that approximately one third of the auto-

motive fatalities in the Triad (i.e. North America, 

EU and Japan) are alcohol related. 

Consequently, both traf�c authorities and 

car companies are looking for affordable inter-

lock systems that could lead to standard equip-

ment installations in all vehicles. In addition to 

being affordable, the product needs to be accu-

rate, fast, reliable and easy to use – but not easy 

to trick! This is what we – and some authorities 

supporting our project – believe we have found 

in an alcohol sensor currently in development in 

one of our labs. 

Acquisitions should also be an option to ex-

pand our core business, provided it is the right 

asset and the right price. We remain interested 

in the acquisition of companies and technolo-

gies that offer synergies and are accretive. Oth-

erwise, it is better that the funds are returned to 

shareholders.  

Shareholder Value
In the �nal analysis, our performance will be 

measured by the value we manage to create for 

Autoliv shareholders. The road to this goal starts 

with achieving customer satisfaction, motivat-

ing our employees and creating trust and con�-

dence in our commitment to society for sustain-

able development.

Our model for creating shareholder (see page 

24-25) value is simple and straight forward: we 

tive in most U.S. vehicles to the expensive and 

complex weight sensors that turn the airbag off 

if there is a child or a child seat in the front-pas-

senger seat. We already have more than 30 con-

tracts for our cost-saving, smart airbag solution 

which was introduced as recently as 2006.

We continue to heavily invest in our existing 

business, particularly in Asia Paci�c and East-

ern Europe which are forecasted to account for 

the vast majority of the growth in global light ve-

hicle production in the foreseeable future. In 

China, for instance, we now have nine plants af-

ter launching four new plants within a year, and 

we are now in the process of adding a new tech 

center in the Shanghai area. In 2007, we also 

made one of our few remaining af�liated compa-

nies wholly-owned to take full advantage of the 

rapid market growth in China. 

In India, we also made our joint venture whol-

ly-owned and commenced construction of 

 India’s �rst airbag plant. We also acquired the 

remaining shares in our Korean joint venture. 

The costs for these three acquisitions to-

talled $130 million during the year. Even if they 

are not major acquisitions, they are strategical-

ly important as a means of taking better advan-

tage of the rapid growth in emerging markets. 

Expand Core Business
We will also seek growth opportunities in new, 

adjacent market segments to our traditional air-

bag and seatbelt markets. We will therefore con-

tinue to invest in research, development and en-

gineering (R,D&E) to further strengthen Autoliv’s 

technological market leading position. We are 

committed to maintaining the current high R,D&E 

level of close to 8%, gross, which corresponds to 

approximately 6%, net, of sales.

A new market in active safety where we have al-

ready established a strong foothold is the mar-

ket  for night vision systems. Our highly ef�cient, 

long-range far-infrared system is already op-

tional in BMW’s 7-, 6- and 5-series. In addition to 

BMW, we have two new prestigious customers 

for future deliveries. With such compelling con-

�rmations for a substantial market demand in 

night vision systems, we and our suppliers have 

started to develop the next generation of our ad-

vanced infrared sensing technology. 

The night vision system is just one example 

of our active safety projects. Other such projects 

are stereo vision cameras and vehicle radars that 

accurately measure the distance to traf�c haz-

ards ahead of the vehicle. These systems should 

therefore be able to forewarn the driver or prepare 

the vehicle’s safety systems when the crash is un-

avoidable. This kind of pre-crash sensing will be 

particularly useful for improving occupant pro-

tection in side impact collisions where the time to 

deploy our safety systems is extremely short and 

the occupant is sitting close to a thin door. These 

pre-crash sensors will, for instance, enable the 

car manufacturers to pressurize the door beams 

in a crash using airbag in�ator technology.  

Such “active” structures could also be used 

in frontal crashes, of course. It is even conceiva-

ble that the crashworthiness of the vehicle could 

be improved so much that it will be possible to 

redesign the entire chassis and take out weight.

This technology has attracted the vehicle manu-

facturers’ attention as they are aggressively try-

ing to reduce vehicle weight in order to reduce 

CO2 emissions.  The project is very exciting, but 

also a number of years from completion since it 

involves redesigning – and then testing – a com-

pletely new structure of the vehicle. 
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focus on long-term cash �ow that should pro-

vide competitive returns to shareholders while 

ensuring growth and long-term �nancial stability.

Cash �ow from operations should be rein-

vested in operations as long as the return on in-

vestment exceeds the cost for capital. Such in-

vestments could, of course, include strategic 

acquisitions. 

However, when the tipping point between re-

turn and cost of capital is reached, it is better 

that funds are returned to shareholders. Wheth-

er this should be done through more share buy-

backs or increasing the dividend depends on 

which method is most bene�cial for our share-

holders. Hence, our approach is to be oppor-

tunistic with our share repurchase program as 

we try to buy more shares when the stock price 

is deemed to be low and fewer shares when the 

price is deemed to be high. We could also lever-

age Autoliv’s strong balance sheet to further �-

nance share buybacks, as we have in the past. 

In this way, we can improve our key ratios 

faster than our underlying operational perform-

ance, thereby providing for a better perform-

ance of our shares. For instance, since 2003, 

Autoliv has managed to grow earnings per share 

at a compounded average growth rate (CAGR) 

of 8.8% compared to a CAGR of “only” 5.7% for 

operating income during the same period. More 

than 70% of this superior EPS growth is due to 

share buybacks.

In 2007, we bought back 6.6 million shares, 

thereby returning a record-high amount of $380 

million to shareholders – in addition to $121  

million in dividends. This should have a positive 

long-term effect on our stock by enhancing our 

key ratios. 

Outlook for 2008
During this year, we expect to continue to ramp 

up production in our new Chinese manufactur-

ing facilities. This should have a gradual, favo-

rable impact on our margins as the capacity uti-

lization rises. We should also bene�t from higher 

vehicle production in Asia Paci�c and  Eastern 

Europe and from higher installation rates of 

side curtain airbags both in North America and  

Europe.  

However, light vehicle production is expect-

ed to decline by 5% both in North America and 

Western Europe. Since Autoliv generates more 

than 70% of its  consolidated sales in North 

America and Western Europe, the impact on us 

will be signi�cant and the weighted average in-

crease in global light vehicles will be less in our 

larger markets than the expected global average 

of 2.5%. How ever, we expect to offset this neg-

ative effect by strong side curtain sales, mar-

ket share gains in safety electronics and steer-

ing wheels, and by continued step-up in sales of 

active seatbelts and seatbelt pretensioners. We 

will also be helped during the latter part of the 

year by a number of important launches of new 

vehicle models. In addition, currency effects 

could have a favorable impact of 4% provided 

that the mid-February exchange rates prevail. 

In conclusion, we  expect sales in 2008 to 

grow by 7% with the organic sales portion grow-

ing at approximately 2% and the acquisition in 

India contributing 1%. Operating margin is ex-

pected to improve despite the drop in light vehi-

cle production in our largest markets and to 

reach a level between 8.0-8.5% in line with our 

long term target of 8-9%.

Stockholm, February 19, 2008

           Jan Carlson

           President and CEO  

“In the final analysis, our 
performance will be 
measured by the value 
we manage to create for 
Autoliv shareholders.”
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Our Strategies  

Our Vision
To substantially reduce 
traffic accidents, fatalities 
and injuries.

Our Mission
To create, manufacture 
and sell state-of-the-art 
automotive safety systems.

We have developed a series of strategies related to Customers, Technology, Cost Control, 
and Employees. By applying these strategies, we lay the foundation for a strong cash flow 
which is the cornerstone in our shareholder value-creating process.

Vision, Mission & Strategy

Customers

Global presence

Highest-value safety 
system solutions

Highest level of service  
and commitment

 p. 14–17

Technology

Technological 
leadership

Complete system 
capabilities

 p. 18–19
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Our Values
We have a passion for saving lives, and we are dedi-
cated to creating satisfaction for our customers and 
the driving public. We are committed to the develop-
ment of people’s skills, knowledge and creative  
potential, and we are driven for innovation and con-
tinuous improvement. We adhere to the highest level 

of ethical and social behavior. These core values  
of our company are global, but are applied and  
executed locally. 
     By incorporating these values, we create a  solid 
 corporate identity – the foundation for a successful 
future. 

 p. 28-29

Employees

Dedicated and 
motivated employees

Cost Control

Efficient manufacturing  
and purchasing

Quality excellence

Shareholders

Value creating cash flow

Share performance

 p. 20–21  p. 22–23  p. 24–27
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Customers

Global Presence
With 80 plants and more than 20 crash tracks in 29 countries, Autoliv has a better global footprint for automotive 
safety than any company in its industry. This competitive edge is becoming increasingly important as vehicle  
manufacturers set up operations in new countries and new vehicle manufacturers in Asia enter the global market.    

The global automotive occupant restraint mar-

ket is driven both by global light vehicle produc-

tion1) and safety content per vehicle. It is there-

fore important to have resources in the right 

markets and with the right customers, i.e. the 

fastest growing markets and customers. During 

the past ten years, these growth drivers have ex-

panded the market at an annual average growth 

rate of 2% and 3%, respectively, to $18.5 billion 

in 2007. 

However, these two growth drivers have now 

switched in importance. Through 2010, glo-

bal light vehicle production is expected to grow 

the market by 4% per year according to indus-

try forecasting institutes, while we estimate that 

the average safety content per vehicle will grow 

in the range of 0-1% per year during the same 

three-year period. The latter growth rate is high-

ly dependent on the mix of the production. The 

more emerging-market low-end vehicles that 

are added to the market mix, the stronger the di-

lutive effect on the global average content, since 

the safety content in India, for instance, is not 

even one �fth of the average safety value per ve-

hicle in North America or Western Europe.

 

Volume Effects from Low-End Vehicles    
However, the low-end vehicles represent an 

important market due to their sheer volume, 

and this effect increases in importance as the 

emerging markets expand their vehicle produc-

tion. Combined, Asia Paci�c and Eastern Europe 

are expected to account for 90% of the antici-

pated increase in global light vehicle production 

through 2010. China, for instance, is aiming at 

doubling its production to 12 million light vehi-

cles by 2012 from the 2006 level and to outpace 

Japan as the world’s second largest vehicle pro-

ducing country. In addition, the safety content of 

the vehicles in India and other emerging markets 

is increasing rapidly. 

As a result, the Rest of the World region 

(RoW), which is mainly Korea, China, India and 

South America, has doubled its demand for au-

tomotive safety products during the past �ve 

years and now accounts for almost 20% of the 

global market (but for 30% of global light vehicle  

production). In addition, the RoW is expected to 

account for nearly 50% of the expected growth 

in the global occupant restraint market through 

2010. 

Global Presence a Necessity  
These strong trends make global presence al-

most a necessity for the success of an auto-

motive safety company, whether it is a matter 

of supporting Western or Japanese customers 

expanding in emerging markets or establishing 

new business relationships with the local vehi-

cle manufacturers in these markets. 

In this regard, Autoliv is especially well posi-

tioned with manufacturing facilities in all major 

vehicle producing countries in Asia Paci�c and 

Eastern Europe, and with technical and/or engi-

neering centers in China, India, Korea, Romania 

and Turkey (see page 68).    

Attractive Customer Mix
Our strong global presence also contributes to 

achieving a more diversi�ed customer mix. This 

improvement is due both to new local custom-

ers in the new markets and to better opportuni-

ties to receive new business in Western Europe 

and North America from Asian manufacturers as 

they penetrate these markets in their pursuit of 

higher global market shares. 

The �rst effect is evidenced by Autoliv’s rap-

idly growing order intake from Brilliance-Jinbei, 

Chery, Chagan, Great Wall and other local Chi-

nese vehicle manufacturers that currently only 

account for 1% of our consolidated sales. 

The other trend is best illustrated by the fact 

that Honda and Hyundai-KIA have become our 

fastest growing customers. As a result, Honda 

currently accounts for 5% of our consolidated 

sales and Hyundai-KIA for 4%, while they were 

much smaller ten years ago as shown in the 

graph below . 

The same trend goes for all Asian OEMs and, 

as a result, the Asian vehicle manufacturers now 

account for 27% of Autoliv’s sales compared to 

20% in 1997.

As a mirror effect of this trend, Autoliv’s ear-

lier relatively high dependence on Ford, Gen-

eral Motors and Chrysler has moderated, par-

ticularly in North America. These customers 

accounted for 37% of our consolidated sales in 

2007 compared to 47% in 1997 (and their North 

 American businesses for 13% of our total glo-

bal sales compared to close to 25% in 1997). 

This evolution is a re�ection of the fact that their 

share of the global light vehicle production has 

declined from 33% in 1997 to 23% in 2007. 

Our continued high global dependence on 

Ford, General Motors and  Chrysler is  partly a 

 re�ection of the fact that the vehicles from these 

customers have a higher average safety  value 

than the global average of $270 dollars. 

The fact that premium vehicles are especial-

ly important for Autoliv is even better evidenced 

by Volvo and BMW, which both account for 6% 

of our global sales despite only for 1% and 2% 

 respectively, of global vehicle production.

2007

Ford 12% / Volvo 6% 

GM 11%

Mercedes 4%

Chrysler 4%

Renault Nissan 12%

Volkswagen 10%

Peugeot Citroën 8%

BMW 6%

Honda 5%

Hyundai 4%

Others 12%

Toyota 6%

1997

1) Light motor vehicles (i.e. with a weight of less than 6 tons) are, by far, the 
most important market for Autoliv’s products. Heavy trucks have seatbelts 
but rarely airbags. In addition, there were 68 million light vehicles produced in 
2007 but only 2 million heavy trucks.
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Change in Competition
The rapid growth in emerging markets is also 

changing the competitive landscape in our in-

dustry. Generally, Autoliv’s major competitors 

are TRW and Takata which each account for ap-

proximately one �fth of the global occupant re-

straint market, while Autoliv accounts for more 

than one third of the market.

TRW is an American company, listed on the 

New York Stock Exchange, with strong market 

positions in North America and Western Europe. 

Takata is a family dominated company with 25% 

of its shares listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

Takata is strong in North America and its domes-

tic Japanese market. In North America, there are 

also two smaller competitors: Delphi and KSS. 

 Autoliv TRW TAKATA 

   SB AB SW EL   SB AB SW EL   SB AB SW EL
North America   �� �� �� �� � � �� �� �� �� � � �� �� �� �� �

Europe   �� �� �� �� � � �� �� �� �� � � �� �� �� � �

Japan   �� �� �� �� � � � � � � � � �� �� �� �

Asia other   �� �� �� �� � � �� �� �� � � � �� �� �� � �  
South America   �� �� �� � � � �� �� �� �� � � � � �� �

SB = Seatbelts, AB = Airbags, SW = Steering wheels, EL = Safety electronics
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North America  2007
% of global market  27
% of Autoliv’s sales  24
% of Autoliv’s headcount  25
% of  light vehicle production  22

Consequently, both the North American and the 

West European markets are relatively well con-

solidated.

However, in Japan, Korea and China there 

are a number of local manufacturers, primarily 

of seatbelts, that often have close ties with the 

domestic vehicle manufacturers in these coun-

tries. Toyota, for instance, has in-house sup-

pliers for seatbelts, airbags (including steering 

wheels) and in�ators that get the majority of the 

Toyota business in Japan for these products. 

Consequently, these companies are often the 

toughest competitors in these markets. 

However, as the vehicle manufacturers want 

to compete with safer vehicles, export them and 

eventually set up global manufacturing, they in-

creasingly turn to companies like Autoliv with 

superior global presence and technological 

leadership. 

Our traditional customers are also increas-

ingly turning to global contracts rather than re-

gional contracts as before. Consequently, we 

believe these trends in the vehicle industry tend 

to strengthen Autoliv’s competitive position 

long-term. 

Europe  2007
% of global market  40
% of Autoliv’s sales  54
% of Autoliv’s headcount  45
% of light vehicle production  32

Rest of the World  2007
% of global market  18
% of Autoliv’s sales  13
% of Autoliv’s headcount  25
% of light vehicle production  30

Japan  2007
% of global market  15
% of Autoliv’s sales  9
% of Autoliv’s headcount  5
% of light vehicle production  16

 ��Autoliv presence
Autoliv in the World
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Highest-Value Systems Solutions

Customers

Providing our customers with the highest-value systems solutions means delivering the 
most advanced products, with flawless quality (see page 21), at competitive prices.

Safety – A Sales Driver  
for Our Customers
Safety is one of the strongest sales drivers for 

new cars. In virtually all enquiries about what 

consumers prefer in their next vehicle, new safe-

ty products come on top of or are very high on 

their priority lists. 

By being at the forefront of technology, by 

crash-testing more vehicles than any other safe-

ty company and by working as a development 

partner for new vehicles, Autoliv assists vehicle 

manufacturers not only to meet these evolving 

safety trends but also to take advantage of them 

and become trend leaders. Over the years, we 

have contributed to: 

r� 7PMWP�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�JO�UIF�XPSME�

to introduce side airbags (in 1994),

r� ,*"�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�XJUI�LOFF�BJS-

bags (in 1995), 

r� #.8�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�XJUI�TJEF�

airbags for head protection (in 1997), 

r� 7PMWP�BOE�.FSDFEFT�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPN-

panies with curtain airbags (in 1998),  

r� 3FOBVMU� CFDPNJOH� UIF� àSTU� DPNQBOZ� UP� SF-

ceive the highest rating (i.e. �ve stars) in  

EuroNCAP’s crash tests (the Laguna in 2002), 

r� #.8�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�XJUI�TFBU-

belts with adaptive load limiters (in 2002),

r� +BHVBS�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�XJUI�B�QF-

destrian protection pop-up hood (in 2005), 

r� $ISZTMFS�CFDPNJOH�UIF�àSTU�DPNQBOZ�XJUI�B�

Safety-Vent Airbag (in 2006) (see page 18),

r� Renault becoming the �rst company with an 

adaptive Multi-Volume Cushion airbag (in 

2007) (see page 4).

The success of new safety innovations does not 

only depend on �nding a technical solution that 

could satisfy a pressing market need. Equal-

ly important – and usually the biggest hurdle – 

is to �nd a technical solution that is affordable 

for private individuals. Additionally, even if a new 

safety technology is reasonably priced for high-

end vehicles, we need high volumes to recover 

our development costs and to make meaning-

ful pro�ts. Typically, this means making the next 

generation of a product even more affordable, 

thereby making it possible for vehicle manufac-

turers to use the technology to attract buyers to 

their mid-range vehicles and, later, even to their 

low-end car models.

Consequently, we are working on several 

fronts to give our customers the highest-value 

safety systems solutions. 

Higher Safety Value per Vehicle
By continuously developing new higher value 

solutions, we can increase the average safety 

content per vehicle and, thereby, grow the auto-

motive safety market faster than the underlying 

light vehicle production. This has been the case 

during the past ten years when the occupant re-

straint market has been growing at an annual av-

erage rate of 5% while global light vehicle pro-

duction has been growing at an average  rate of 

2% per year.  

However, by applying this strategy, we can 

also grow our company faster than the market. 

This has also been the case during the past ten 

years, when Autoliv’s sales have risen at an aver-

age annual rate of 8%, 3 percentage points faster 

than the market in general.

Market by Product Line
Autoliv’s superior growth is partly a re�ection of 

the fact that curtain airbags and other side air-

bags, where Autoliv commands a market share 

approximately of 40%, are the fastest growing 

product line in the market (see graph). Already, 

these products that were �rst introduced in the 

mid-90’s, account for 27% of the $19 billion glo-

bal occupant restraint market. In addition, these 

airbags are expected to account for more than 

30% of the growth of the global market during 

the next three years. 

We are also bene�tting from having more 

than 40% of the global seatbelt market. These 

products have grown almost as fast as the mar-

ket. In addition, we have not only grown our sales 

steadily but have also been at the technologi-

cal forefront by introducing pretensioners and 

load limiters. As a result, we have  prevented our 

seatbelts from becoming commodi�ed. In 2007, 

seatbelts accounted for 28% of the market.

The market value for frontal airbags has, on 

the other hand, remained at around $5 billion 

during the last four years despite increasing 

volumes. The stagnation is a re�ection of pric-

ing pressure. However, Autoliv has been less af-

fected by this stagnation than many competitors 

since these products represent less than 20% of 

our 2007 revenues. 

Safety electronics have grown in line with 

the general market and continue to account 

for close to 20% of the market. However, in this 

product line, Autoliv has doubled its market 

share to 18% in 2007 from 8% in 1997. This has 

been achieved both through a major acquisition 

in 2002 (Visteon Restraints Electronics) and as 

a result of more customers preferring to source 

the safety electronics from the supplier of the 

airbags. These vehicle manufacturers are, in es-

sence, taking full advantage of our highest-val-

ue safety system solutions. 
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Highest Level of Service and Commitment

Service – A Business Opportunity 
Customer service is an integrated part of our 

business process. During the development of a 

new vehicle model, we are often consulted as a 

“safety specialist” and work as a “development 

partner”. We have a unique capability compared 

to our competitors for this trusted role, since we 

are the only automotive safety supplier that has 

dedicated resources to perform full-scale tests 

with complete vehicles and not only sled tests.    

We are also often trusted with running the 

crash simulations in our “high speed” comput-

ers where we optimize our products and other 

safety critical functions to the particular struc-

ture of the planned vehicle. These “optimiza-

tions” are based on experiences gathered dur-

ing many years of crash testing a wide range of 

vehicle models.

Thanks to this safety expertise and our  

other test analysis resources, we can provide 

customers advice on how to improve the safe-

ty of a planned vehicle and how to tune the var-

ious safety systems, both to each other and 

to the intended vehicle body design, thereby 

achieving the most effective overall occupant 

protection system. The pyrotechnic seatbelts, 

for instance, should work hand in hand with the 

frontal airbags to prevent excessive loads on the 

occupant and minimize any risks for the occu-

pant hitting the steering wheel or dashboard. 

Ultimately, the systems have to be tuned to the 

“crash pulse” of the vehicle. (A smaller vehicle 

stops more abruptly in a crash resulting in higher 

g-forces than a larger vehicle with a longer ener-

gy absorbing crush zone). This is one of the serv-

ices we provide to our customers.

Service – Crash Testing
Near the end of the development cycle, the new 

vehicle has to undergo a series of verifying crash 

tests. These are regulatory tests, NCAP rating 

tests and voluntary tests that the vehicle manu-

facturer thinks are important to validate the safe-

ty system. Since the criteria in the legally man-

dated tests are different in the United States, the 

European Union and Japan, a signi�cant number 

of crash tests are necessary for global vehicle 

models. Taking responsibility for the proper ex-

ecution of such crash tests is another important 

part in our service to our customers.

Outsourcing these tests is often a very cost- 

ef�cient option for the vehicle manufacturer. 

Crash tests require expensive equipment (tow-

ing accelerators, high-speed cameras, comput-

ers, etc.). In addition, new test requirements are 

continuously being added to the existing pletho-

ra of tests, resulting in the need for additional in-

vestments.

While vehicle manufacturers are reluctant to 

let any of their competitors crash test a new ve-

hicle model, an independent specialist like Au-

toliv could do that, thereby achieving better utili-

zation of these expensive resources.

In addition, by crash testing a wide variety of 

vehicles from different manufacturers, Autoliv’s 

specialists gather experience that can help im-

prove the ef�ciency of our customers’ test pro-

grams. Such expertise and insight give Autoliv 

a unique competitive advantage as our compet-

itors do not specialize in such full-vehicle crash 

testing services to the OEM. In contrast, Autoliv 

has made crash testing a business idea in itself.

Our Commitment
The main commitment to our customers is deliv-

ering high volumes of �awless safety products 

just in time. Since our life-saving products nev-

er get a second chance, we are committed to the 

highest level of quality and to deliver these prod-

ucts for the entire life of the vehicle model. 

Despite the fact that our products are service free and designed and manufactured 
to last  as long as the vehicle, customer service and commitment are important 
competitive tools for Autoliv.

These deliveries need to be at the right quanti-

ties every day, both during peak production and 

before the end of production when the volumes 

could drop by 50% or more. These production 

volume swings make our commitment challeng-

ing, and the challenge is certainly not reduced 

by the inherent dif�culty of correctly foresee-

ing the sales success of a planned new vehicle 

model.

To ensure that we will be able to deliver on 

our commitment, we therefore design and use 

�exible assembly lines, preferably in low-cost 

countries, rather than highly automated lines in 

high-cost countries. 

Since Autoliv specializes in automotive safe-

ty and does not have any other business areas, 

we are fully dependent on this market and on 

the success of relatively few customers. The ten 

largest vehicle manufacturers account for 71% 

of global light vehicle production and for 85% of 

our consolidated sales. 

Our sales and pro�ts are reduced when a 

customer’s sales drop and we are the supplier to 

the affected vehicle or vehicles. Similarly, if our 

customer is doing well, we usually have a good 

chance to do well also. 

This dependence ensures our commitment to 

our customers, which is an advantage for them – 

and a competitive strength for Autoliv.

Crash Tests with Complete Vehicles
Autoliv is the only automotive safety supplier with dedicated resources for crash testing of complete vehicles and not only vehicle 
bodies in sled tests. We have 8 tracks for such full-scale tests (in Australia, France, Germany, Japan, Spain, Sweden and the U.S.), in 
addition to 13 sled test tracks. The experience our experts  gather from these crash tests gives Autoliv a unique capability to work as a 
“safety consultant” and a “development partner” with the vehicle manufacturers.

This is also evidenced by the fact that more than 20% of our research, development and engineering (R,D&E) activities are paid 
by customers and other external parties. R,D&E gross usually corresponds to nearly 8% of sales and to approximately 6%, net after 
engineering income from customers.
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Technological Leadership

Technology

Strong Position in Patents
Our commitment to technological leadership 

shows up in a strong position in patent statistics. 

In 2005 (latest year with of�cial statistics), Auto-

liv accounted for 4% of all new automotive safety 

�lings, and for 7% of all subsequent �lings. Sub-

sequent �lings are a good indication of the pat-

ents’ quality since it means that the patent owner 

has deemed it worthwhile to seek a broader mar-

ket protection.

Autoliv holds more than 4,500 patents cover-

ing a wide range of innovations and products in 

automotive safety and key technologies. 

In our quest to reduce traffic accidents, fatalities and injuries we use our technological leadership 
to research automotive safety problems beyond current regulatory and rating requirements.

Many Technical Centers
We have eight technical centers worldwide with 

crash-test labs for full-scale tests of complete 

vehicles weighing up to two tons. We also have 13 

sled tracks for crash testing of vehicle bodies. 

In 2007, Autoliv became the �rst automo-

tive safety supplier in the world with a so called 

“pitching sled”. This new advanced crash sled is 

better suited to replicate the crash dynamics of 

future vehicle designs.

Corporate research is conducted by some 

30 technical specialists at our Swedish safety 

center, while most of the corporate development 

projects are assigned to our technical centers 

in France, Germany, Japan, Sweden and the 

 United States. Application engineering projects 

are completed locally in each major subsidiary. 

In total we have 4,000 engineers and related 

support people in R,D&E. This corresponds to 

close to 10% of total headcount.

Investment in R, D&E
During 2007, gross expenditures for Research, 

Development and Application Engineering 

(R,D&E) increased by $7 million to $514 million 

which corresponds to 7.6% of sales, down from 

8.2% in 2006 and the 2003 expenditures of 7.9% 

which were unusually high (see graph below). 

Of the amounts, $116 million in 2007 and 

$106 million in 2006 were related to customer-

funded engineering projects and crash tests. 

Net of this income, our R,D&E expendi-

tures remained almost unchanged at $396 mil-

lion compared to $395 million in 2006, but de-

creased in relation to sales to 5.8% from 6.4% 

in 2006. This reduction was due to better utiliza-

tion of R,D&E resources and the transfer of engi-

neering work to LCC. It did therefore not affect 

the development of new products.

Of the $396 million in 2007, 80% was for 

projects and programs for which we have cus-

tomer orders, typically related to vehicle models 

in development. The remaining 20% is not only 

for completely new innovations but also for im-

provement of existing products, standardiza-

tion and cost reduction projects. 
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The Safety-Vent Airbag we launched in 2006 is seeing 
healthy sales growth, and we have been awarded more 
than 30 contracts for this innovative airbag that offers 
enhanced protection for front-seat passengers.  
 In 2007, the bag received the Automotive News PACE 
Award for superior product innovation. 

Market demand for knee airbags is growing. This reflects 
the fact that lower leg injuries are receiving much more 
attention now as more people survive frontal crashes 
thanks to airbags and seatbelts. 
 Knee airbags can help prevent long-term disabling 
injuries which are very important for many occupants that 
now survive crashes.  

Curtain airbags for head protection in side impacts is the 
fastest growing product on the market. One reason for this 
strong demand is the fact that these airbags are mandated 
by a new federal law for all new light vehicles sold in the 
United States. The regulation will be phased in during a 
three-year period through August 2013. 
 Curtain airbags are approximately twice as efficient in 
side impacts as frontal airbags are in frontal crashes. The 
costs for curtain airbags are not significantly different from 
the cost of frontal airbags. As a result, there is a strong 
market demand for these products all over the world. 
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Complete System Capabilities
Autoliv is now looking to further reduce accidents and their severity by developing new and complementary  
active safety products and systems. As a market leader in airbags and seatbelts, Autoliv has a competitive edge 
when integrating passive and active safety technologies and developing complete safety systems. 

Integration of Electronics
In 2006, Autoliv took the lead in merging ac-

tive and passive safety systems, when we were 

trusted with the world’s �rst contract for integra-

tion of the primary sensors of the vehicle elec-

tronic stability control unit (ESC) into an airbag 

electronic control unit (ECU). By integrating 

such sensors, our customer estimates that they 

will save almost 50% of the cost for one of these 

control units. As a result, we have received ad-

ditional contracts during 2007 for this cost-ef-

�cient solution. Since Autoliv is not producing 

any products for the ESC market, our revenues 

will increase due to the higher value from inte-

grating ESC-sensors into our airbag ECU. 

Some vehicle manufacturers see this inte-

gration initiated by Autoliv as a �rst step in a rad-

ical redesign of the electronic architecture in ve-

hicles. Over time they expect that an increasing 

number of safety functions will migrate into the 

airbag ECU from other ECUs, making more elec-

tronic components redundant and providing ad-

ditional savings for the vehicle manufacturers. 

Night Vision 
Autoliv has also taken the lead in night vision 

systems by developing a heat-emission detec-

tion system that is so sensitive it enables the 

driver to see in total darkness without any infra-

red lamps or other illumination. By detecting the 

emitted heat from all objects in front of the vehi-

cle instead of using re�ections from lamps, the 

driver’s �eld of view is not limited to the illumi-

nated area of the vehicle beams. Consequently, 

the driver can see not only further (up to 300 me-

ters) but also wider which is important on wind-

ing roads and for detecting animals and children 

suddenly dashing in front of the vehicle from the 

side of the road. Consequently, this technolo-

gy could and will be used as a pre-crash sensor 

that �rst warns the driver and, in the next step, 

prepares the vehicle and its safety systems for 

an unavoidable crash. This is another example 

of Autoliv’s complete system capabilities.   

The current night vision system was intro-

duced at the end of 2006 on the BMW 7-series 

and is now also available on the 5- and 6-series. 

In 2007, two other vehicle manufacturers signed 

up for the system and Autoliv started to develop 

the next generation of this promising technology.      

Active Seatbelts
Another example of our capability to integrate 

airbags and seatbelts with new active safe-

ty technologies is active seatbelts. These seat-

belts make use of the information available in 

active safety systems such as radar, cameras or 

the electronic stability control (ESC) system to 

warn and restrain the occupant when an active 

safety system indicates that the vehicle is in a 

dangerous situation. 

The seatbelts have electrically driven pre-

tensioners that tighten the belt as a precaution 

in hazardous situations, and then release some 

webbing if the driver manages to avoid the traf�c 

hazard. This function could also be used to warn 

the driver by letting the pretensioners vibrate the 

seatbelt webbing. 

Already, Autoliv delivers active seatbelts to 

three vehicle models for two customers, and there 

is a strong demand from other manufacturers of 

premium brand vehicles.

 

Active Structures 
So far, it has been impossible to tune the design 

of a vehicle for each speci�c crash condition. In-

stead, structural design has been a �xed com-

promise between different requirements. How-

ever, this drawback could soon be eliminated 

by combining active pre-crash sensors such as  

radar with “active” structures that Autoliv is de-

veloping. In addition, this complete system solu-

tion can offer lower weight, and hence less CO2 

emission. 

An active structure could use a “crash box” 

at the front end of the vehicle beam. An empty 

crash box is relatively soft to provide the best 

possible protection to pedestrians’ legs in low 

to medium speed crashes. In the event of an im-

minent high-speed crash, a pre-crash warning 

system will trigger a gas generator that pressu-

rizes the crash box. The structure then becomes 

stiff and offers more ef�cient protection in the 

crash. 

With this improved structure and crashwor-

thiness, it could be possible to make vehicles 

smaller, more compact and with less weight, 

thereby reducing fuel consumption and emis-

sions.

Automatic Emergency Notification
In 2007, Autoliv received the �rst European e-

Call order which is part of our low-cost solution 

for providing “eCall in Every Car”. The electron-

ic control unit (ECU) of the airbag has a new fea-

ture that provides an automatic noti�cation to 

the emergency authorities from a vehicle whose 

airbag has deployed in a crash. 

The European Commission has estimated 

that 5%, or 2,500 fatalities, resulting from auto-

mobile accidents, could be avoided in Europe 

through the use of these integrated, automatic 

eCall systems.  

Night Vision 
Autoliv’s IR-based night vision system is so sensitive that 
it can see in total darkness without any infrared lamps or 
other illumination. It uses heat detection which enables the 
driver to see longer and wider than with other IR-systems for 
automobiles.

Active Seatbelts
The active seatbelt has an electrically driven pretensioner 
that tightens the belt as a precaution in hazardous situations, 
and then releases some webbing if the driver manages to 
avoid the traffic hazard.



20    AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Our main targets for cost ef�ciency are to:

r� 3FEVDF�EJSFDU�NBUFSJBM�DPTUT�BU�UIF�TBNF�SBUF�

as our market prices decline, i.e. by at least 

3% annually.

r� .PWF� NBOVGBDUVSJOH� UP� MPX�DPTU� DPVOUSJFT�

(LCC) at a rate of 1,000 jobs per year.

r� $POTPMJEBUF�UIF�OVNCFS�PG�TVQQMJFST�MPOH�UFSN�

to about 500 with focus on LCC. 

r� *NQSPWF�MBCPS�QSPEVDUJWJUZ�CZ�BU�MFBTU����QFS�

year.

Autoliv’s two most important cost items to con-

trol are direct material and labor (see pie chart). 

 

Reduce Impact of Raw Material Prices
Approximately half of our revenues are spent 

on direct materials from external suppliers. The 

cost for the raw material content in these com-

ponents currently represents approximately 40%, 

while the other 60% represents the value add-

ed by our supply base (for more details on de-

pendence on raw materials and components, 

see page 39). 

The raw material value portion in our costs for 

components has increased from 25% in 2002 to 

40% in 2007. This percentage is likely to contin-

ue to increase, due to continued high raw mate-

rial prices and to our increasing sourcing in LCC. 

By shifting sourcing of components to LCC we 

can reduce labor cost and the value-added by 

our suppliers but the raw-material portion of 

our direct material costs is unaffected by these 

shifts. 

The most ef�cient cost-reduction method is 

redesigning and replacing existing designs and 

components with new, standardized and more 

cost-ef�cient ones. Particular focus is on re-

ducing material content. For instance, our lat-

est passenger airbag being introduced in 2008 

has 25% less weight than the previous product 

generation which, in turn, is 30% lighter than its 

Efficient Manufacturing and Purchasing
Through our effective cost management in manufacturing 
and purchasing we create customer and shareholder value.

1 ) Measured as labor minutes per unit produced. 

Cost Control

51.0%

9.6%

15.8%

16.2%

7.4%

Direct material
Labor, direct
Labor, indirect
Other costs
Operating income

Direct materials
LaborRaw materials 

Index (2003=100)

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

0706050403

Long-term target Performance in 2007 Target achieved?

Direct material cost - 3%/yr - 3.3%

Labor productivity1)    5%/yr    7.2%

Sourcing in LCC 15% -> 50% 24% to 30%

Jobs to LCC 1,000/yr 2,050

Supplier consolidation 2,300 -> 500 1,850 to 1,830
Reductions in labor costs have helped offset the rising costs for 
direct materials caused by higher raw material costs.

predecessor. Fewer components also simpli-

�es the manufacturing and purchasing process, 

thereby reducing costs even more.

Supplier Consolidation
Another tool aimed at reducing direct material 

cost is our supplier consolidation program which 

is expected to reduce the number of suppliers 

from 2,500 in 2004 to approximately 500 before 

the end of this decade. In 2007, we reduced our 

supplier base to 1,830 suppliers, and 90% of our 

direct material spend is already concentrated to 

500 suppliers. 

We also use our VEVA (Value Engineering & 

Value Analysis) projects to intensify our work in 

reducing product and component complexity. 

Sourcing in Low-Cost Countries 
We also actively increase our level of compo-

nent sourcing in LCC. In 2007, sourcing in these 

countries rose by 6 percentage points to ap-

proximately 30% of total direct material costs 

compared to less than 15% in 2004 when this 

program was initiated. By 2010, our target is to 

have increased our component sourcing in LCC 

to 50% of our direct material spend.

Through the above-mentioned strategies we 

have every year met our direct material cost re-

duction target of at least 3%, except in 2005 when 

steel prices sky-rocketed. In 2007, we estimate 

that we reduced our direct material cost by 3.3%.

Productivity Improvements 
The second most important cost is wages, sal-

aries and other labor costs. They correspond to 

a quarter of our revenues. LCC also offer attrac-

tive savings possibilities for these costs by con-

solidating our manufacturing base  and reducing 

headcount in high-cost countries (HCC). In addi-

tion, by moving and building capacity in Eastern 

Europe and Asia Paci�c, Autoliv becomes well-

positioned to take advantage of  growth oppor-

tunities in these booming markets. 

During 2007, one seatbelt plant in the U.S. 

was closed and several manufacturing lines 

moved to LCC. In total, headcount in HCC was 

reduced by 2,050, while headcount in LCC was 

increased by 2,150 (including 600 from an acqui-

sition in India) to 52% of total headcount, com-

pared to only 29% �ve years ago. 

In addition, for several years, we have met 

our target to improve direct labor productivi-

ty (measured as a reduction of labor minutes 

per unit) by at least 5% per year. In 2007, the im-

provement was at least 7%.

Thanks to these measures, labor costs have 

been reduced even faster than the price re-

ductions in our industry. In 2007, labor cost was 

down by 1.7 percentage points to 25.4% of sales 

from 27.1% in 2003 despite salary increases and 

 expansion in our R,D&E, which is mainly labor. 
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Our products never get a second chance. Sup-

erior quality is therefore a “must” for a relia-

ble, world-class supplier of safety systems. We 

must deliver �awless products and still meet 

the tough price conditions in the automotive  

industry.   

“Zero Defect” Principle
In this pursuit of excellence we have, for many 

years, applied a “zero defect” principle that em-

phasizes proactive methods aimed at elimi-

nating root causes, rather than screening out 

non-conforming products at the end of the man-

ufacturing line (see graph below).

r� "VUPMJW�T� 1SPEVDU� %FWFMPQNFOU� 4ZTUFN�

(APDS) ensures that all new products pass �ve 

mandatory checkpoints: 1) Project planning, 

2) Concept de�nition, 3) Product and proc-

ess development, 4) Product and process val-

idation, and 5) Product launch. In this way, we 

proactively prevent problems and ensure we 

deliver only the best designs to the market. 

r� &RVBMMZ� JNQPSUBOU� JT� UIF� USBJOJOH�PG�PVS� FN-

ployees. Through the Autoliv Production Sys-

tem (APS) emphasis is placed on ensuring 

that all Autoliv associates are aware of and 

understand the critical connection between 

themselves and our life-saving products. 

r� "VUPMJW�T�4VQQMJFS�.BOVBM� 	"4.
� GPDVTFT�PO�

pre venting bad parts from entering our plants, 

and helps eliminate bad intermediate products 

as early as possible in our assembly lines. 

r� 5ISPVHI�UIF�"VUPMJW�2VBMJUZ�4ZTUFN�	"24
�XF�

equip manufacturing lines with sensors, cam-

eras and other instruments – at selected crit-

ical stations – for detecting errors as early 

as possible, and ultimately for preventing us 

from shipping bad products. 

We also maintain an advanced product trace-

ability system capable of tracing a product 

down to a speci�c vehicle level provided the 

vehicle manufacturer has an equally ef�cient 

 traceability system. 

This increases the con�dence people place 

in our safety systems and contributes positive-

ly to our sales.

Flawless Products and Deliveries 
We register all customer deviations and include 

them in our quality measure. Reported quali-

ty deviations very rarely affect the performance 

of our products. Virtually all deviations are, in-

stead, due to other requirements, such as �aw-

less labeling, precise delivery of the right parts 

at the right moment, as well as correct color nu-

ance and surface texture on steering wheels and 

other products where the “look and feel” is im-

portant to the car buyer. 

All deviations are registered in our quality 

measure PPM (parts per million). The maximum 

level accepted by our customers is generally 10 

PPM. This represents one non-conforming part 

per hundred thousand delivered. 

To give an idea of how tough this target is, it 

could be compared to the number of days since 

1750, (i.e. before, for instance, the founding of 

the United States). Ten PPM would require that 

there not be one single bad day in more than 257 

years. 

Quality Excellence
Quality excellence is a key to our financial performance, since it is critical for winning 
new orders and it affects our  scrap rates and therefore our profitability and cash flow.

Autoliv 
Quality System

(AQS)

Autoliv 
Production System

(APS)

Autoliv 
Supplier Manual

(ASM)

Autoliv Product 
Development System

(APDS)

Eliminate bad 
designs

Eliminate bad 
components

Eliminate bad 
manufacturing

Eliminate 
non-conforming 
products

Zero 
defect

At the end of 2007 93% of Autoliv’s facilities were certified to 
the automotive quality standard ISO/TS 16949. These facilities 
represented 99.4% of consolidated sales. This is as close to 
100% as we could get, since we are continuously opening  
new plants.

In 2007, Autoliv received a record number of 14 awards from 
six different customers for achievements during 2006. For 
instance, Autoliv, represented by COO Benoit Marsaud, was 
presented the Global Contribution Award by Toyota’s CEO Mr. 
Katsuaki Watanabe.
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Dedicated and Motivated Employees
By offering our employees an attractive and safe workplace, we ensure that Autoliv 
has enough competent and motivated people to maintain its growth.

Employees

We have a great workforce with many dedicat-

ed, skilled and industrious people all over the 

world. By continually developing their skills, 

knowledge and potential, we believe our organi-

zation will strengthen its competitive edge in the 

current, challenging global environment. By en-

couraging our employees to grow, we will grow 

our business. 

Employee Training  
and Development
We are committed to the development of our  

associates, as we are convinced that people 

want to do their best and be successful. Training 

and development programs, job rotation – cross 

function as well as cross country – are fundamen-

tal in developing people. By investing in these 

programs we provide our highly dedicated and 

motivated employees with a broader view and at-

tract talented professionals and skilled workers. 

Some examples of our program activities are:

r� *O������XF�JODSFBTFE�PVS�JOWFTUNFOUT�JO�FN-

ployee training and development programs to a 

record high of eight days per employee per year.

r� 8F�IBWF�B�QSPHSBN�GPS�JEFOUJGZJOH�IJHI�QPUFO-

tial employees, who are offered development 

plans, including leadership training. A majori-

ty of our senior managers have been recruited 

internally.

r� 8F�PGGFS�PVS�FNQMPZFFT�JOUFSOBUJPOBM�BTTJHO-

ments. During 2007, 240 employees experi-

enced such assignments. 

r� *O�PSEFS�UP�SFDSVJU�UIF�NPTU�DPNQFUFOU�QFPQMF�

to open positions in the Company, we have 

also introduced a career development tool 

that is used both internally and externally. 

r� 0VS�HMPCBM�USBJOFF�QSPHSBN�SFTVMUFE�JO�����QBS-

ticipants joining Autoliv on a permanent ba-

sis in 2007. These new employees represent 

six nationalities, their average age is 29 years 

and 40% are women.

Our training and development programs are en-

hancing mobility and developing our increasing-

ly global and diverse workforce to become more 

�exible, dynamic and target driven. 

Leadership Talent 
Each day Autoliv creates a global culture of ex-

cellence through the joint work of our many em-

ployees. A competitive global business envi-

ronment demands leaders that have a global 

mindset while managing the key local daily  

issues and activities.   

Leadership development on all levels is 

therefore a driving force for sustained excel-

lence through adaptability and results. Since 

the start of our leadership development in 2003, 

some 600 managers have been participating in 

our global program. Our program identi�es the 

speci�c needs posed by our global business and 

ensures training according to very high stand-

ards, incorporating our core values. A large part 

of the leadership development is done local-

ly and is facilitated by internal trainers. By using 

standardized modules, we secure development 

and adoption of our �ve leadership  behaviors – 

leading culture, people, performance, change 

and teams (see graphic below).

We encourage our leaders to develop a common 

culture of excellence that supports our global 

business and, at the same time, use the diversi-

ty of our people as a strength to build a success-

ful future for Autoliv.

To maintain our Company’s worldwide leading 

position and to prepare for upcoming genera-

tion shifts, a succession-planning program for 

all key positions was implemented worldwide 

four years ago. Offering cross function and 

cross border experience is an essential part in 

preparing the identi�ed high-potential employ-
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ees for their future career. Today 25% of our  

selected high-potential employees are on inter-

national assignments. 

Value-Based Safety
Our commitment to employee health and safety 

extends well beyond regulatory mandates and 

an excellent safety record. Employee well-being 

is, in fact, a fundamental value that greatly in�u-

ences our ability to achieve continued success. 

For this reason, we have implemented a 

unique approach to workplace safety that un-

derscores our quest for continuous improve-

ment. After introducing a series of pre-shift 

warm-up exercises led by employees in many of 

our plants, our ergonomic injury rate decreased 

dramatically. Another example is our innovative 

“Work-Fit” program through which our employ-

ees are even better matched to tasks best suited 

to their skills and physical abilities. Ensuring that 

we get the right people in the right jobs not only 

promotes job dedication and satisfaction, but 

also reduces the risk of injury. The positive re-

sults from this progressive value-based thinking 

are evidenced in fewer of injuries and reduced 

absenteeism. 

All of our plants’ safety records are bench-

marked. In 2007, eight plants met our tough tar-

get of zero injuries. The graph below shows the 

injury rate (i.e. number of injuries per 200,000 

work hours) for the entire Autoliv corporation. 

Meet one of Autoliv´s Former Trainees
You finished the Trainee Program in June 2007. 

What were the main benefits of the program  

for you? 

Assignments in different plants introduced me  

to an international working environment and  

also provided contacts with new national 

cultures. Of course, I also learned a lot about 

Autoliv, its products and how they are designed 

and tested. The trainee program has been a very 

interesting personal and developmental experi-

ence for me.

Please describe your job as Test Center Manager 

in Brasov, Romania.

I am responsible for quality and engineering 

tests in our new engineering center. My work 

covers a wide range of tasks. It ranges from 

planning and follow-up of construction work and 

installation of new equipment to leading and 

growing our young team.

How did the Trainee Program prepare you for 

your current job in Romania?

Being a trainee provides you with a broader view. 

Through the program I gained valuable know-

ledge on how Autoliv applies and executes its 

global values locally. I now have a comprehen-

sive insight into Autoliv. Along with the speci�c 

training I also established personal contacts 

with colleagues, both cross country and cross 

function, which are essential for my current job.

Reduction of absenteeism in our plants is an 

important target for us, especially in Western  

 Europe where our absenteeism has historically 

been close to 10%. However, we have managed 

to reduce it gradually and, in 2007, the level was 

4% in Europe, close to our global average of 3% 

(see graph).

Productivity and Value  
Added in Business
As a broad measure of our employees’ business 

contribution, Autoliv monitors productivity and 

value added. 

Since 2003, value added per associate 

has increased by 5% to $74,592 in 2007 which 

should be compared to the average cost per as-

sociate that increased by 2% during the same 

period to $41,159. During all of these �ve years 

from 2003 through 2007, these key measures 

have been impacted by currency rate �uctua-

tions and, above all, comprehensive moves of 

production to low-cost countries (LCC). In LCC 

not only is labor cost less than in HCC but man-

ufacturing is also less automated and therefore 

the value added per head lower. 

In 2007, labor productivity in manufacturing 

improved by approximately 7.2%, compared to 

our target 5% per year. We measure labor pro-

ductivity as labor minutes per unit produced 

(LMPU).

All our employees – line operators 
as well as managers – are included 
in training programs, since we 
believe the key to a succesful 
company is to have an inspired, 
skilled and dedicated team of 
employees.

Dr. Axel Selk, Test Center Manager in Romania
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Cash Flow Generating Capability and  
Capital Efficiency
Autoliv’s growing business and capital ef�ciency 

gives the Company the potential to continue to 

generate strong cash �ow. 

From 2003, it has been possible to grow 

sales by 28% and operating income by 25% (on 

a comparable basis), and still only increase cap-

ital employed by 11% (see graph). This improve-

ment in capital ef�ciency re�ects a number of 

initiatives, such as plant consolidations, out-

sourcing, simpli�cation of manufacturing proc-

esses by product redesign and moving to low-

cost countries where less capital-intensive 

manufacturing processes can be utilized. Fur-

thermore, growth in sales and pro�ts has been 

achieved without any major acquisitions. As a 

result, goodwill and other intangibles, net now 

correspond to 26% of sales compared to 32% 

in 2003. 

At the end of 2007, operating working cap-

ital at 9.1% of sales was well in line with our  

target of not more than 10%. We expect to meet 

this target also for the next few years, although it 

may �uctuate between quarters.

Our Cash Flow Model
Since our market is expected to grow at a rate of 

at least 4% per year through 2010 (based on ex-

ternal forecasts of vehicle production), it should 

be possible to continue to grow business organ-

ically i. e. even without major acquisitions. As a 

result and given the cost containment programs 

we have introduced, we should be able to grow 

earnings faster than capital employed and there-

by continue to generate a strong cash �ow. 

When analyzing how to best use our operat-

ing cash �ow (of $781 million in 2007), the Autoliv 

Board uses the model depicted below to create 

shareholder value. 

The model takes all important variables into 

account such as the cost of marginal borrowing, 

the return on marginal investments and the price 

of the Autoliv share.

Investing in Operations
To create long-term value for shareholders, 

cash �ow from operations should only be used 

to �nance investments in operations to the point 

when the return on investments still exceeds the 

cost of capital. Autoliv’s returns on capital em-

ployed have for a number of years met or ex-

ceeded 12% and therefore the Company’s cost 

of capital. 

In 2007, we therefore reinvested a net of $435 

million in our business, including acquisitions. 

Of this amount, capital expenditures, net were 

$314 million, or 4.6% of sales. 

During the next few years, we believe that 

capital expenditures will remain at this 5% level 

and continue to be in line with depreciation (in-

cluding amortization). The need for  additional 

manufacturing capacity could, however, 

 increase following the recently issued,  tougher 

regulations on side-impact protection in the 

United States.

Acquisitions
Autoliv also invests in operations through acqui-

sitions. In 2007, the Company paid $121 million 

for shares in companies. 

In recent years, our focus has been on ac-

quisitions in Asia to take full advantage of 

the rapid growth in these emerging markets. 

During 2007, Autoliv therefore acquired the  

remaining shares of its joint ventures in Korea 

(Autoliv-Mando), India (Autoliv IFB Private Limit-

ed) and in Changchun in Northern China.  

Value-Creating Cash Flow
By creating customer satisfaction, maintaining tight cost control, developing new products 
and having dedicated and motivated employees (as described on page 14–23) we generate 
cash flow that can be used for creating shareholder value.
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CHANGE DEBT
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$141
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Long-term target Performance in 2007 Target achieved?

Organic sales Better than market        4.0%1)

Operating working capital <10% of sales      9.1% �

Leverage ratio 2) <3 times 1.5 �

Interest coverage 2)       > 2.75 times 9.8 �

Operating cash �ow >$500 million/yr $781 million �

1) Compared to 5% growth for our market. 2) For definitions, see page 68.
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Optimal Capital Structure
The next phase in our shareholder value creation 

model is to ensure that Autoliv’s capital structure 

is optimal for the Company’s owners. Current-

ly, Autoliv’s leverage ratio is 1.5 and the Compa-

ny’s interest coverage ratio is 9.8, compared to 

our policy targets of signi�cantly below 3.0 and 

signi�cantly above 2.75, respectively. Increased 

leverage can therefore be used to improve the 

potential to create incremental shareholder val-

ue by buying back shares and thereby seeking 

to grow earnings per share (EPS) faster than op-

erating income. Since 2003, EPS has increased 

at a compounded annual average growth rate of 

8.8% compared to 5.7% for operating income 

(on a comparable basis) during the same peri-

od. More than 70% of this superior EPS growth 

is due to our share buyback program. 

Dividend Policy
Since Autoliv uses both dividend payments 

and share buybacks to create shareholder val-

ue, the Company has no set dividend policy. In-

stead, the Board of Directors continually analyz-

es which one of the methods is most ef�cient to 

create shareholder value. Management believes 

that such recurrent analyses have the potential 

to generate more value for Autoliv’s sharehold-

ers than a pre-de�ned dividend policy.
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Total Funds Returned to Shareholders
In 2007, this approach resulted in a total return 

to the Autoliv shareholders of half a billion dol-

lars, which was 43% more than the year’s cash 

�ow before �nancing and corresponded to a to-

tal yield of 11.2%, i.e., total returns in relation to 

Autoliv’s average market capitalization during 

2007. 

Dividend
In 2007, Autoliv increased the dividend from 37 

cents per share for the �rst quarter to 39 cents 

per share for the other quarters of the year, and 

increased total dividend payments to Autoliv’s 

shareholders by 8% to more than $120 million 

for the full year. 

Over the past �ve years, the dividend per 

share has been raised at an annual average 

compound growth rate of 25%. 

Share Buybacks
Stock repurchases create value if the share is 

undervalued, but it destroys value if the share is 

overvalued. Autoliv therefore tries to buy back 

shares opportunistically, i.e. more shares when 

there is deemed to be a dip in the share price and 

fewer shares when the share price is higher. 

In 2007, Autoliv bought back shares for $380 

million. On the Company’s marginal debt, the in-

terest rate is currently less than 5% or not even 

half of Autoliv’s long-term return on equity of at 

least 12%. Hence, it was pro�table to increase 

leverage and, consequently, net debt was in-

creased during 2007 by $172 million (measured 

at year-end currency rates).

Since the inception of the repurchase pro-

gram in 2000, nearly 31 million shares have been 

repurchased for $1.3 billion at an average cost of 

$42.47 per share. At the end of 2007, the  Autoliv 

share closed at $52.71, indicating a market  value 

of approximately $1.6 billion for the  repurchased 

shares. This 24% increase in the indicated  market 

value compares favorably with the 15%  reduction 

in the average number of shares  outstanding dur-

ing the same share  repurchase period. This is in 

spite of the  general stock  market’s drop towards 

the end of the  measuring  period, 2000-2007.

Share Price Performance
As a result of the Company’s pro�t improve-

ments and successful share repurchases, the 

Autoliv stock has outperformed both most of its 

peers in the automotive industry and the gener-

al stock market in New York by rising 152% dur-

ing 2003-2007 to $52.71 last paid, compared to 

an increase of 67% in the S&P 500 Index and of 

34% in S&P’s Auto Components Index during 

the same �ve years.
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Share Performance
Over the past five years the Autoliv stock has outperformed the S&P 500 index in New York  
by 85%, and its industry peers in the S&P 1500 Auto Components index by 118%. 

New York
Between the beginning of 2003 and the end of 

2007, the Autoliv share rose by 152% to $52.71 

on the primary market for the Autoliv securi-

ties, i.e. the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).

The S&P 500 index increased by 67% during the 

same �ve-year period and the S&P 1500 Auto 

 Components Index increased by 34%. 

During 2007, the S&P 500 rose by 4%, and the  

S&P 1500 Auto Components Index by 12% while 

the Autoliv stock declined by 12%. 

The average daily trading volume in Autoliv 

shares was 340,566 in New York (compared to 

484,900 in 2006). 

Stockholm
In Stockholm, the price of the Autoliv Swedish 

Depository Receipt (SDR) rose by 107% to SEK 

349.50 during the �ve-year period 2003 through 

2007, while the composite index in Stockholm in-

creased by 145% during same period. 

The average daily trading volume was 

219,238 in Stockholm during 2007 compared to 

310,896 during 2006. 

In 2007, the Autoliv SDR was the 45th most 

traded security in Stockholm, accounting for 

0.3% of the trading compared to 0.6% during 

2006. In Stockholm, Autoliv’s SDRs are traded 

on the stock exchange’s list for large market cap 

companies.

Number of Shares
Due to Autoliv’s share repurchase program the 

number of shares outstanding, net of treasury 

shares, decreased during 2007 by 8% to 73.8 

million from 80.1 million on December 31, 2006. 

The weighted average numbers of shares 

outstanding (assuming dilution) was 78.3 million 

during 2007 and 82.5 million during 2006. Dur-

ing 2007, the Company repurchased 6,625,595 

shares for $380 million corresponding to an av-

erage cost per share of $57.35. 

Stock options and granted Restricted Stock 

Units (RSUs) could, if exercised, increase the 

number of shares outstanding by 1,145,912 and 

245,533 respectively (see Note 15 on page 57). 

This would increase the total number of shares 

by 1.9% to 75.2 million. 

In November 2007, the Board of Directors au-

thorized a fourth Share Repurchase Program for 

up to 7.5 million of the Company’s shares. At De-

cember 31, 2007, 6.9 million shares remained of 

this mandate for repurchases.

Number of Shareholders
Autoliv estimates that the total number of bene-

�cial Autoliv owners on December 31, 2007, ex-

ceeded 70,000 and that approximately 80% of 

the Autoliv securities were held in the U.S. and 

approximately 5% in Sweden. Most of the re-

maining  Autoliv securities were held in the U.K. 

and Central Europe. 

On December 31, 2007, Autoliv’s U.S. stock 

registrar had nearly 3,500 holders of Auto-

liv stock, and according to our soliciting agent, 

there were over 60,000 bene�cial holders that 

held Autoliv shares in a “street name” through a 

bank, broker or other nominee. 

According to the depository bank in Swe-

den, there were 3,000 record holders of the Au-

toliv SDRs and according to the Swedish solic-

iting agent nearly 6,000 “street holders” of the 

SDRs. Many of these holders are nominees for 

other, non-Swedish nominees.

The largest shareholders known to the Com-

pany are shown in the table on the next page.

Stock Incentive Plan
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan 

adopted by the Shareholders and as further 

amended, awards have been made to selected 

executive of�cers of the Company and other key 

employees in the form of:

r� 4UPDL�PQUJPOT�

r� 3FTUSJDUFE�4UPDL�6OJUT�	346T
�

All options are granted for ten-year terms, have 

an exercise price equal to the fair market value 

of the share at the date of the grant, and become 

exercisable after one year of continued employ-

ment following the grant date. 

Each RSU represents a promise to transfer 

one of the Company’s shares to the employee 

after three years of service following the date of 

grant or upon retirement (see Note 1 on page 49 

and Note 15 on page 57).

Dividends
If possible, quarterly dividends are paid on the 

�rst Thursday in the last month of each quar-

ter. The record date is usually one month earli-

er and the ex date (when the stock trades with-

out the right to the dividend) is typically two days 

CFGPSF�UIF�SFDPSE�EBUF��2VBSUFSMZ�EJWJEFOET�BSF�

declared separately by the Board, announced in 

press releases and published on Autoliv’s cor-

porate website. 

The dividend paid in the �rst quarter 2007 

was 37 cents per share and in the other three 

quarters 39 cents. Total cash dividends of $121 

million were paid in 2007, an increase of 8% 

compared to 2006. During the last �ve years, the 

quarterly dividend per share has been raised at 

an annual average rate of 25%. 

For 2008, the Company declared on Decem-

ber 19, 2007, a dividend of 39 cents per share for 

the �rst quarter and of 39 cents for the second 

quarter on February 19, 2008. 

Annual General Meeting
Autoliv’s next Annual General Meeting of Share-

holders will be held on Tuesday, May 6, 2008, at 

The Ritz-Carlton Hotel, 160 East Pearson Street, 

Chicago, Illinois, 60611 USA.

Shareholders are urged to vote on the 

 Internet whether or not they plan to attend the 

meeting. 

Public Information Disclosure
We report signi�cant events to shareholders, 

analysts, media and interested members of the 

public in a timely and transparent manner and 

give all constituencies the information simulta-

neously. All relevant public information is report-

ed objectively. Information given by Investor Re-

lations is authorized by the Management. 

Financial Calendar
"QSJM��������� 2��3FQPSU

May 6, 2008 Shareholders AGM

+VMZ��������� 2��3FQPSU

0DUPCFS��������� 2��3FQPSU

+BOVBSZ��������� 2��3FQPSU

End of February, 2009 10-K Filing

Shareholders
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ABG SUNDAL COLLIER 

Erik Pettersson

R.W. BAIRD 
David Leiker

BUCKINGHAM RESEARCH

Joseph Amaturo

CARNEGIE 

Björn Enarson

CHEUVREUX 
Patrik Sjöblom

CSFB 

Arndt Ellinghorst

DEUTSCHE BANK 

Rod Lache

ENSKILDA SECURITIES 
Anders Trapp

EVLI 
Michael Anderson

EXANE BNP PARIBAS 

Yahm Benhamou

GABELLI  CO. INC.

Anil Chachra

GOLDMAN SACHS 

Stefan Burgstaller

HAGSTRÖMER & QVIBERG 

Patric Lindqvist

HANDELSBANKEN 
Hampus Engellau

J P MORGAN 

Himanshu Patel

KAUPTHING 

Kenneth Toll

KEY BANC 
Brett Hoselton

LEHMAN BROTHERS 
Dorothee Hellmuth

MERRILL LYNCH 

Thomas Besson

MONNES, CRESPI,  
HARDT & CO 

Nick Pantazis

MORGAN STANLEY 

David Cramer

ÖHMAN 
Fredrik Nilhov

SOCIÉTÉ GÉNÉRALE 

Eric Michelis

SWEDBANK 

Anders Bruzelius

UBS WARBURG 

Avaneesh Acquilla

% No. of Shares Owner

 11.8 8,681,476 Alliance Bernstein  
 5.7 4,183,953 LSV Asset Management
 5.1 3,755,236 Iridian Asset   
   Management, LLC
 4.4 3,200,400 Renaissance Technologies  
   Corp. 
 3.8 2,760,885 Blavin & Company Inc.
 0.9 665,270 Management/Directors   
   as a group 2,3)

 100.0 73,807,784 Total December 31, 2007

1) Known to the Company, out of more than 70,000 shareholders   2) As of 
February 19, 2008. 3) Includes 459,045 shares issuable upon exercise of 
options that are exercisable within 60 days.

New York Price ($) Date

Opening 60.30 Jan 2, 2007
Year high 65.09 Oct 19, 2007
Year low 52.67 Dec 27, 2007
Closing 52.71 Dec 31, 2007
All-time high 65.09 Oct 19, 2007
All-time low 13.25 Sep 21, 2001

Stockholm Price (SEK) Date

Opening 418.00 Jan 2, 2007
Year high 435.00 Jan 25, 2007
Year low 344.00 Dec 27, 2007
Closing 349.50 Dec 28, 2007
All-time high 451.00 Mar 24, 2006 
All-time low 137.50 Jan 4, 2001

Contact Information
Board Contact/Corporate Compliance 
 Counsel
c/o Vice President Legal Affairs Autoliv, Inc. 

/ Box 70381, SE-107 24 Stockholm, Sweden,  

Tel +46 (0)8 58 72 06 00, Fax +46 (0)8 58 72 06 33,  

legalaffairs@autoliv.com

The Board, the independent directors, as well as 

the committees of the Board can be contacted 

using the address above. Contact can be made 

anonymously and communication with the inde-

pendent directors is not screened. The relevant 

chairman receives all such communication after 

it has been determined that the content repre-

sents a message to such chairman.

Stock Transfer Agent & Registrar
Internet: www.computershare.com (formerly 

Equiserve)

Investor Requests North America
Autoliv, Inc., c/o Autoliv Electronics America, 

26545 American Drive, South�eld, MI 48034.  

Tel +1 (248) 475-0427, Fax +1 (801) 625-6672, 

ray.pekar@autoliv.com

Investor Requests Rest of the World
Autoliv, Inc., Box 70381, SE-107 24, Stockholm, 

Sweden. Tel +46 (0)8 58 72 06 23, Fax +46 (0)8 

411 70 25, mats.odman@autoliv.com

 
New York (US$)

 
Stockholm (SEK)

Dividend  
Declared

Dividend  
Paid

Period High Low Close High Low Close US$ US$

Q1 2007 62.12 55.50 57.11 438 385 399 0.39 0.37

Q2 2007 61.83 56.04 56.87 417 379 391 0.39 0.39

Q3 2007 60.29 51.32 59.75 407 359 389 0.39 0.39

Q4 2007 65.09 52.50 52.71 421 338 350 0.39 0.39

Q1 2006 58.04 46.51 56.58 451 359 442 0.32 0.32

Q2 2006 60.19 52.00 56.57 445 372 405 0.35 0.32

Q3 2006 57.74 51.74 55.11 431 380 406 0.37 0.35

Q4 2006 61.00 54.29 60.30 424 392 414 0.37 0.37

US$
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Autoliv’s Core Values 
We create a solid corporate identity through our core values. They clarify  
what Autoliv stands for. They are global but applied and executed locally. 

Every year, our products save 20,000 lives and 

help prevent at least ten times as many severe 

injuries and save tens of billions of dollars for 

 societies. This is the most important contribu-

tion from Autoliv to Corporate Social Responsi-

bility (CSR). 

By applying our corporate values to all as-

pects of our business, we also assume social 

responsibility in several other ways, e.g. through 

our ethical codes and strict environmental man-

agement.  

Autoliv’s Core Corporate Values:
r� -JGF�m�XF�IBWF�B�QBTTJPO�GPS�TBWJOH�MJWFT�

r� $VTUPNFST�m�XF�BSF�EFEJDBUFE� UP�QSPWJEJOH�

satisfaction for our customers and value for 

the driving public.

r� *OOPWBUJPO�m�XF�BSF�ESJWFO�GPS�JOOPWBUJPO�BOE�

continuous improvement.

r� &NQMPZFFT�m�XF�BSF�DPNNJUUFE�UP�UIF�EFWFM-

opments of our employees’ skills, knowledge 

and creative potential.

r� &UIJDT�m�XF�BEIFSF�UP�UIF�IJHIFTU�MFWFM�PG�FUIJ-

cal and social behavior.

r� $VMUVSF�m�XF�BSF�GPVOEFE�PO�HMPCBM�UIJOLJOH�

and local actions.

Ethical Code
We adhere to the highest level of ethical and so-

cial behavior in our “Code of Business Conduct 

and Ethics”. Our Code can be downloaded from 

www.autoliv.com. The Code applies to all oper-

ations and all employees worldwide. The Auto-

liv president in each country is responsible for 

communicating the Code to the employees in 

that country.

Autoliv’s ethical Code draws on universal 

standards such as the “Global Sullivan Princi-

ples of Social Responsibilities” and on the UN’s 

“Global Compact”. As a result, we for instance: 

r� &YQSFTT� PVS� TVQQPSU� GPS� VOJWFSTBM� IVNBO�

rights and, particularly, within our sphere of in-

�uence, the communities within which we op-

erate, and parties with whom we do business.

r� 1SPNPUF�FRVBM�PQQPSUVOJUZ�GPS�PVS�FNQMPZFFT�

at all levels of the Company with respect to is-

sues such as color, race, gender, age, ethnic-

ity, sexual orientation or religious beliefs, and 

do not tolerate unacceptable worker treat-

ment such as the exploitation of children, 

physical punishment, female abuse, involun-

tary servitude, or other forms of abuse.

r� 3FTQFDU� PVS� FNQMPZFFT�� WPMVOUBSZ� GSFFEPN�

of association. 

r� $PNQFOTBUF�PVS�FNQMPZFFT�UP�FOBCMF�UIFN�

to, at least, meet their basic needs and pro-

vide the opportunity to improve their skills 

and capability in order to raise their social and 

economic opportunities.

r� 1SPWJEF�B�TBGF�BOE�IFBMUIZ�XPSLQMBDF�QSPUFDU�

human health and the environment, and pro-

mote sustainable development.

r� 1SPNPUF�GBJS�DPNQFUJUJPO�VQIPME�UIF�IJHIFTU�

standard in business ethics and integrity and 

not offer, pay or accept bribes.

 

Our Code is also an integrated part of the  

Autoliv Supplier Manual (ASM). All new and 

existing suppliers are required to sign an ac-

knowledgement letter where they con�rm that 

they will comply with the ASM requirements,  

including the Code.

  
Compliance Monitoring
Each regional president, business director and 

certain other managers are obliged to report vi-

olations to regulations and to our codes. This is 

a standing heading in their monthly letters to the 

Autoliv CEO.

 In addition, our employees are encouraged 

to report any violation of law or Autoliv codes. 

It can be done anonymously by using a special 

“hotline-number” in each country.

In 2006, we initiated a self-assessment re-

view of Autoliv facilities. This study assesses the 

compliance with and the standards for working 

conditions, work hours, work rules, work prac-

tices, health & safety status, union representa-

tion, wages & salaries, bene�ts and insurance 

coverage. 

We started this Social Responsibility As-

sessment in the Asian countries where Autoliv 

operates, since every second Autoliv associate 

works in a low-cost country and we will continue 

to expand in these countries. The results from 

the assessment are satisfying and show that all 

of our plants in these emerging markets main-

tain overall good standards and practices. Dur-

ing 2007, we continued the assessment in East-

ern Europe, with similarly good results. 

Our leading suppliers are monitored as part 

of our regular quality audits.

 

1998. Weight: 3.3 kg 2002. Weight: 2.3 kg
Weight reduction: 30%

2008. Weight: 1.7 kg
Weight reduction: 25%

Redesign of our products is a continuous process. Airbags, for instance, have become both lighter and more efficient during the past years. Compared to 1998, the weight of a passenger frontal 
airbag has been reduced by almost 50%, which reduces cost as well as the CO2 emissions during the entire life of a vehicle.

Our Values
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Most of our products are produced from steel 

and other metals, or plastics and other oil-based 

materials. The products are installed in vehicles 

where their weight will affect the fuel consump-

tion and emissions during the entire life of the 

vehicle. Our products could also affect the en-

vironment when the vehicle is scrapped, if due 

attention is not paid to the material selection. As 

a result, we consider all phases of a product’s 

life and not just the manufacturing phase that, 

in our case, is the phase with the least environ-

mental impact. 

Before Manufacturing  
The most signi�cant contribution to the envi-

ronment Autoliv can make before manufactur-

ing starts is to design products that minimize the 

use of resources, thereby limiting the environ-

mental impact from steel mills and other manu-

facturers in our supply chain. 

We also work closely with our suppliers in 

several other respects and encourage them to 

implement an international environmental man-

agement standard, preferably ISO 14001. We 

also require them to adhere to our environmen-

tal policy.  

Internal Improvements
It is our policy that every Autoliv facility should 

be certi�ed according to ISO 14001 (see graph). 

The few remaining non-certi�ed plants are es-

sentially new manufacturing facilities that have 

not yet been certi�ed. We continuously monitor 

a number of other environmental indicators such 

as energy and water consumption and emis-

sions. All values are low. We therefore focus on 

reducing freight and packaging materials, where 

we have the highest savings potentials. 

Carbon Dioxide (CO2) Emissions 
The emission  level (measured in relation to sales) 

of the “greenhouse” gas CO2 from our produc-

tion is four to �ve times less than for an average 

engineering industry company making our level 

comparable to a bank or a service company (see 

graph). 

The most important contribution we can 

make to the environment is therefore to continue 

to design and develop low weight environmen-

tally friendly safety systems. For instance, our 

latest side curtain airbag has 38% less weight 

than the �rst curtain airbag which was intro-

duced in 1998. Our latest passenger airbag has 

25% less weight than the previous product gen-

eration which, in turn, was 30% lighter than its 

predecessor. These two examples alone save 

10,000 tons annually (mainly steel) and lead to a 

corresponding positive environmental improve-

ment in our supply chain. This will also help meet 

the vehicle industry’s new commitment that CO2 

emissions in Europe should be substantially re-

duced in new vehicles.

After Delivery 
Also during the use phase, the most signi�cant 

contribution we can make to the environment 

is reductions in emissions achieved by lower 

weight designs. These savings remain through-

out the vehicle’s entire lifespan. 

We actively support our customers in their 

environmental programs. We are, for instance, 

represented in the Ford Supplier Sustainability 

Forum together with ten other leading Ford sup-

pliers who have a track record of being at the 

forefront of environmental management.

End of Life of Vehicle
The European directive End of Life of Vehicle 

(ELV) requires that, beginning in 2006, 85% of 

material in all new vehicle models must be re-

coverable and 95% should be recoverable as of 

2015.  

Although the ELV does not specify recovery 

levels for individual car components but only 

states the recovery levels for the whole vehicle, 

we are making sure our products contribute to 

meet these standards. 

The EU-directive also bans the use of haz-

ardous substances such as lead. In 2006, Auto-

liv therefore completed its multi-year program 

to phase out lead from its igniters for airbags. 

Some older igniters used to contain small quan-

tities of lead (less than one-hundredth of a 

gram), but now all our products are completely 

free from lead or other environmentally hazard-

ous materials. 

For selecting and controlling of all materials 

in our products, Autoliv registers all materials 

and substances in an internal global database.
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By installing Autoliv’s gas 
generators in air-tight 
compartments of a vehicle’s 
structure, the crashworthiness 
can be significantly improved. 
This could lead to smaller, more 
compact vehicles with less weight 
and, consequently, less carbon 
dioxide emissions.

Autoliv’s environmental management goes beyond the legal 
requirements, since recyclable and environmentally friendly 
products are a competitive tool in the automotive industry. 

Environmental Management



30    AUTOLIV ANNUAL REPORT 2007

Management’s Discussion 
and Analysis

Autoliv, Inc. (“the Company”) provides advanced technology products for the automotive market. In the three-year period 
2005-2007 (the time period required by the SEC to be reviewed in this analysis), a number of trends have influenced the 
Company’s operations. The most significant trends have been:
- Changes in global light vehicle production along with changes in vehicle model and customer mix 
- Pause in growth of the average safety content per vehicle 
- Challenges to reduce costs due to higher prices for raw materials and distressed suppliers
- Transfer of operations to and expansion in low-cost countries
- Restructuring and consolidation of manufacturing base
- Improved returns to shareholders due to share buybacks and increased dividends 

Important Trends

Vehicle Production and Mix
During the 2005-2007 period, the most impor-
tant growth driver for Autoliv’s market has been 
global light vehicle production (LVP). Global LVP is 
estimated to have increased faster than in previ-
ous three-year periods, or at a compounded an-
nual  average growth rate of 5%, to approximately 
68 million vehicles. The annual growth was 4% in 
2005, 4% in 2006 and 5% in 2007.

However, the growth occurred in the emerging 
markets, while LVP declined in  Western Europe 
and the U.S. which make up 70% of the current 
automotive safety market. The decline in LVP was 
2% in Western Europe from the 2004 level and 
4% in North America, while the growth in LVP in 
the Rest of the World (all markets outside North 
America, Europe and Japan) was 42%. To take 
advantage of the superior growth in emerging mar-
kets, we have been positioning Autoliv in China, 
India and other emerging markets through both 
consolidated subsidiaries and joint ventures in ad-
dition to establishing new facilities. As a result, our 
sales in the Rest of the World continued to grow in 
importance and accounted for 13% of revenues 
in 2007, compared to 10% in 2004. 

Another important factor is the growing global 
LVP of Asian vehicle manufacturers, which in-
creased their output by 14% during the last three 
years. To take advantage of this trend, we have 
made substantial investments in Korea, Thailand 
and, especially, in China and India. As a result, in 
2007, Asian vehicle manufacturers accounted for 
27% of our revenues compared to 23% in 2004. 

A third important factor has been Autoliv’s ability 
to continue to be a supplier to the best-selling car 
models in Europe. We were particularly success-
ful in this respect during the latest model change-
overs. Since most of these model shifts took place 
three to four years ago, they helped us achieve 
superior growth in 2003 and 2004 when the mod-
els were new. However, after demand for these 
best-selling models peaked, they caused a flat-
tening in consolidated sales in 2005 and 2006. 
Not even Autoliv’s strong performance in emerging 
markets and with the Asian vehicle manufacturers 

was able to offset this effect until 2007 when sales 
growth resumed and our consolidated net sales 
grew by 9%.  

For additional information on Autoliv’s depen-
dence on certain customers and vehicle models, 
see page 40.

Safety Content per Vehicle
Historically, safety content per vehicle has in-
creased by 3% per year since 1997. However, dur-
ing the last three years, the global average safety 
value has stood almost unchanged at approxi-
mately $270 per vehicle despite the introduction 
of new safety technologies, regulations and vari-
ous rating programs of crash performance. This 
stagnation is caused by the combined effects of 
pricing pressure in the automotive industry and of 
the above mentioned mix changes in global LVP 
towards smaller, less-equipped vehicles for the 
emerging markets. 

However, the safety standards of vehicles in the 
emerging markets are improving and, as a conse-
quence, the negative vehicle mix effect is expected 
to abate. In 2006, for instance, China introduced a 
rating program for crash performance of new ve-
hicles. The growth in the average global value of 
safety systems is, therefore, expected to resume, 
albeit at a lower rate than historically. 

Years ended Dec. 31 
(U.S. Dollars)  2007 2006 2005 

Consolidated sales (million)  $6,769 +9% $6,188 0% $6,205 +1%
Global light vehicle production     
    (in thousands)   68,465 +5% 64,958 +4% 62,534 +4% 

Gross profit (million)  $1,331 +5% $1,265 0% $1,268  +4% 
Gross margin  19.7% (0.7)% 20.4% 0% 20.4%  +0.5% 
Operating income (million)1)  $502 (3)% $520 +1% $513  0% 
Operating margin1)  7.4% (1.0)% 8.4% +0.1% 8.3%  (0.1)% 
Net income (million)2)  $288 (28)% $402 +37% $293  (10)% 
Net margin2)  4.3% (2.2)% 6.5% +1.8% 4.7%  (0.6)% 
Earnings per share2)  $3.68 (25)% $4.88 +50% $3.26  (6)% 
Return on equity2)  12% (5)% 17% +5% 12%  (1)% 
1) In 2007, affected by $30 million corresponding to 0.5% of sales for a court ruling, (see page 37).  
2) In 2007, affected by $20 million corresponding to 0.3% of sales for a court ruling (see pages 32 and 37) and, in 2006, by favor-
able discrete tax items, (see page 32).

Cost Reduction Challenges 
Historically, the impact from raw material prices 
has been modest. However, in the second half of 
2004, significant price increases of raw materials 
began to take effect and, during 2005, the Com-
pany was directly and indirectly through its sup-
pliers faced with $90 million higher costs primarily 
related to higher steel prices. The Company was 
faced with another cost increase of $20 million of 
higher raw material costs in 2006 and yet another 
$20 million in 2007. In 2006 and 2007, the increas-
es were caused by primarily zinc and aluminum. 
For additional information on the Company’s ex-
posure to raw materials and component costs re-
fer to page 39. 

To compensate for this 1.5 percentage point 
negative effect on gross margin in 2005 and the 
additional 0.3 percentage point effects in both 
2006 and 2007, and to cope with continued se-
vere pricing pressure from customers, we have 
further expanded our global sourcing programs, 
consolidated Autoliv’s supplier base, phased out 
unprofitable products and increased component 
sourcing in low-cost countries. However, the per-
sistently high raw material prices in combination 
with the pricing pressure in the automotive industry 
have caused severe problems for some of Autoliv’s 
suppliers. As a result, Autoliv had to absorb ap-
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proximately $12 million higher costs in 2007 than 
in 2006 for financially distressed suppliers. Fur-
thermore, Autoliv’s sales of safety electronics and 
seatbelts, which use more expensive components 
on average than other Autoliv products, have risen 
faster than sales of products with relatively lower 
component costs. A similar effect can be seen 
from the rapidly growing sales in emerging mar-
kets, where labor costs are often so low that other 
cost items (including component costs) increase 
as a percentage of sales despite the fact that the 
actual component prices in dollars are lower. 

Due to these reasons, the former positive trend 
of lower direct material costs in relation to sales 
has reversed and, as a consequence, direct ma-
terial cost rose by 1.6 percentage points to 51.0% 
of sales in 2007 from 49.4% in 2005, and from 
49.6% in 2006. 

Transfer and Expansion of Operations
To take advantage of the above-mentioned rap-
id growth in emerging markets, the Company is 
rapidly adding new plants, primarily in China and 
India. Chinese and Indian LVP are both expected 
to double by 2012 to 12 million vehicles and 5 mil-
lion, respectively, from the 2006 levels, according 
to industry market institutes. 

The depreciation costs for the buildings and a 
substantial part of the manufacturing equipment, 
as well as cost for training of new line operators, 
had an immediate negative impact on the 2007 in-
come statement, while capacity in these facilities is 
not expected to reach full utilization until 2009. 

In 2007, the effect from such start-up costs to-
taled $23 million, which corresponds to a negative 
margin effect of 0.3%. 

Labor Cost Improvements 
These negative effects in 2007 of 0.6% on mar-
gins from raw materials and start-up activities have 
been partially offset by the Company taking several 
actions, such as moving production to low-cost 
countries (LCC). 

In high-cost countries (HCC), headcount has 
been cut by 5,450, or 21%, from the beginning of 
the three-year period to 20,250, while headcount 
in LCC increased by 7,550 or 54% to 21,650 at 
December 31, 2007. These shifts of production 
are estimated to have generated labor cost sav-
ings in the magnitude of $70 million in 2005, $100 
million in 2006 and $120 million in 2007 or more 
than a quarter of a billion dollars during the full 
three-year period 2005 through 2007. In addition, 
labor productivity in manufacturing (measured as 
labor minutes per unit produced) has improved by 
more than 5% each year, in line with our target.

As a result, labor cost has been reduced by 0.6 
percentage points in relation to sales to 25.4% 
from 26.0% in 2005 despite price concessions 
provided to customers and annual wage increas-
es to our employees.  

Due to these savings in labor cost, gross margin 
remained at 20.4% during 2005 and 2006, but 
declined slightly below 20% in 2007 to 19.7% due 
to the 1.4 percentage point increase in that year in 
direct material cost. 

Restructuring 
In order to achieve savings in depreciation and 
 other fixed costs and to achieve the above-
mentioned savings in labor costs, the Company 
has consolidated its manufacturing base in high-
cost-countries. 

In 2005, 689 employees were affected by these 
activities when three complete plants were closed. 
In 2006, 938 employees were affected by the ac-
tivities when individual manufacturing lines were 
closed. In 2007, 647 employees were affected by 
such restructuring activities which included one 
complete plant closure.  

As a result of these activities, earnings were 
reduced by $20 million for restructuring costs in 
2005, by $13 million in 2006 and by $24 million in 
2007, corresponding to 0.3%, 0.2% and 0.4% of 
sales, respectively. 

We are continuously evaluating our business op-
erations and will, on a case-by-case basis, con-
tinue to consolidate our manufacturing base. As 
a result, restructuring activities and restructuring 
costs are expected to remain high during the next 
few years. 

Share Buybacks and Dividends
To increase shareholder value by taking advan-
tage of Autoliv’s strong cash flow, financial position 
and low borrowing cost, we have accelerated the 
Company’s repurchases of shares while steadily 
increasing the quarterly dividend. 

As a result, the Company returned $979 mil-
lion to shareholders during the 2005-2007 period 
through its stock repurchase program and another 
$338 million through dividend payments. The to-
tal amount of $1,317 million was more than 30% 
higher than the total net income of $983 million for 
the period 2005-2007. 

During this three-year period, 19 million shares 
have been repurchased at an average cost of 
$51.48 per share compared to the price last paid 
at the end of 2007 of $52.71. 

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995 provides a safe harbor for forward-looking 
statements made by us or on our behalf. 

When used in this report, the words “estimates,” 
“expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” “plans,” “in-
tends,” “believes,” “forecasts,” or future or con-
ditional verbs, such as “will,” “should,” “could” or 
“may,” and variations of such words or similar ex-
pressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. 

All statements contained or incorporated in this 
Report which are not conveying historical infor-
mation but in any way address operating perfor-
mance, events or developments that we expect 
or anticipate may occur in the future, including 
statements related to business opportunities, 
awarded sales contracts, sales backlog and on-
going commercial arrangements or statements 

expressing views about future operating results, 
are forward-looking statements. 

All such forward-looking statements, includ-
ing, without limitation, management’s examina-
tion of historical operating trends and data, are 
based upon our current expectations and vari-
ous assumptions. Our expectations, beliefs and 
projections are expressed in good faith and we 
believe there is a reasonable basis for them. How-
ever, there can be no assurance that manage-
ment’s expectations, beliefs and projections will 
be achieved.

All forward-looking statements attributable to 
us or persons acting on our behalf apply only as 
of the date of this report and are expressly quali-
fied in their entirety by the cautionary statements 
included in this report and in our filings with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission(SEC). 

We undertake no obligation to update or revise 
forward-looking statements which have been 
made to reflect events or circumstances that arise 
after the date made or to reflect the occurrence 
of unanticipated events.

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and 
other important factors that could cause our ac-
tual results to differ materially from the forward-
looking statements contained in this report. 

The factors, risks and uncertainties that may 
cause actual results to differ from those ex-
pressed in our forward-looking statements in-
clude, but are not limited to, the risks, described 
on pages 39-42 and in Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” 
in our Report on Form 10-K and from time to time 
in our other SEC filings.

“Safe Harbor Statement”
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Items Affecting Comparability
The following items have affected the compara-
bility of reported results from year to year. We be-
lieve that, to assist in understanding Autoliv’s op-
erations, it is useful to consider certain U.S. GAAP 
measures exclusive of these items. 

Accordingly, the accompanying tables reconcile 
from U.S. GAAP to the equivalent non-U.S. GAAP 
measure.

Court ruling
Following a ruling in the second quarter 2007 by 
the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit 
(see page 37), Autoliv increased its legal reserves 
by $30 million to cover damages and interest ex-
pense to a former supplier. 
An amount of $36 million, including the original re-
serve of $6 million, was paid in the fourth quarter 
for this dispute. 

The unexpected incremental cost of $30 mil-
lion reduced operating margin by 0.5 percentage 
points, net income by $20 million, earnings per 
share (assuming dilution) by 26 cents, operating 
working capital by $20 million and return on equity 
by 0.8 percentage points. Cash flow was reduced 
by $36 million. All numbers are approximates.

  

Effects in 2007 of Court Ruling  
 Reported Effects Adjusted
Operating income (million) $502 $30 $532
Operating margin,  7.4% 0.5% 7.9%
Income before taxes (million) $446 $30 $476
Net income (million) $288 $20 $308
Capital employed $3,531 $20 $3,551
Earning per share (assuming dilution) $3.68 $0.26 $3.94
Equity per share $31.83 $0.28 $32.11
Return on equity 12.0% 0.8% 12.8%

Effects in 2006 of Discrete Tax Items
 Reported Effects Adjusted
Net income (million) $402  $951) $307
Net margin 6.5% 1.5% 5.0%
Operating working capital/sales 11.7% 1.4% 10.3%
Earnings per share (assuming dilution) $4.88 $1.15 $3.73
Return on equity 17.1% 3.9% 13.2%
Effective tax rate 12.2% 19.7% 31.9%

1) Consisting of $69 million from release of tax reserves and $26 million from other discrete tax items. 

Discrete Tax Items
The third and fourth quarters of 2006 were affect-
ed by a total of $95 million from releases of tax re-
serves and other discrete items (see page 36). 

Consequently, as shown in the table to the right, 
the effective tax rate was reduced by 19.7 percent-
age points, which boosted net income by $95 mil-
lion, earnings per share (assuming dilution) by $1.15 
and return on equity by 3.9 percentage points. In 
addition, operating working capital was boosted by 
1.4 percentage points in relation to sales. 

In 2007, the Company’s effective tax rate was 
33.7%, and was negatively impacted by 1.8 per-
centage points for discrete tax items .

Jobs Creation Act Transactions
In 2005, Autoliv made internal distributions totaling 
$855 million under the American Jobs Creation Act 
of 2004. The Act provided for an 85% deduction 
on certain earnings repatriated before the end of 
the year to the U.S. The distributions also enabled 
us to replace some U.S. debt with Euro and SEK 
denominated debt at lower interest rates. 

As a result, during 2006, Autoliv saved $5 mil-
lion in lower tax expense and another $24 million 
in lower interest expense. The interest saving  was 
due to a more than 2.5% lower market interest rate 
level in Sweden than in the U.S. 

Effects in 2005 of the American Jobs Creation Act
 Reported Effects  Adjusted
Net income (million) $293 $13 $306
Earnings per share (assuming dilution) $3.26 $0.15 $3.41
Return on equity 11.7% 0.5% 12.2%
Tax rate 35.9% 3.5% 32.4%

Outlook for 2008
During 2008, light vehicle production is expected 
to increase by an average of 2.5% but to decline by 
5% both in North America and in Western Europe. 

However, we expect to offset this negative mix 
effect by continued introductions of curtain air-
bags, market share gains in safety electronics 
and steering wheels, and by continued step-up in 
sales of advanced seatbelt technologies. In addi-
tion, currency effects could have a favorable im-
pact of 4%, provided that the mid-February ex-
change rates prevail. The consolidation of Autoliv 
IFB in India (see page 36) should add another per-

centage point. Based on these assumptions, we 
expect consolidated sales to grow by 7% with the 
organic sales portion growing at an average rate 
for the year of approximately 2%. However, the 
growth will come gradually, starting with an ex-
pected decline in organic sales of approximately 
3% in the first quarter. This is partially due to the 
easter holiday falling into the first quarter and not 
in the second quarter as in 2007.

Given current price trends for steel and magne-
sium average raw material prices will probably be 
somewhat higher for us during 2008 than during 

2007. We also expect costs for distressed sup-
pliers to remain on the same level as in 2007, and 
we have assumed that restructuring costs will re-
main on the 2007 level. However, we expect the 
unusually high start-up costs in China to diminish 
as the capacity utilization in the new plants en-
hances gradually during the year. We therefore ex-
pect margins to recover – despite the weak vehicle 
production in our largest markets – and to reach an 
operating margin in the range of 8.0% and 8.5% .

The effective tax rate is forecasted to amount to 
approximately 31%, compared to 33.7% in 2007. 

In 2005, the interest expense savings were  
$5 million,but the distributions also resulted in an 
incremental tax expense of $17 million and in an 
incremental SG&A expense of $1 million. Taking 
all effects into account as in the table above, net 
income in 2005 was reduced by $13 million, earn-
ings per share reduced by $0.15, and return on 
equity by 0.5 percentage points. 

The effective tax rate in 2005 was boosted by 3.5 
percentage points and cash and cash  equivalents 
increased temporarily to $296 million at the end of 
the year since the cash distributions exceeded the 
maturing U.S. dollar denominated debt.
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Non-U.S. GAAP Performance Measures
In this Annual Report we sometimes refer to non-
U.S. GAAP measures that we and securities 
 analysts use in measuring Autoliv’s performance. 

We believe that these measures assist investors 
in analyzing trends in the  Company’s business 
for the reasons given below. Investors should 

not consider these non-U.S. GAAP measures as 
substitutes, but rather as additions to, financial 
reporting measures prepared in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP.

These non-U.S. GAAP measures have been 
identified, as applicable, in each section of this 

 Annual Report with tabular presentations on 
this page and page 32 reconciling them to U.S. 
GAAP.

It should be noted that these measures, as de-
fined, may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures used by other companies.

Components in Sales Increase/Decrease
(Dollars in millions)

  Europe N. America Japan RoW Total
2007 vs. 2006 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $
Organic sales growth 3.6 115.5 (0.6) (9.8) 13.5 75.3 10.5 68.6 4.0 249.6
Effect of exchange rates  9.0 294.0 0.0 0.0 (1.4) (7.4) 5.5 36.3 5.3 322.9
Impact of acquisitions – – – – – – 1.3 8.5 0.1 8.5
Reported net sales change 12.6 409.5 (0.6) (9.8) 12.1 67.9 17.3 113.4 9.4 581.0

  Europe N. America Japan RoW Total
2006 vs. 2005 % $ % $ % $ % $ % $
Organic sales growth (5.2) (175.7) (0.1) (0.6) 9.9 52.8 14.9 82.9 (0.7) (40.6)
Effect of exchange rates 1.0 34.1 0.1 1.0 (5.2) (28.0) 3.0 16.6 0.4 23.7
Reported net sales change (4.2) (141.6) 0.0 0.4 4.7 24.8 17.9 99.5 (0.3) (16.9)

Organic Sales
Since the Company generates nearly 80% of sales 
in other currencies than in the reporting currency 
(i.e. U.S. dollars) and currency rates have proven 
to be very volatile, and due to the fact that the 
Company has historically made several acquisi-
tions and divestitures, we analyze the Company’s 
sales trends and performance as changes in “or-
ganic sales growth”. 

This presents the increase or decrease in the 
overall U.S. dollar net sales on a comparable ba-
sis, allowing separate discussions of the impact of 
acquisitions/divestitures and exchange rates. 

The tabular reconciliation above presents chang-
es in “organic sales growth” as reconciled to the 
change in total U.S. GAAP net sales. 

Reconciliation of “Operating working capital” to U.S. GAAP measure

 December 31 December 31 December 31 
 2007 2006 2005
Total current assets $2,095.2 $2,098.4 $2,162.5 
Total current liabilities (1,663.3) (1,531.6) (1,764.3) 
Working capital 431.9 566.8 398.2 
Cash and cash equivalents (153.8) (168.1) (295.9) 
Short-term debt 311.9 294.1 508.4 
Derivative asset and liability, current (4.4) 1.2 (92.9) 
Dividends payable 28.8 29.6     - 
Operating working capital $614.4 $723.6 $517.8 

Operating Working Capital
Due to the need to optimize cash generation to 
create value for shareholders, management fo-
cuses on operationally derived working capital as 
defined in the table to the right. 

The reconciling items used to derive this mea-
sure are, by contrast, managed as part of our over-
all management of cash and debt, but they are not 
part of the responsibilities of day-to-day opera-
tions’ management. 

Reconciliation of “Net debt” to U.S. GAAP measure

 December 31 December 31 December 31 
 2007 2006 2005
Short-term debt $311.9 $294.1 $508.4 
Long-term debt 1,040.3 887.7 757.1 
Total debt 1,352.2 1,181.8 1,265.5 
Cash and cash equivalents (153.8) (168.1) (295.9) 
Debt-related derivatives (16.5) (3.3) (92.7)
Net debt $1,181.9 $1,010.4 $876.9 

Net Debt
As part of efficiently managing the Company’s 
overall cost of funds, we routinely enter into “debt-

related derivatives” (DRD) as part of our debt man-
agement. In 2007, the most notable volumes of 
DRD’s were entered into in connection with the is-
sue of a U.S. private placement (see page 38). 

Creditors and credit rating agencies use net debt 
adjusted for DRD’s in their analyses of the Com-
pany’s debt. This non-U.S. GAAP measure was 
used, for instance, in certain covenants for the 

Company’s Revolving Credit Facility when it still 
had covenants. 

By adjusting for DRD’s, the total economic 
l iability of net debt is disclosed without grossing 
it up with currency or interest fair market values 
that are offset by DRD’s reported in other balance 
sheet captions.
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Net Sales
Net sales for 2007 increased by 9% or by $581 
million to $6,769 million, including currency effects 
of $323 million or 5% and $9 million from an acqui-
sition in India (see page 36). 

Consequently, organic sales (non-U.S. GAAP 
measure, see page 33) grew by 4% or by $250 mil-
lion, despite price reductions to customers. This 
was mainly due to strong performance in seatbelts 
and higher global vehicle production. Sales were 
also driven by strong demand for curtain airbags 
and higher market shares for safety electronics 
and steering wheels.

Organic sales increased by 4% in the first quarter 
of the year, by 3% in the second, by 6% in the third 
and by 4% in the fourth quarter. 

Organic sales of airbag products increased by 
2%, mainly due to the introduction of side cur-
tain airbags into an increasing number of vehicle 
models. Airbag product sales were also driven 
by higher market share for safety electronics and 
steering wheels. Sales were negatively affected by 
price erosion and the expiration of certain frontal 
airbag contracts. 

Organic sales of seatbelt products rose by 7% 
due to strong vehicle production in the Rest of the 
World and strong demand for upgraded seatbelt 
systems with pretensioners. 

In Europe, where Autoliv generates approximate-
ly 50% of its revenues, organic sales rose by 4% 
compared to a 2% increase in light vehicle produc-
tion in Western Europe which accounts for 90% 
of Autoliv’s European revenues. Eastern Europe 
also contributed to the growth of the safety market 
and Autoliv’s sales, despite a lower average safety 
value per vehicle, by rapidly raising its light vehicle 
production by 18%. 

In North America, which accounts for a quarter of 
revenues, organic sales declined by less than 1% 
due to a 1.5% decline in light vehicle production. 
Autoliv’s relatively strong performance was due to 
rapidly increasing demand for curtain airbags, and 
market share gains in safety electronics and steer-
ing wheels. These effects were partially offset by 
price erosion and the expiration of certain frontal 
airbag contracts.

In Japan, which accounts for 10% of revenues, 
organic sales grew by 13% which was significantly 
faster than the 1% growth in Japanese light vehicle 
production. Organic sales growth was recorded 
in all product lines and was particularly strong in 
seatbelt. 

In the Rest of the World, which generated nearly 
15% of revenues, organic sales rose by 10% driv-
en by a 13% increase in the region’s light vehicle 
production.  

Gross Margin
Gross profit increased by 5% or $65 million to 
$1,331  million as a result of currency effects and 
higher organic sales. However, gross margin de-
clined to 19.7% in 2007 from 20.4% in 2006 due 
to pricing pressure from customers in combina-
tion with higher raw material prices in the supply 
chain, costs related to financially distressed sup-
pliers and exceptionally high start-up activities, pri-
marily in China.

These negative effects were partially offset by the 
move of production to LCC and by other benefits 
of the Company’s cost reduction programs.   

Operating Income
Operating income declined by $18 million to $502 
million and operating margin to 7.4% in 2007 from 
8.4% in 2006. The decline in operating income 
was entirely due to a $30 million cost for a court 
ruling (see page 37), which had 0.5 percentage 
point negative margin effect. Excluding the cost for 
the court ruling, operating income in 2007 would 
have been $532 million and operating margin 7.9% 
(non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 32). 

Operating margin was negatively impacted by 
the 0.7 percentage points decline in gross mar-
gin, partially offset by R,D&E expense declining to 
5.8% of sales from 6.4% due to better utilization 
of R,D&E resources and moves of certain R,D&E 
activities to LCC. 

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net increased by 40% or $15 
million to $54 million in 2007 from $38 million in 
2006 as a result of a 17% higher average net debt 
(non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 33) and high-
er floating market interest rates. Higher average 
net debt primarily reflects the return of $501 mil-
lion to shareholders during 2007 (see page 37) and 
acquisitions for $121 million. The weighted annu-
al average interest rate, net increased to 4.9% in 
2007 from 4.1% in 2006.

Average net debt increased by $159 million to 
$1,091 million at December 31, 2007 from $932 
million one year earlier. Net debt was affected by 
$380 million from the share repurchase program,  
$314 million from capital expenditures, $121 mil-
lion from quarterly dividends and by $121 million 

for acquisitions, partly offset by cash flow from op-
erations of $781 million. The Company refinanced 
$400 million of U.S. commercial paper with a $400 
million U.S. private placement with no material ef-
fect on interest expense (see page 38).

Higher expenses, partly due to factoring agree-
ments, caused Other financial items net to rise to 
$9 million from $6 million. 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes amounted to $446 million 
compared to $481 million. 

The effective tax rate increased to 33.7% in 2007 
from 12.2% in 2006 due to a favorable 19.7 per-
centage point impact of discrete tax items in 2006 
and a negative 1.8 percentage point impact in 
2007.

Net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income declined by $114 million to $288 mil-
lion in 2007 from $402 million in 2006 when net 
income was boosted by $95 million of discrete 
tax items, while the cost for the court ruling had 
a negative after-tax impact of $20 million in 2007. 
Excluding these effects, net income would have 
been $308 million compared to $307 million in 
2006 (non-U.S. GAAP measures, see page 32), 
despite the stock repurchase program that result-
ed in higher interest expense. 

Primarily due to the acquisitions (see page 36), 
income allocated to minority interest in subsidiar-
ies was reduced by $12 million. 

Earnings per share (assuming dilution) declined 
to $3.68 from $4.88 in 2006 when discrete tax 
items added $1.15, while earnings per share was 
reduced by $0.26 in 2007 by the cost for the court 
ruling. Excluding these effects, earnings per share 
would have risen by 21 cents or 6% to $3.94 from 
$3.73 (non-U.S. GAAP measures, see page 32). 
Currency effects had a favorable impact of 18 
cents, the share repurchase program of 17 cents 
and the 2007 discrete tax items of 10 cents. 

Net income in 2007 of $288 million represented 
4.3% of sales, including a 0.3% negative effect 
from the cost for the court ruling. In 2006, net in-
come of $402 million represented 6.5% of sales, 
of which 1.5 percentage points were due to dis-
crete tax items. 

Year Ended December 31, 2007 Versus Year Ended December 31, 2006
 

  
   Airbag Seatbelt
Component of Net Sales Increase in 2007  Products

1)

 Products Total

Organic sales growth 2.5% 7.1% 4.0%
Effect of exchange rates 4.6% 6.3% 5.3%
Impact of acquisitions     — 0.4%  0.1%
Reported net sales change 7.1% 13.8% 9.4%
1) Includes safety electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators
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Net Sales
Net sales for 2006 decreased by 0.3% or by $17 
million to $6,188 million because light vehicle pro-
duction declined by 2% in Western Europe and 
by 3% in North America. The effect of currency 
rate changes was negligible. Consequently, or-
ganic sales (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 
33) also declined by less than 1%.

Organic sales were driven by higher penetration 
rates for curtain airbags, strong growth in Asia and 
Eastern Europe and higher market share for steer-
ing wheels and electronics. However, this was not 
enough to offset the negative effects from West 
European and North American vehicle produc-
tion, continued pricing pressure from customers, 
the expiration of certain airbag contracts and the 
phase-out of unprofitable products.   

Organic sales declined by 2% in all of the three 
first quarters of the year and then rose by 4% in 
the fourth quarter. In the spring, sales were af-
fected by a negative mix in European light vehicle 
production. This mix effect turned positive in the 
fourth quarter thanks to several new vehicle model 
launches to which Autoliv is a supplier.  

Organic sales of airbag products decreased by 
1%. This is mainly due to the decline in light ve-
hicle production in North America and Western 
Europe. Sales were also affected by price erosion, 
the expiration of certain frontal airbag contracts 
and the phase-out of certain unprofitable prod-
ucts, partially offset by strong growth in sales of 
curtain airbags. Organic sales of seatbelt prod-
ucts were flat. Consequently, Autoliv managed to 
offset the decline in light vehicle production in the 
two largest markets. This was primarily thanks to 
strong performance in emerging markets and the 
introduction of active seatbelts.  

In Europe, where Autoliv generates approximate-
ly 50% of its revenues, organic sales declined by 
5% due to the decline in West European light ve-
hicle production, price erosion, a negative vehicle 
model mix and the expiration of certain frontal air-
bag contracts.

In North America, which accounts for a quarter 
of revenues, organic sales stood unchanged de-
spite the decline in light vehicle production. Sales 
were driven by strong demand for curtain airbags 
and other side airbags, by a favorable customer 
mix and market share gains in safety electronics, 
partially offset by price erosion, the expiration of 
some frontal airbag contracts and the phase-out 
of unprofitable inflators.

In Japan, which accounts for almost 10% of rev-
enues, organic sales rose by 10% compared to a 

Year Ended December 31, 2006 Versus Year Ended December 31, 2005

 Airbag Seatbelt  
Component of Net Sales Increase in 2006                    Products1) Products Total

Organic sales growth (1.1)% 0.1% (0.7)%
Effect of exchange rates 0.3% 0.6% 0.4%
Impact of acquisitions – –   –
Reported net sales change (0.8)% 0.7% (0.3)%
1) Incl. electronics, steering wheels, inflators and initiators

6% increase in Japanese light vehicle production. 
Autoliv’s performance was partially due to strong 
demand for curtain airbags and market share gains 
in steering wheels. 

In the Rest of the World, which generated slightly 
more than 10% of revenues, organic sales rose 
by 15% driven by strong vehicle production and a 
28% growth in the sales of airbags. 

Gross Margin
Gross profit decreased by $3 million to $1,265 
million due to the declines in North American and 
West European vehicle production, pricing pro-
vided to customers and approximately $20 mil-
lion in additional costs in the supply chain from 
higher raw material prices. In addition, financially 
distressed suppliers have become an increasing 
problem that makes it difficult to reduce compo-
nent costs in line with sales price erosion.  

However, these negative effects were offset by 
the move of production to LCC and by other ben-
efits of the Company’s cost reduction programs 
and by $6 million from the sale of two former plants 
in high-cost countries. As a result, gross margin 
stood unchanged at 20.4%.   

Operating Income
Operating income increased by 1% or $7 million to 
$520 million despite the $3 million gross profit de-
cline and $12 million higher R,D&E expense. This 
expense rose to 6.4% of sales from 6.2% in 2005 
as a reflection of higher engineering development 
activity. The negative operating income effects 
were offset by $16 million lower Other income (ex-
pense), net due to less restructuring costs (see 
note 10) and by $6 million lower Selling, General 
and Administrative expense. As a result, operat-
ing margin increased slightly to 8.4% from 8.3% 
in 2005. 

Interest Expense, Net
Interest expense, net increased by only $1 million 
to $38 million despite a 27% higher average net 
debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure, see page 33) and 
higher floating market interest rates. Virtually all of 
these negative effects of $25 million were offset 
by interest savings of $24 million from the chang-

es made in 2005 in Autoliv’s borrowing structure 
(see Jobs Creation Act on page 32). As a result, 
the weighted annual average interest rate, net de-
creased to 4.1% from 5.1%.

Average net debt rose by $197 million while op-
erations generated $271 million in cash before fi-
nancing activities. Net debt increased to $1,010 
million at December 31, 2006 from $877 million 
one year earlier. The $133 million higher debt was 
used for stock repurchases and dividend pay-
ments totaling $333 million. 

Higher expenses, partly due to factoring agree-
ments, caused Other financial items, net to rise 
by $5 million. 

Income Taxes
Income before taxes amounted to $481 million 
compared to $482 million. The effective tax rate 
was 12.2% and exceptionally low due to releases 
of tax reserves and other discrete tax items totaling 
$95 million. These items reduced the effective tax 
rate by 19.7 percentage points. In 2005, the Jobs 
Creation Act transactions resulted in an increase 
in the effective tax rate of 3.5% to 35.9%. 

Net Income and Earnings per Share
Net income rose by $110 million to $402 million 
as a consequence of $95 million in favorable dis-
crete tax items in 2006 and $17 million in negative 
items in 2005. Adjusted for the 2006 discrete tax 
items, net income amounted to $307 million (non-
U.S. GAAP measure, see page 32). Earnings per 
share (assuming dilution) rose from $3.26 in 2005 
to $4.88 and to $3.73 adjusted for the $95 million 
in discrete tax items (non-U.S. GAAP measure, 
see page 32). Of the reported $1.62 cent improve-
ment in earnings per share, $1.35 was due to the 
discrete tax items in 2006 and 2005, 17 cents due 
to share repurchases and 16 cents to higher in-
come, partially offset by a negative currency ef-
fect of 6 cents. 

Net income of $402 million represented 6.5% of 
sales, of which 1.5 percentage points were due to 
the 2006 discrete tax items. In 2005, net income 
corresponded to 4.7% of sales with a negative 
effect from discrete tax items of 0.3 percentage 
points. 
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Cash from Operations
For the foreseeable future, cash flow from opera-
tions, together with available financial resources 
and credit facilities, are expected to be adequate 
to fund Autoliv’s anticipated working capital re-
quirements, capital expenditures, strategic acqui-
sitions, share repurchase program and dividend 
payments.

Cash provided by operating activities was $781 
million in 2007, $560 million in 2006 and $479 mil-
lion in 2005. 

While management of cash and debt is impor-
tant to the overall business, it is not part of the re-
sponsibilities of day-to-day operations’ manage-
ment. We therefore focus on operationally derived 
working capital and have set the target that this 
key ratio should not exceed 10% of last 12-month 
sales. At December 31, 2007, operating working 
capital (non-U.S. GAAP measure see page 33) 
stood at $614 million corresponding to 9.1% of 
sales compared to $724 million or 11.7% at De-
cember 31, 2006, and $518 million and 8.3% at 
the end of 2005. Towards the end of 2006, this 
ratio was boosted by 1.8 percentage points from 
the release of tax reserves and tax payments made 
before year-end. The 2007 number was favorably 
impacted by the sales of $116 million worth of re-
ceivables due to factoring agreements (see below) 
and in 2006 by $95 million.

Days receivables outstanding (see page 68 for 
definition) decreased to 64 at  December 31, 2007 
from 70 one year earlier. Factoring agreements re-
duced days receivables outstanding by one day. 
Days inventory on-hand decreased to 33 days at 
 December 31, 2007 (definition on page 68) from 
34 at December 31, 2006 despite increased in-
ventory levels resulting from more products in tran-
sit due to production in LCC. 

See Notes 10 and 11 to Consolidated Financial 
Statements for information concerning cash pay-
ments associated with restructuring and product-
related liabilities. 

Capital Expenditures
Cash generated by operating activities continues 
to be more than adequate to cover capital expen-
ditures for property, plant and equipment.

Capital expenditures, gross, were $324 million 
in 2007, $328 million in 2006 and $315 million in 
2005, corresponding to 4.8% of sales in 2007, 
5.3% in 2006 and 5.1% in 2005. 

Capital expenditures continued to slightly ex-
ceed depreciation of $301 million as a reflection 
of the need for additional manufacturing capacity 
resulting from the growth of the automotive safety 
market. In 2006, capital expenditures, net were af-

Liquidity, Resources and Financial Position

fected by sales of two former manufacturing prop-
erties and other fixed assets for $36 million. 

Capital expenditures for 2008 are expected to 
range from $350 million to $380 million primar-
ily to meet the need for additional manufacturing 
 capacity, especially in Asia.

Acquisitions and Joint Ventures
From time to time, the Company makes acquisi-
tions. The cost of acquisitions (including cash ac-
quired) amounted to $130 million in 2007, to $3 
million in 2006 and to $0 million in 2005. 

In December 2007, Autoliv acquired the remain-
ing 41% of the shares in Autoliv (Changchun) Maw 
Hung Vehicle Safety Systems for nearly $14 mil-
lion. 

As of October 31, 2007, Autoliv acquired the re-
maining 50.01% of the shares in Autoliv IFB Private 
Ltd for $36 million and began to consolidate this 
Indian seatbelt company. This added $9 million 
during the two remaining months of the year or 
0.1% to consolidated sales in 2007. 

At the beginning of 2007, Autoliv acquired the 
remaining 35% of the shares in Autoliv-Mando in 
Korea for $80 million. This strategic acquisition in-
creased amortization related to additional intan-
gibles by $4 million, but reduced cost for minority 
interests by $12 million.

In 2006, Autoliv increased its holding to 70% 
from 50% in Nanjing Hongguang-Autoliv Safety 
Systems, which was already consolidated, for ap-
proximately $3 million. There were no acquisitions 
in 2005.

Financing Activities
The financial turmoil in the latter part of 2007 had 
no material effect on the Company’s liquidity or fi-
nancial position (see page 41).

Cash used in financing activities amounted to 
$375 million during 2007. Cash and cash equiva-
lents decreased by $14 million to $154 million at 
December 31, 2007 from December 31, 2006. This 
is the result of continuing efforts to save interest cost 
by repaying debt and efficient cash  management. 

Net debt (non-U.S. GAAP measure see page 
33) increased by $172 million to $1,182 million 
and net-debt-to-capitalization ratio (see page 68) 
rose to 33% at December 31, 2007, from 29% at 
 December 31, 2006. 

This is in line with our plans to achieve a bet-
ter capital structure in the Company for its share-
holders while maintaining a relatively conservative 
financial leverage. Higher net debt was used to fi-
nance stock repurchases and dividend payments 
totaling $501 million as well as acquisitions total-
ing $121 million.

The weighted average interest rate on the $1,352 
million of debt outstanding at December 31, 2007, 
was 5.0% compared to 4.2% a year ago. The 
higher interest rate relates to a shift from Swed-
ish Krona borrowings to U.S. dollar borrowings 
which in 2007 carried higher interest rates. In ad-
dition, floating rates have increased in both cur-
rencies during the year. The Company has also 
issued $400 million of long-term debt in 2007 (see 
“Treasury Activities” on page 38). 

During 2007, the Company sold receivables re-
lated to selected customers with high credit wor-
thiness as a means of saving interest cost. The 
receivables were sold to various external financial 
institutions without recourse. Since the Company 
uses the cash received to repay debt, these factor-
ing arrangements have the effect of reducing net 
debt and accounts receivable. At December 31, 
2007, the Company had received $116 million for 
sold receivables with a discount of $4 million dur-
ing the year, compared to $95 million in 2006 with 
a discount of $2 million.

Income Taxes 
The Company adopted the provisions of FASB 
Interpretation No. 48 Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”) on January 1, 2007. 
Therefore, the method of determining the liabil-
ity recorded for unrecognized tax benefits has 
changed and is not comparative with prior years. 
For further information see Note 4 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements included herein. 

The Company has reserves for taxes that may 
become payable in future periods as a result of tax 
audits. In 2006, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service 
(“IRS”) completed its examination of the six tax 
years since the formation of the Autoliv Inc. U.S. 
tax group in 1997. As a result, the Company rec-
ognized a non-cash income tax benefit in its third 
quarter 2006 of $57 million resulting from the re-
lease of certain income tax reserves. Another $12 
million was released from tax reserves at the end 
of 2006 as a result of the closing of the statute of 
limitations at certain non-U.S. companies. In ad-
dition, net income in 2006 was positively impacted 
by other discrete tax items of $26 million, princi-
pally adjustments related to previous years’ tax 
returns. For additional information, see Note 4 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
herein by reference. 

 At any given time, the Company is undergoing 
tax audits in several tax jurisdictions and covering 
multiple years. Ultimate outcomes are uncertain 
but could, in future periods, have a significant im-
pact on the Company’s cash flows. 
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Pension Arrangements
The Company has non-contributory defined ben-
efit pension plans covering most U.S. employees, 
although the Company has frozen participation in 
the U.S. plans for all employees hired after De-
cember 31, 2003. 

The Company’s non-U.S. employees are also 
covered by pension arrangements. See Note 18 
to the Consolidated Financial Statements included 
herein by reference for further information about 
retirement plans.

At December 31, 2007, the Company’s recog-
nized liability (i.e. the actual funded status) for its 
U.S. plans was $6 million and the U.S. plans had 
a net unamortized actuarial loss of $7 million as 
recognized in Accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss) of the Equity  Statement. The amor-
tization of this loss is not expected to have any 
material impact for any of the ten-year estimated 
remaining service lives of the plan participants. 

Pension expense associated with these plans 
was $7 million in 2007 and is expected to be $3 
million in 2008. The Company contributed $9 mil-
lion to its U.S. defined benefit plan in 2007 and 
$0.1 million in 2006. 

The Company expects to contribute $5 million to 
its plans in 2008 and is currently projecting a yearly 
funding at the same level in the years thereafter. 

The impact of implementing FAS-158 on De-
cember 31, 2006, was an additional $28 million 
pension liability, see Note 18 to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements included herein. 

Dividends
The dividend paid in the first quarter of 2007 was 
37 cents per share and the dividends paid in the 
other three quarters were 39 cents per share after 
an increase of 5% for the second quarter. 

Total cash dividends of $121 million were paid 
in 2007 and $112 million in 2006. In addition, the 
Company returned $380 million to shareholders 
in 2007 and $221 million in 2006 through repur-
chases of shares. 

The Company declared a dividend of 39 cents 
per share for the first quarter 2008 on December 
19, 2007 and 39 cents for the second quarter on 
February 19, 2008. 

Equity
During 2007, equity decreased by $54 million 
to $2,349 million due to share repurchases and 
quarterly dividends totaling $500 million. In the first 
quarter 2007, Autoliv adopted FIN 48 (see page 
42), which resulted in a release of tax reserves 
and an increase of equity of $10 million. Equity 

was also favorably impacted by currency effects 
of $108 million, and equity adjustments related to 
pension liabilities of $22 million. The issuance of 
shares and effects related to stock compensation 
added  $19 million to equity. 

In 2006, the cumulative effect of the adoption of 
FAS-158 on December 31, reduced equity by $19 
million, net of tax.

Impact of Inflation
Inflation generally has not had a significant impact 
on the Company’s financial position or results of 
operations. However, increases in the prices of raw 
materials in the supply chain had a negative impact 
of about $20 million, both in 2007 and 2006, and 
of about $90 million in 2005 resulting in an aggre-
gate increase of $130 million over the 2004 level. 

Inflation is currently expected to remain low in 
all of the major countries in which the Company 
operates. 

Personnel
During the last seven years, Autoliv has added 
and moved manufacturing capacity to low-cost 
countries (LCC). In this way, it has been possible 
to achieve above-industry margins while providing 
competitive prices to customers. 

In 2007, headcount in LCC increased to 52% 
of total headcount at December 31 from 47% 
one year earlier and less than 10% when these 
programs began. In high-cost countries (HCC) 
headcount was reduced during 2007 by 2,050 to 
20,250, while headcount in LCC rose by 2,150 
to 21,650, including 600 from the acquisition of 
IFB in India. 

In total, headcount increased by 100 during 
2007 to 41,900. Excluding acquisition effects, 
headcount however declined by 1% which com-
pares favorably with the organic sales increase of 
4%. This implies a productivity improvement well 
above Autoliv’s target of 5%, since organic sales 
is net of price reductions to customers.

To maintain flexibility in the cyclical automotive 
industry, 16% of total headcount were temporary 
hourly workers at December 31, 2007 and 14% 
one year earlier. In high-cost countries, these ratios 
were 18% and 19%, respectively. 

Compensation to Directors and executive of-
ficers is reported, as customary for public U.S. 
companies, in Autoliv’s proxy statement.

Significant Litigation
Autoliv ASP Inc. 
In December 2003, a U.S. Federal District Court 
awarded a former supplier of Autoliv ASP Inc. (a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv Inc.), approxi-
mately $27 million plus pre-judgment interest of 
approximately $7 million in connection with a com-
mercial dispute that relates to purchase commit-
ments from 1995. 

As a result of a final ruling in 2007 after multiple 
appeals, Autoliv ASP was held liable to the former 
supplier and as of November of 2007 had depos-
ited a total of $36.4 million with the District Court 
in fulfillment of the award. 

On November 14, 2007, the District Court issued 
an order to the effect that Autoliv ASP had fully and 
completely satisfied the judgment. 

There remains an open issue as to the calculation 
of the pre-judgment interest. The former supplier 
has sought an additional $4.9 million that it attri-
butes to pre-judgment interest and on November 
15, 2007, filed a notice of appeal from the District 
Court’s decision. 

Although the District Court denied the former 
supplier’s original motion seeking the additional 
pre-judgment interest, and Autoliv ASP believes it 
has meritorious grounds to oppose the appeal, the 
Court of Appeals may award the former supplier 
some or all of the additional interest sought. 

Autoliv has not made any reserves for any ad-
ditional interest which could be awarded the for-
mer supplier. 

For the financial impact in 2007 of this legal case, 
see page 32. 

Autoliv Holding Limited
In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
Autoliv, Inc.) acquired Marling Industries plc (“Mar-
ling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a litiga-
tion relating to the sale in 1992 of a French subsid-
iary. In May 2006, a French court ruled that Marling 
(now named Autoliv Holding Limited) and another 
entity, then part of the Marling group, had failed to 
disclose certain facts in connection with the 1992 
sale and appointed an expert to assess the losses 
suffered by the plaintiff. 

The acquirer of the French subsidiary has made 
claims for damages of €40 million (approximately 
$59 million) but has not yet provided the court ap-
pointed expert with the materials needed to evalu-
ate its claims. 

Autoliv, which has appealed against the May 
2006 court decision, believes it has meritorious 
grounds for such appeal. 

In the opinion of the Company’s management, it 
is not possible to give any meaningful estimate of 
any financial impact that may arise from the claim 
but it is possible that the final outcome of this litiga-
tion will result in a loss that will have to be recorded 
by Autoliv, Inc.
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Credit Facilities
In 2007, Autoliv ASP Inc. issued $400 million of 
senior notes guaranteed by Autoliv Inc. in a pri-
vate placement. The notes consist of four tranch-
es of varying sizes, maturing between 2012 and 
2019 and carrying fixed interest rates between 
5.6% and 6.2%. The Company has entered into 
swap arrangements with respect to the proceeds 
of the notes offering. As a result of these swaps 
$200 million of the notes carry fixed interest rates 
varying between 5.6% and 5.8% and $200 million 
carry floating interest rates varying between three-
months LIBOR + 0.8% to 1.0%. 

In 2007, the Company also issued floating-rate 
medium-term notes of SEK 1,200 million ($186 
million) with a term of 1.5 years while SEK 1,250 
million ($193 million) of medium term notes ma-
tured. This refinancing did not have a material im-
pact on income in 2007 and is not expected to 
have any material income effect in the future.  

The $1,100 million revolving credit facility (“RCF”) 
was unutilized at December 31, 2007, and the 
terms and banks remained unchanged. The RCF 
is syndicated among 15 banks and remains avail-
able until 2012. This unsecured facility is not sub-
ject to financial covenants and has no forward-
looking material adverse change clause. 

For details see Note 12 to the Consolidated 
 Financial Statements. 

Treasury Activities
Credit Facilities at Dec 31, 2007 
   Weighted Additional 
Type of facility Amount Amount average amount 
  (Dollars in millions) of facility outstanding interest rate available
Revolving credit facility $1,100 – n/a   $1,100
U.S. commercial paper program 1,000 $322 5.5% 6781)

Swedish commercial paper program, 
   including DRD2) 1,082 77 4.2% 1,0051) 
Other short-term debt 265 104 5.1% 161
Swedish medium-term-note
   program including DRD2) 773 418 4.0% 355
US private placement carrying fixed rates 200 200 5.7% –
US private placement carrying floating rates 
   including DRD2)  200 200 5.8% –
Other long-term debt, including current portion  15 15 3.2% 0
Debt-related derivatives2) n/a 16 n/a –
Total n/a $1,352 n/a n/a
1) Total outstanding commercial paper programs (“CP”) should not exceed total undrawn revolving credit facilities (“RCF”) 
 according to the Company’s financial policy. 2) Debt-Related Derivatives, (DRD), i.e. the fair market value adjustments associated 
with hedging instruments as adjustments to the carrying value of the underlying debt.

Shares and Share Buybacks
In 2000, the Board authorized a share repurchase 
program for up to 10 million Autoliv shares. The 
program was expanded by an additional 10 mil-
lion shares, both in 2003 and in 2005, and by an 
additional 7.5 million in November 2007. 

Purchases can be made from time to time as 
market and business conditions warrant in open 
market, negotiated or block transactions. There 
is no expiration date for the mandate, which en-
ables management to buy back shares opportu-
nistically. 

During 2007, 6,625,595 shares were repurchased 
for $380 million or $57.35 per share; during 2006 
3,976,900 shares for $221 million or $55.69 per 
share; and during 2005, 8,421,462 shares for 
$378 million or $44.86 per share.

Since the inception of the program, 30.6 million 
shares have been repurchased at an average cost 
of $42.47per share for a total of $1,300 million.  

At December 31, 2007, there were 73.8 million 
shares outstanding, net of treasury shares, com-
pared to 80.1 million one year earlier. 

Aggregate Contractual Obligations1) 
                          Payments due by Period              
                                    Less than                                     More than 
(Dollars in millions)   Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Debt obligations including DRD2) $1,336 $308 $227 $510 $291
Fixed-interest obligations including DRD2) 71 16 24 22 9
Operating lease obligations 79 18 26 15 20
Unconditional purchase obligations – – – – –
Other non-current liabilities reflected 
   on the balance sheet 11 – 2 2 7
Total   $1,497 $342 $279 $549 $327

1) Excludes contingent liabilities arising from litigation, arbitration, income taxes or regulatory actions.
2) Debt-Related Derivatives, see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contractual obligations include lease and pur-
chase obligations that are enforceable and legally 
binding on the Company. Minority interests, post-
retirement benefits and restructuring obligations 
are not included in this table. The major employ-
ee obligations as a result of restructuring are dis-
closed in Note 10. 

Debt obligations including DRD: For material 
contractual provisions, see Note 12. The debt 
 obligations include capital lease obligations, which 
mainly refer to property and plants in Europe, as 
well as the impact of revaluation to fair value of 

Debt-Related Derivatives (DRD).
Fixed-interest obligations including DRD: These 

obligations include interest on debt and credit 
agreements relating to periods after December 
31, 2007, as adjusted by DRD, excluding fees on 
the revolving credit facility and interest on debts 
with no defined amortization plan. 

Operating lease obligations: The Company leas-
es certain offices, manufacturing and research 
buildings, machinery, automobiles and data pro-
cessing and other equipment. Such operating 
leases, some of which are non-cancelable and 

include renewals, expire at various dates through 
2027 (see Note 17). 

Unconditional purchase obligations: There are 
no unconditional purchase obligations other than 
short-term obligations related to inventory, ser-
vices, tooling, and property, plant and equipment 
purchased in the ordinary course of business.

Purchase agreements with suppliers entered into 
in the ordinary course of business do not gener-
ally include fixed quantities. Quantities and delivery 
dates are established in “call off plans” accessible 
electronically for all customers and suppliers in-
volved. Communicated “call off plans” for produc-
tion material from suppliers are normally reflected in 
equivalent commitments from Autoliv customers.

Other non-current liabilities reflected on the bal-
ance sheet: These liabilities consist mainly of local 
governmental loans.

Off balance Sheet Arrangements
The Company does not have any off-balance 
sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably 
likely to have, a material current or future effect 
on its financial position, results of operations or 
cash flows.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
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Risks and Risk Management 

The Company is exposed to several risks. They can be categorized as operational risks, strategic risks and financial risks. 
Some of the major risks in each category are described below. There are also other risks (see Form 10-K filed with the 
SEC) that could have a material effect on the Company’s results and financial position. Consequently, the description 
below does not claim to be complete but should be read with our Form 10-K. 

As described below, the Company has taken several mitigating actions, applied many strategies, adopted policies, and 
introduced control and reporting systems to reduce and mitigate these risks.

generally speaking, the speed by which these 
cost-reduction programs generate results will, to 
a large extent, determine the future profitability of 
the Company. 

Component Costs
Since the cost of direct materials is approximately 
51% of sales, changes in these component costs 
could have a major impact on margins. 

Of these costs, approximately 40% (correspond-
ing to 20% of sales) are comprised of raw materi-
als and the remaining 60% are value added by the 
supply chain. Currently, 36% of the raw material 
cost (or 7% of sales) is based on steel prices, 31% 
on oil prices (i.e. nylon, polyester and engineering 
plastics); 9% on zinc, aluminum and other non-fer-
rous metals; and 15% on electronic components, 
such as circuit boards. 

Except for magnesium and small quantities of 
steel, the Company does not buy any raw ma-
terials but only manufactured components. As 
a result, changes in most raw material prices af-
fect the Company with a time lag, which is six to 
twelve months for most materials, but one to three 
months for zinc and aluminum. 

The Company’s strategy is to offset price in-
creases on cost of materials by taking several ac-
tions such as material standardization, consolidat-
ing volumes to fewer suppliers and moving com-
ponents sourcing to low-cost countries. Should 
we fail to do so, our earnings could be materially 
impacted.

Product Warranty and Recalls
The Company is exposed to various claims for 
damages and compensation if our products fail to 
perform as expected.  Such claims can be made, 
and result in costs and other losses to the Com-
pany, even where the relevant product is eventu-
ally found to have functioned properly.  Where a 
product (actually or allegedly) fails to perform as 
expected, we may face warranty and recall claims.  
Where such actual or alleged failure results, or is 
alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or property 
damage we may in addition face product-liability 
and other claims. 

There can be no assurance that the Company 
will not experience any material warranty, recall or 
product-liability claim or loss in the future or that 
the Company will not incur significant cost to de-
fend against such claims. 

The Company may be required to participate in 
a recall involving its products. Each vehicle manu-
facturer has its own practices regarding product 
recalls and other product-liability actions relating 
to its suppliers. As suppliers become more inte-
grally involved in the vehicle design process and 
assume more of the vehicle assembly functions, 
vehicle manufacturers are increasingly looking to 
their suppliers for contribution when faced with 
recalls and product-liability claims. 

A warranty, recall or a product-liability claim 
brought against the Company in excess of the 
 Company’s insurance may have a material ad-
verse effect on its business. Vehicle manufacturers 
are also increasingly requiring their external sup-
pliers to guarantee or warrant their products and 
bear the costs of repair and replacement of such 
products under new vehicle warranties. A vehicle 
manufacturer may attempt to hold the Company 
responsible for some or all of the repair or replace-
ment costs of defective products under new ve-
hicle warranties when the product supplied did not 
perform as represented. 

Accordingly, the future costs of warranty claims 
by the Company’s customers may be material. 
However, we believe our established reserves are 
adequate to cover potential warranty settlements 
typically seen in our business. 

The Company’s warranty reserves are based 
upon management’s best estimates of amounts 
necessary to settle future and existing claims. 
Management regularly evaluates the appropriate-
ness of these reserves, and adjusts them when 
they believe it is appropriate to do so. However, 
the final amounts determined to be due could differ 
materially or even significantly from the Company’s 
recorded estimates. 

The Company’s strategy is to follow a strin-
gent procedure when developing new products 
and technologies and to apply a proactive “zero-
 defect” quality policy (see page 21). In addition, 

Operational Risks
Light Vehicle Production
Since approximately 30% of Autoliv’s costs are rel-
atively fixed, our short-term earnings are highly de-
pendent on the capacity utilization in the Compa-
ny’s plants and are, therefore, sales dependent. 

Global light vehicle production is an indicator of 
the Company’s sales development, but it is the 
production levels for individual vehicle models 
that Autoliv supplies which are critical (see De-
pendence on Customers). The Company’s sales 
are split over several hundred contracts covering 
at least as many vehicle platforms or vehicle mod-
els which usually moderates the effect of changes 
in vehicle demand in individual countries and re-
gions.

It is also the Company’s strategy to reduce this 
risk by using a high number of temporary em-
ployees instead of permanent employees. During 
2007, temporary workers in relation to total head-
count varied between 15% and 17%. 

If, however, there were a dramatic reduction in the 
level of production of the vehicle models  supplied 
by the Company, it would take considerable time 
to reduce the level of permanent employees and to 
reduce fixed production capacity. As a result, our 
costs could, relative our sales, increase  significantly 
and thus materially impact our  earnings. 

Pricing Pressure
Pricing pressure from customers is an inherent 
part of the automotive components business. 
The extent of reductions varies from year to year, 
and takes the form of reductions in direct sales 
prices as well as in reimbursements for engineer-
ing work. 

In response, Autoliv is continuously engaged in 
efforts to reduce costs and also to give customers 
added value by developing new products. 

The various cost-reduction programs are, to a 
considerable extent, interrelated. This interrela-
tionship makes it difficult to isolate the impact of 
any single program on costs, and management 
does not generally attempt to do so. Instead, it 
monitors key measures such as costs in relation 
to margins and geographical employee mix. But 
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the Company carries product-liability and prod-
uct-recall insurance with limits that management 
believes is generally sufficient to cover the risks. 
However, such insurance may not always be avail-
able in appropriate amounts or in all markets. Fur-
ther, the cost for such insurance impacts manage-
ment’s decision on what insurance to procure. As 
a result, the Company may face material losses 
in excess of the insurance coverage procured. A 
substantial recall or liability in excess of coverage 
levels could therefore have a material or even sig-
nificant adverse effect on the Company.

Environmental
While the Company’s businesses from time to time 
are subject to environmental investigations, there 
are no material environmental-related cases pend-
ing against the Company. In addition, Autoliv does 
not incur (or expect to incur) any material costs or 
capital expenditures associated with maintaining 
facilities compliant with U.S. or non-U.S. environ-
mental requirements. Since most of the Compa-
ny’s manufacturing processes consist of the as-
sembly of components, the environmental impact 
from the Company’s plants is generally modest. 

To reduce environmental risk, the Company has 
implemented an environmental management sys-
tem (see page 29) and has adopted an environ-
mental policy (see corporate website  www.auto-
liv.com) that requires, for instance, that all plants 
should be ISO-14001 certified. 

However, environmental requirements are com-
plex, change and have tended to become more 
stringent over time. Accordingly, there can be no 
assurance that these requirements will not change 
or become more stringent in the future, or that we 
will at all times be in compliance with all such re-
quirements and regulations, despite its intention 
to be. The Company may also find itself subject, 
possibly due to changes in legislation, to environ-
mental liabilities based on the activities of its pre-
decessor entities or of businesses acquired.  Such 
liability could be based on activities which are not 
at all related to the Company’s current activities.

Strategic Risks
Regulations
In addition to vehicle production, the Company’s 
market is driven by the safety content per vehi-
cle, which is affected by new regulations and new 
crash test programs, in addition to consumer de-
mand for new safety technologies. Historically, this 
has enabled the Company to increase its sales 

above the long-term growth rate of the global light 
vehicle production. 

The most important regulation is the federal 
law that, since 1997, requires frontal airbags for 
both the driver and the front-seat passenger in 
all new vehicles sold in the U.S. Seatbelt installa-
tion laws exist in all vehicle-producing countries. 
Many countries also have strict enforcement laws 
on the wearing of seatbelts. The U.S. has adopted 
new regulations for side-impact protection to be 
phased-in during a three-year period beginning in 
2009, and China introduced a crash rating pro-
gram in 2006. There are also plans for improved 
rollover protection, pedestrian protection and  
e-call systems in many countries that could affect 
the Company’s market.

There can be no assurance, however, that 
changes in regulations could not adversely af-
fect the demand for the Company’s products or, 
at least, result in a slower increase in the demand 
for them. 

Dependence on Customers
The five largest vehicle manufacturers account 
for 49% of global light vehicle production and the 
ten largest manufacturers for 71%. As a result of 
this consolidated market, the Company is depen-
dent on a relatively small number of customers 
with strong purchasing power. The Company’s five 
largest customers account for 59% of revenues 
and the ten largest customers account for 85% of 
revenues. For a list of the largest customers, see 
Note 19 on page 62.

Although business with every major customer is 
split into several contracts (usually one contract 
per vehicle platform), the loss of all business of a 
major customer or a bankruptcy of a major cus-
tomer could have a material adverse effect on the 
Company. The largest contract accounted for 5% 
of sales in 2007. This contract expires in 2012.

In addition, a significant disruption in the industry, 
a significant decline in demand or pricing, or a dra-
matic change in technology could have a material 
adverse effect. 

Dependence on Suppliers
Autoliv, at each stage of production, relies on inter-
nal or external suppliers in order to meet its delivery 
commitments. In some cases, customers require 
that the suppliers are qualified and approved by 
them. Autoliv’s supplier consolidation program 
seeks to reduce costs but increases our depen-
dence on the remaining suppliers. As a result, the 

Company is dependent, in several instances, on a 
single supplier for a specific component.

Consequently, there is a risk that disruptions in 
the supply chain could lead to the Company not 
being able to meet its delivery commitments and, 
as a consequence, to extra costs. This risk in-
creases as suppliers are being squeezed between 
higher raw material prices and the continuous pric-
ing pressure in the automotive industry.

The Company’s strategy is to reduce these sup-
plier risks by maintaining multiple suppliers in all 
significant component technologies, by stan-
dardization and by developing alternative suppli-
ers around the world. However, for various reasons 
including costs involved in maintaining alternative 
suppliers, this is not always possible. As a result, 
difficulties with a single supplier could impact more 
than one customer and product, and thus materi-
ally impact our earnings.

New Competition
The market for occupant restraint systems has 
undergone a significant consolidation during the 
past ten years and Autoliv has strengthened its 
position in this passive safety market. However, 
in the future, the best growth opportunities may 
be in safety electronics and active safety systems 
markets, which include and are likely to include 
other and often larger companies than Autoliv’s 
traditional competitors. 

Autoliv is reducing the risk of this trend by utilizing 
its leadership in passive safety to develop a strong 
position in active and especially integrated safety 
(see pages 18-19).

Patents and Proprietary Technology
The Company’s strategy is to protect its innova-
tions with patents, and to vigorously protect and 
defend its patents, trademarks and know-how 
against infringement and unauthorized use. At the 
end of 2007, the Company held more than 4,500 
patents. The patents expire on various dates dur-
ing the period 2008 to 2027. The expiration of any 
single patent is not expected to have a material ad-
verse effect on the Company’s financial results.

Although the Company believes that its products 
and technology do not infringe upon the propri-
etary rights of others, there can be no assurance 
that third parties will not assert infringement claims 
against the Company in the future. There can also 
be no assurance that any patent now owned by 
the Company will afford protection against com-
petitors that develop similar technology. 
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Financial Risks
The Company is exposed to financial risks through 
its international operations and debt- financed ac-
tivities. These financial risks are caused by varia-
tions in the Company’s cash flows resulting from 
changes in exchange rates and interest rate levels, 
as well as from refinancing and credit risks. 

The Company defines the financial risks as cur-
rency risk, interest-rate risk, refinancing risk and 
credit risk. In order to reduce these risks and 
to take advantage of economies of scale, the 
 Company has a central treasury department sup-
porting operations and management. The  treasury 
department handles external financial transactions 
and functions as the Company’s in-house bank for 
its subsidiaries. 

The Board of Directors monitors compliance with 
the financial policy on an on-going basis. At De-
cember 31, 2007, the Company was compliant 
with all of its financial policies.

Currency Risks 
1. Transaction Exposure
Transaction exposure arises because the cost of a 
product originates in one currency and the product 
is sold in another currency. 

The Company’s gross transaction exposure fore-
casted for 2008 is approximately $1.7 billion. Part 
of the flows have counter-flows in the same cur-
rency pair, which reduces the net exposure to ap-
proximately $1.5 billion per annum. In the three 
largest net exposures, Autoliv expects to sell U.S. 
dollars against Mexican Peso for the equivalent 
of $220 million, Euros against Swedish Krona for 
$161 million and  Euros against British Pounds for 
$117 million. Together these currencies will ac-
count for approximately one third of the Compa-
ny’s net exposure. 

Since the Company can only effectively hedge 
these flows in the short term, periodic hedging 
would only reduce the impact of fluctuations tem-
porarily. Over time, periodic hedging would post-
pone but not reduce the impact of fluctuations. 
In addition, the net exposure is limited to 22% of 
sales and is made up of 50 different currency pairs 
with exposures in excess of $1 million each. Con-
sequently, the income statement effect related to 
transaction exposures is small. As a result, Autoliv 
does not hedge these flows. 

2. Translation Exposure in the  
Income Statement
Another effect of exchange rate fluctuations arises 
when the income statements of non-U.S. subsid-

iaries are translated into U.S. dollars. Outside the 
U.S., the Company’s most significant currency is 
the Euro. Close to 55% of the Company’s sales 
is denominated in Euro or other European cur-
rencies, while 21% of net sales is denominated 
in U.S. dollars. 

The Company estimates that a one-percent in-
crease in the value of the U.S. dollar versus the 
European currencies would have decreased re-
ported U.S. dollar net annual sales in 2007 by $37 
million or by roughly 0.6%. The reported operat-
ing income for 2007 would also have declined by 
0.6% or by $3 million. The fact that both sales and 
operating income is impacted at the same rate 
(i.e. 0.6%) is due to the fact that most of the Com-
pany’s production is local. Accordingly, most rev-
enues and costs are matched in the same cur-
rencies.

The Company’s policy is not to hedge this type 
of translation exposure.

3. Translation Exposure in the  
Balance Sheet
A translation exposure also arises when the bal-
ance sheets of non-U.S. subsidiaries are trans-
lated into U.S. dollars. The policy of the Company 
is to finance major subsidiaries in the country’s lo-
cal currency. Consequently, changes in currency 
rates relating to funding have a small impact on the 
Company’s income.

The Jobs Act distributions in 2005 (see page 32) 
also decreased this exposure significantly as non-
U.S. dollar assets after 2006 were better matched 
by non-dollar debt than in the past.

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that interest 
rate changes will affect the Company’s borrow-
ing costs.

Autoliv’s interest rate risk policy was amended 
in 2007 and now states that an increase in floating 
interest rates of one percentage point should not 
increase the annual net interest expense by more 
than $10 million (previously $5 million) in the follow-

ing year and not by more than $15 million (previ-
ously $10 million) in the second year. 

The Company estimates, given its debt structure 
at the end of 2007, that a one percentage point 
interest rate increase would increase net interest 
expense in 2008 and 2009 by $8.1 million and 
$9.4 million, respectively.

The fixed interest rate debt is achieved both by 
issuing fixed rate notes and through interest rate 
swaps. The most notable debt carrying fixed inter-
est rates is $200 million of the $400 million private 
placement issued in 2007 (see page 38). The entire 
placement was issued carrying fixed interest rates 
but in order to benefit from a potential future de-
crease of interest rates, $200 million of this place-
ment was swapped into floating interest rates. The 
table below shows the maturity and composition 
of the Company’s net borrowings.

Net Borrowings 
 % of % with fixed % with floating Maturity of 
December 31, 2007 total interest interest fixed rate part
U.S. Dollars (USD) 59 29 71 6 years
Swedish Krona (SEK) 27 48 52 1 year
Japanese Yen (JPY) 12 32 68 2 years
Other 2 17 83 8 years
Total 100 34 66

Given this interest rate profile, a 1% change in interest rates on the Company’s floating rate debt would change net interest expense 
by $8.1 million during the first year and by $9.4 million during the second year.

Refinancing Risk
Refinancing risk or borrowing risk refers to the risk 
that it could become difficult to refinance outstand-
ing debt. 

The financial turmoil in the second half of 2007 
did not have a material effect on the Company’s 
refinancing ability, although there were slight neg-
ative effects on the Company’s two commercial 
paper programs. The strong financial position of 
the Company was also evidenced by the success-
ful issuance in November 2007 of the $400 mil-
lion U.S. private placement without financial cov-
enants. The transaction reduces the refinancing 
risk in any given year as the note maturities are 
spread out between 2012 and 2019 (see graph 
next page). 

The  Company also has a syndicated revolving 
credit facility with a group of banks, which backs 
its short-term commercial paper programs. The 
committed facility of $1.1 billion matures in No-
vember 2012 and was unutilized at year-end. In 
addition, the Company issues long-term notes 
under the Swedish medium term note program of 
SEK 5 billion (US $773 million).

The Company’s policy is that total net debt (non-
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U.S. GAAP measure, see page 33) shall be issued 
as or covered by long-term facilities with an aver-
age maturity of at least three years and with a tar-
get maturity of four years. At December 31, 2007, 
net debt was $1,182 million and total available 
long-term facilities were $1,727 million with an av-
erage life of 5.1 years.

Credit Risk in Financial Markets
Credit risk refers to the risk of a counterparty being 
unable to fulfill an agreed obligation. In the Com-
pany’s financial operations, this risk arises in con-
nection with cash deposits with banks and when 
entering into forward exchange agreements, swap 
contracts or other financial instruments. 

The policy of the Company is to work with banks 
that have a high credit rating and that participate 
in the Company’s financing.

Reconciliations to U.S. GAAP

Interest Coverage Ratio  Leverage Ratio 
Full Year 2007  December 31, 2007

Operating income $502.0 Net debt3) $1,181,9
Amortization of intangibles1) 20.3 Pension liabilities 63.3
  Debt per the Policy $1,245.2
Operating profit per the Policy $522.3 Income before income taxes $446.2
Interest expense net2): $53.5 Plus: Interest expense net2) 53.5
  Depreciation and amortization of 
Interest coverage ratio 9.8     intangibles1)  320.8
  EBITDA per the Policy $820.5 
  Leverage ratio 1.5
1) Including impairment write-offs, if any. 2) Interest expense net is interest expense less interest income.  
3) Net debt is short- and long-term debt and debt-related derivatives (see Note 12) less cash and cash equivalents.

Selected Consolidated Data for Autoliv Inc. in Swedish Krona (SEK)

         Change  Change  
 2007  2007/2006 2006 2006/2005 2005
Net sales (million) 45,748  0.2% 45,647 (2%) 46,351 
Income before income
   taxes (million) 3,014  (15%) 3,552 (1%) 3,600 
Net income (million) 1,946  (34%) 2,968 36% 2,186 
Earnings per share 24.87  (31%) 35.97 48% 24.35 

(Average exchange rates: $1 = SEK 6.76 for 2007; $1 = SEK 7.38 for 2006; $1 = SEK 7.47 for 2005)
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In order to further reduce credit risk, deposits and 
financial instruments can only be entered into with 
a limited number of banks up to a calculated risk 
amount of $75 million per bank. 

Debt Limitation Policy
To manage the inherent risks and cyclicality in the 
Company’s business, the Company maintains a 
relatively conservative financial leverage. At the 
same time, it is important to have a capital struc-
ture which is optimal for shareholders. 

The Company’s policy is to always maintain a le-
verage ratio significantly below three and an in-
terest coverage ratio significantly above 2.75. At 
the end of 2007, these ratios were 1.5 and 9.8, 
respectively. For details on leverage ratio and in-
terest-coverage, refer to the tables below which 
reconcile these two non-U.S. GAAP measures to 
U.S. GAAP measures.

In addition, it is the objective of Autoliv to maintain 
a strong investment grade rating. Autoliv’s current 
long-term credit rating from Standard and Poor’s is 
A-, after being upgraded in 2005 from BBB+.

New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company has evaluated the recently issued 
statements and interpretations of the Financial Ac-
counting Standards Board. 

The Company adopted the provisions of FASB 
Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty 
in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”), on January 1, 2007. 
Therefore, the method of determining the liabil-
ity recorded for unrecognized tax benefits has 
changed and is not comparable with prior years. 
For further information see Note 4 to the Consoli-
dated Financial Statements.

To the extent other new pronouncements are ap-
plicable they have primarily resulted in additional 
financial statement disclosure. See Note 1 for a 
more detailed discussion of the requirements and 
applicability of these statements.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies
The Company’s significant accounting policies are 
disclosed in Note 1 to the Consolidated  Financial 
Statements included herein. 

Senior management has discussed the develop-
ment and selection of critical accounting estimates 

and disclosures with the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors. The application of accounting 
policies necessarily requires judgments and the 
use of estimates by a company’s management. 
Actual results could differ from these estimates. 

Management considers it important to assure 
that all appropriate costs are recognized on a time-
ly basis. In cases where capitalization of costs is 
required (e.g., certain pre-production costs), strin-
gent realization criteria are applied before capital-
ization is permitted. The depreciable lives of fixed 
assets are intended to reflect their true economic 

Critical Accounting Policies
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life, taking into account such factors as product life 
cycles and expected changes in technology. As-
sets are periodically reviewed for realizability and 
appropriate valuation allowances are established 
when evidence of impairment exists. Impairment 
of long-lived assets has generally not been sig-
nificant.

Bad Debt and Inventory Reserves
The Company has reserves for bad debts as well 
as for excess and obsolete inventories.  

The Company has guidelines for calculating 
provisions for bad debts based on the age of re-
ceivables. In addition, the accounts receivable 
are evaluated on a specific identification basis. In 
determining the amount of a bad debt reserve, 
management uses its judgment to consider fac-
tors such as the prior experience of the debtor, the 
experience of other enterprises in the same indus-
try, the debtor’s ability to pay and/or an appraisal 
of current economic conditions. 

Inventories are evaluated based on individual 
or, in some cases, groups of inventory items. Re-
serves are established to reduce the value of in-
ventories to the lower of cost or market, with mar-
ket generally defined as net realizable value for fin-
ished goods and replacement cost for raw mate-
rials and work-in-process. Excess inventories are 
quantities of items that exceed anticipated sales 
or usage for a reasonable period. The Company 
has guidelines for calculating provisions for excess 
inventories based on the number of months of in-
ventories on hand compared to anticipated sales 
or usage. Management uses its judgment to fore-
cast sales or usage and to determine what consti-
tutes a reasonable period. 

There can be no assurance that the amount ulti-
mately realized for receivables and inventories will 
not be materially different than that assumed in the 
calculation of the reserves.

Goodwill Impairment
The Company performs an annual impairment re-
view of goodwill in the fourth quarter of each year 
following the Company’s annual forecasting pro-
cess. The estimated fair market value of goodwill is 
determined by the discounted cash flow method. 
The Company discounts projected operating cash 
flows using its weighted average cost of capital.

To supplement this analysis, the Company com-
pares the market value of its equity, calculated by 
reference to the quoted market prices of its shares, 
with the book value of its equity. 

There were no impairments in 2005-2007.

Defined Benefit Pension Plans
The Company has defined benefit pension plans 
covering most U.S. employees and some non-
U.S. employees most of which are in high-cost 
countries, see Note 18 to the Consolidated Finan-
cial Statements included herein by reference. 

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial 
advisors, determines certain key assumptions to 
be used in calculating the projected benefit obli-
gation and annual pension expense. For the U.S. 
plans, the assumptions used for calculating the 
2007 pension expense were a discount rate of 
5.75%, expected rate of increase in compensa-
tion levels of 4.0%, and an expected long-term 
rate of return on plan assets of 7.5%. 

The assumptions used in calculating the U.S. 
benefit obligations disclosed as of December 31, 
2007 were a discount rate of 6.4% and an ex-
pected rate of increase in compensation levels of 
4.0%. The discount rate is set based on the yields 
on long-term high-grade corporate bonds and is 
determined by reference to financial markets on 
the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation 
levels and long-term return on plan assets are de-
termined based on a number of factors and must 
take into account long-term expectations. The 
Company assumes a long-term rate of return on 
U.S. plan assets of 7.5% for calculating the 2007 
expense, the same level as for 2006. At December 
31, 2007, 67% of plan assets was invested in equi-
ties, compared to the target of 65%. 

A 1% decrease in the long-term rate of return on 
plan assets would result in an increase in the U.S. 
annual pension expense of $1.2 million. A 1% de-
crease in the discount rate would have increased 
the 2007 U.S. pension expense by $1.6 million 
and would have increased the December 31, 2007 
benefit obligation by $14 million. A 1% increase in 
the expected rate of increase in compensation lev-
els would have increased 2007 pension expense 
by $2 million and would have increased the De-
cember 31, 2007 benefit obligation by $9 million.

Income Taxes
Significant judgment is required in determining the 
worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordi-
nary course of a global business, there are many 
transactions for which the ultimate tax outcome is 
uncertain. Many of these uncertainties arise as a 
consequence of intercompany transactions and 
arrangements. 

Although the Company believes that its tax re-
turn positions are supportable, no assurance can 

be given that the final outcome of these matters 
will not be materially different than that which is 
reflected in the historical income tax provisions 
and accruals. Such differences could have a ma-
terial effect on the income tax provisions or ben-
efits in the periods in which such determinations 
are made. 

In fact, adjustments to reserves for income tax-
es did have a material impact during 2006. See 
Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
included herein. 

Contingent Liabilities
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are 
pending or threatened against the Company or 
its subsidiaries, covering a range of matters that 
arise in the ordinary course of its business activi-
ties with respect to commercial, product liability or 
other matters. See Note 16 to the  Consolidated 
Financial Statements included herein. 

The Company diligently defends itself in such 
matters and, in addition, carries insurance cov-
erage to the extent reasonably available against 
insurable risks. 

The Company records liabilities for claims, law-
suits and proceedings when they are identified and 
it is possible to reasonably estimate the cost. 

The Company believes, based on currently avail-
able information, that the resolution of outstanding 
matters, after taking into account recorded liabili-
ties and available insurance coverage, should not 
have a material effect on the Company’s financial 
position or results of operations. 

However, due to the inherent uncertainty associ-
ated with such matters, there can be no assurance 
that the final outcomes of these matters will not be 
materially different than currently estimated.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Management of the company is responsible for 
establishing and maintaining adequate internal 
control over financial reporting. 

Internal control over financial reporting is defined 
in Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Secu-
rities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as a 
process designed by, or under the supervision of, 
the company’s principal executive and principal 
financial officers and effected by the company’s 
board of directors, management and other per-
sonnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the prepara-
tion of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and includes those policies and proce-
dures that:  

– pertain to the maintenance of records that in 
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect 
the transactions and dispositions of the assets 
of the company;

– provide reasonable assurance that transactions 
are recorded as necessary to permit prepara-
tion of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the company 
are being made only in accordance with autho-
rizations of management and directors of the 
company; and  

– provide reasonable assurance regarding pre-
vention or timely detection of unauthorized ac-
quisition, use or disposition of the company’s 
assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal con-
trol over financial reporting may not prevent or de-
tect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to 
the risks that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the  

The Company has also filed the CEO/CFO certifications required pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002 as exhibit 31 to the form 
10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

The certification required pursuant to Section 303A 12(a) of the New York Stock Exchange Listed Company Manual has been filed with the New York 
Stock Exchange.

degree of compliance with the policies or proce-
dures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of 
 Autoliv’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2007. In making this assess-
ment, we used the criteria set forth by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (COSO) in Internal Control – Integrat-
ed Framework. 

Based on our assessment, we believe that, as of 
December 31, 2007, the Company’s internal con-
trol over financial reporting is effective.

The Company’s independent auditors – Ernst & 
Young AB, an independent registered public ac-
counting firm – have issued an audit report on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control 
over financial reporting, which is included herein, 
see page 63.
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         Years ended December 31 
(Dollars and shares in millions, except per share data)  2007 2006 2005

Net sales Note 19 $6,769.0 $6,188.0 $6,204.9

Cost of sales  (5,438.4) (4,922.8) (4,936.9)

Gross profit  1,330.6 1,265.2 1,268.0

Selling, general and administrative expenses    (359.8) (325.5) (331.0)

Research, development and engineering expenses  (395.7) (397.6) (385.8)

Amortization of intangibles Note 9 (20.3) (15.1) (15.5)

Other income (expense), net Note 10, 16 (52.8) (7.0) (23.0)

Operating income   502.0 520.0 512.7 

Equity in earnings of affiliates  6.4 5.2 7.1

Interest income Note 12 9.0 8.6 6.7

Interest expense Note 12 (62.5)  (46.9) (44.1)

Other financial items, net  (8.7) (5.5) (0.4)

Income before income taxes  446.2 481.4 482.0

Income taxes Note 4 (150.3) (58.9) (173.2)

Minority interests in subsidiaries   (8.0) (20.2) (16.2)

Net income   $287.9 $402.3 $292.6 

Earnings per common share

   – basic  $3.70 $4.90 $3.28

   – assuming dilution  $3.68 $4.88 $3.26

Weighted average number of shares (in millions)

   – basic  77.9 82.1 89.1

   – assuming dilution  78.3 82.5 89.7

Number of shares outstanding, net of treasury shares (in millions)  73.8 80.1 83.7 

Consolidated Statements of Income

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets           

                                            At December 31 
(Dollars and shares in millions)   2007 2006 

Assets  

Cash and cash equivalents   $153.8 $168.1

Receivables (net of allowances of $10.9 and $15.4)  Note 5 1,230.7 1,206.7

Inventories, net  Note 6 561.3 545.4

Income tax receivables  Note 4 32.2 60.0

Prepaid expenses   57.5 55.3

Other current assets   59.7 62.9

Total current assets   2,095.2 2,098.4

Property, plant and equipment, net  Note 8 1,259.8 1,160.4

Investments and other non-current assets  Note 7 190.9 175.7

Goodwill  Note 9 1,613.4 1,537.1

Intangible assets, net   Note 9 146.1 139.2

Total assets   $5,305.4 $5,110.8

 

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity

Short-term debt  Note 12 $311.9 $294.1

Accounts payable   834.0 762.5

Accrued expenses  Note 10, 11 315.4 270.6

Other current liabilities   155.4 142.5

Income taxes  Note 4 46.6 61.9

Total current liabilities    1,663.3 1,531.6

Long-term debt  Note 12 1,040.3 887.7

Pension liability  Note 18 63.3 93.8

Other non-current liabilities   137.2 109.7

Total non-current liabilities   1,240.8 1,091.2

Minority interests in subsidiaries   52.2 85.1

Commitments and contingencies  Note 16,17

Common stock1)    102.8 102.8

Additional paid-in capital   1,954.3 1,954.3

Retained earnings   1,339.3 1,161.4

Accumulated other comprehensive income    187.5 57.9

Treasury stock (29.0 and 22.7 shares)   (1,234.8) (873.5)

Total shareholders’ equity  Note 13 2,349.1 2,402.9 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $5,305.4 $5,110.8

1) Number of shares: 350 million authorized, 102.8 million issued for both years, and 73.8 and 80.1 million outstanding for 

2007 and 2006, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

           Years ended December 31 
(Dollars in millions)  2007 2006 2005

Operating activities

Net income   $287.9 $402.3 $292.6

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net 

   cash provided by operating activities:

 Depreciation and amortization  320.8 302.6 308.9

 Deferred income taxes  (1.0)  (21.1)  (8.4)

 Undistributed earnings from affiliated companies  (6.6) (4.4) (7.1)

 Net change in:

  Receivables and other assets  110.8 (10.3) 18.2

  Inventories gross  11.9 (31.5) (21.3)

  Accounts payable and accrued expenses  36.7 (35.1) (98.3)

  Income taxes  9.7 (79.7) (27.6)

 Other, net   10.6  37.0  21.9

Net cash provided by operating activities  780.8 559.8 478.9 

Investing activities

Expenditures for property, plant and equipment  (323.6) (328.3) (314.6)

Expenditures for intangible assets  (2.3) (2.5) (1.8)

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  11.7 35.9 5.9

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired  Note 14 (120.6) – –

Investments in affiliated companies  1.1 8.5 8.0

Other  2.6 (2.0) (0.1)

Net cash used in investing activities  (431.1) (288.4) (302.6) 

Financing activities

Net decrease in short-term debt  (33.8) (320.1) (201.9)

Issuance of long-term debt  648.4 369.1 921.5

Repayments and other changes in long-term debt  (498.9) (158.5) (322.3)

Minority interest share of dividends paid  (1.2) (2.8) (4.8)

Dividends paid  (120.6) (112.1) (104.7)

Shares repurchased   (380.0) (221.5) (377.8)

Common stock incentives Note 15 11.4 7.7 4.6 

Other, net  – – (0.1)

Net cash used in financing activities   (374.7) (438.2) (85.5) 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

   and cash equivalents  10.7 39.0 (24.1)

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (14.3) (127.8) 66.7

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  168.1 295.9 229.2

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  $153.8 $168.1 $295.9 

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity 

     Accumulated  Total1) 
   Additional  other com-  share-
 Number Common   paid in Retained prehensive Treasury holders’
(Dollars and shares in millions) of shares stock  capital earnings income (loss) stock equity

Balance at December 31, 2004 102.8 $102.8 $1,952.5 $713.0 $174.5 $(306.4) $2,636.4

Comprehensive Income:    

    Net income    292.6   292.6

    Net change in cash flow hedges     1.9  1.9

    Foreign currency translation     (138.9)  (138.9)

    Minimum pension liability     0.2  0.2

Total Comprehensive Income        155.8

Common stock incentives2)   1.8   4.6 6.4

Cash dividends    (104.7)   (104.7)

Repurchased treasury shares      (377.8) (377.8)

Balance at December 31, 2005 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $900.9 $37.7 $(679.6) $2,316.1 

Comprehensive Income:    

    Net income    402.3   402.3

    Net change in cash flow hedges     (1.2)  (1.2)

    Foreign currency translation     41.6  41.6    

    Minimum pension liability     (1.5)  (1.5)

Total Comprehensive Income        441.2

Cumulative effect of the adoption of FAS-1583)      (18.7)  (18.7)

Common stock incentives2)      27.6 27.6

Cash dividends declared    (141.8)   (141.8)

Repurchased treasury shares      (221.5) (221.5)

Balance at December 31, 2006 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,161.4 $57.9 $(873.5) $2,402.9 

Comprehensive Income:    

    Net income    287.9   287.9 

    Net change in cash flow hedges     (0.2)  (0.2)

    Foreign currency translation     108.1  108.1

    Pension liability     21.7  21.7

Total Comprehensive Income        417.5

Cumulative effect of the adoption of FIN-484)     9.7   9.7

Common stock incentives2)      18.7 18.7

Cash dividends declared    (119.7)   (119.7)

Repurchased treasury shares      (380.0) (380.0)

Balance at December 31, 2007 102.8 $102.8 $1,954.3 $1,339.3 $187.5 $(1,234.8) $2,349.1 

1) See Note 13 for further details – includes tax effects where applicable.

2) See Notes 1 and 15 for further details – includes tax effects.

3) See Notes 1 and 18 for further details – includes tax effects.

4) See Note 1 and 4 for further details.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(Dollars in millions, except per share data)

1 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Operations
Autoliv is a global automotive safety supplier with sales to all the leading car 
manufacturers. 

New Accounting Pronouncements
New accounting pronouncements issued by the Financial Accounting Stan-
dards Board (“FASB”) which will be effective for the Company in or after fis-
cal year 2008, are the following: 

Statement No.157, Fair Value Measurements (“FAS-157”), establishes a 
framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples (GAAP), clarifies the definition of fair value within that framework, and 
expands disclosures about the use of fair value measurements. FAS-157 was 
issued in September 2006 and is effective for fiscal years beginning after No-
vember 15, 2007. For non-financial assets and liabilities which are not peri-
odically recognized or disclosed at fair value, FAS-157 has been deferred one 
year. The Company will adopt FAS-157 prospectively on January 1, 2008. The 
application of FAS-157 is not expected to have any significant impact on earn-
ings and financial position for financial instruments and non-financial assets 
and liabilities which are periodically measured at fair value.

Statement No.159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities (“FAS-159”), provides companies with an option to report selected 
financial assets and liabilities at fair value. The objective of FAS-159 is to re-
duce both complexity in accounting for financial instruments and the volatil-
ity in earnings caused by measuring related assets and liabilities differently. 
FAS-159 was issued in February 2007 and is effective for fiscal years begin-
ning after November 15, 2007. The application of FAS-159 is not expected to 
have any significant impact on earnings and financial position, because the 
Company is not expected to elect to use the fair value option.

Statement No.141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (“FAS-141(R)”), 
replaces FASB Statement No. 141. FAS-141(R) applies the acquisition method 
to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over 
one or more other businesses, requires the acquirer to recognize the fair val-
ue of all assets and liabilities acquired, even if less than one hundred percent 
ownership is acquired, and establishes the acquisition date fair value as the 
measurement date for all assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The State-
ment was issued in December 2007 and is effective prospectively for fiscal 
years beginning after December 15, 2008. 

Statement No.160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial State-
ments (“FAS-160”), amends ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting 
standards for the noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary and for the deconsoli-
dation of a subsidiary. It clarifies that a noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary 
is an ownership interest in the consolidated financial statements. The State-
ment was issued in December 2007 and is effective for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2008. The Company has not yet evaluated the effects of 
the application of FAS-160.

Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. 
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, disclosures of contingent as-
sets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates.

Business Combinations
The purchase price of an acquired entity is allocated to the assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of 
acquisition following the measurement requirements in FAS-141 Business 
Combinations. The acquisition cost in a business combination includes 
direct and indirect acquisition costs and any contingent consideration. 

Principles of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and include Autoliv, 
Inc. and all companies over which Autoliv, Inc. directly or indirectly exercises 
control, which generally means that the Company owns more than 50% of 
the voting rights. Consolidation is also required when the Company is subject 
to a majority of the risk of loss from or is entitled to receive a majority of the 
residual returns or both from a variable interest entity’s activities. 

All intercompany accounts and transactions within the Company have been 
eliminated from the consolidated financial statements.

Investments in affiliated companies in which the Company exercises signifi-
cant influence over the operations and financial policies, but does not control, 
are reported according to the equity method of accounting. Generally, the 
Company owns between 20 and 50 percent of such investments.

Stock Based Compensation 
Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) adopted by the 
Shareholders, and as further amended, awards have been made to selected 
executive officers of the Company and other key employees in the form of 
stock options and Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). All options are granted 
for 10-year terms, have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the 
share at the date of grant, and become exercisable after one year of contin-
ued employment following the grant date. Each RSU represents a promise 
to transfer one of the Company’s shares to the employee after three years of 
service following the date of grant or upon retirement, whichever is earlier. 
The source of the shares issued upon share option exercise or lapse of RSU 
service period is treasury shares. The Plan provides for the issuance of up to 
5,085,055 common shares for awards. At December 31, 2007, 3,678,810 of 
these shares have been issued for awards. For stock options and RSUs out-
standing and options exercisable at year end, see Note 15. 

Beginning January 1, 2006, compensation costs for all of the Company’s 
stock-based compensation awards are determined based on the fair value 
method, using FAS-123(R). The Company records the compensation expense 
for RSUs and stock options over the vesting period. The impact of the adop-
tion of FAS-123(R) was less than 0.1 percentage point in relation to sales.

Had compensation cost for all of the Company’s stock-based compensa-
tion awards been determined based on the fair value of such awards at the 
grant date, consistent with the methods of FAS-123 “Accounting for Stock-
Based Compensation”, the Company’s total and per share net income for 
2005 would have been as follows:

 2005

Net income as reported   $292.6
Add: Compensation under intrinsic 
   value method included in 
   net income, net of tax   2.3
Deduct: Compensation under 
   fair value method for all
   awards, net of tax   (6.2)
Net income pro-forma   $288.7 
Earnings per share:
   As reported, basic   $3.28 
   As reported, assuming dilution   $3.26 
   Pro-forma, basic   $3.24 
   Pro-forma, assuming dilution   $3.22 

The fair value of the RSUs is calculated as the fair value of the shares at the 
RSU grant date. The grant date fair value for RSUs granted in 2004 and 2003 
(vested in 2007 and 2006) was $4.0 million and $2.8 million respectively. No 
RSUs were granted in 2002.

The weighted average fair value of options granted during 2007, 2006 and 
2005 was estimated at $15.11, $13.83 and $13.33 per share, respectively, 
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model based on the following as-
sumptions:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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 2007 2006 2005

Risk-free interest rate 4.7% 4.3% 3.7%
Dividend yield 2.5% 2.5% 2.2%
Expected life in years 5.5 5.5 5
Expected volatility 26.8% 31.0% 33.0%

Autoliv used the simplified method for determining the expected life assump-
tion. The simplified method is an expected term based on the midpoint be-
tween the grant date and the end of the contractual term. Expected volatility 
is based on historical volatility.

The total stock (RSUs and stock options) compensation cost recognized 
in the income statement for 2007 and 2006 was $8.7 million and $7.5 million, 
respectively. In 2005, the compensation cost recognized in the income state-
ment was $3.3 million and only included RSUs.

The total compensation cost related to nonvested awards not yet recog-
nized is $5.0 million for RSUs and the weighted average period over which 
this cost is expected to be recognized is close to two years. There is no sig-
nificant compensation cost not yet recognized for stock options.

Translation of Non-U.S. Subsidiaries
The balance sheets of subsidiaries with functional currency other than U.S. 
dollars are translated into U.S. dollars using year-end rates of exchange. 

Income statements are translated into U.S. dollars at the average rates of 
exchange for the year. Translation differences are reflected in other compre-
hensive income as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Revenue Recognition
Revenues are recognized when there is evidence of a sales agreement, deliv-
ery of goods has occurred, the sales price is fixed and determinable and the 
collectibility of revenue is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue 
from the sale of manufactured products upon shipment. 

Accruals are made for retroactive price adjustments if probable and can 
be reasonably estimated. 

Net sales include the sales value exclusive of added tax.

Cost of Sales
Shipping and handling costs are included in cost of sales. Contracts to supply 
products which extend for periods in excess of one year are reviewed when 
conditions indicate that costs may exceed selling prices, resulting in losses. 
Losses on long-term supply contracts are recognized when estimable.

Research, Development and Engineering (R,D&E)
Research and development and most engineering expenses are expensed 
as incurred. These expenses are reported net of royalty income and income 
from contracts to perform engineering design and product development ser-
vices. Such income is not significant in any period presented. 

Certain engineering expenses related to long-term supply arrangements 
are capitalized when the defined criteria, such as the existence of a contrac-
tual guarantee for reimbursement, are met. The aggregate amount of such 
assets is not significant in any period presented.

Tooling is generally agreed upon as a separate contract or a separate com-
ponent of an engineering contract, as a pre-production project. Capitaliza-
tion of tooling costs is made only when the criteria in EITF 99-5 for customer-
funded tooling or the criteria for capitalization as property, plant & equipment 
(PP&E) for tools owned by Autoliv are fulfilled. Depreciation on Autoliv’s own 
tools is recognized in the income statement as cost of sales.

Pension Obligations
The Company provides for both defined benefit plans and defined contribu-
tion plans. A defined contribution plan generally specifies the periodic amount 
that the employer must contribute to the plan and how that amount will be 
allocated to the eligible employees who perform services during the same 
period. A defined benefit pension plan is one that contains pension bene-
fit formulas, which generally determine the amount of pension benefit that 
each employee will receive for services performed during a specified period 
of employment. 

The obligations for pensions are recognized and measured under FAS-87 
Employers’ Accounting for Pensions and FAS-158 Employers’ Accounting for 

Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans (see Note 18). The 
amount recognized as a defined benefit liability is the net total of projected 
benefit obligation (PBO) minus the fair value of plan assets (if any). The input 
to the fair value measurement of the plan assets is mainly quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets.

Warranties and Recalls
The Company records liabilities for product recalls when probable claims are 
identified and it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. Recall costs are 
costs incurred when the customer decides to formally recall a product due to 
a known or suspected safety concern. Product recall costs typically include 
the cost of the product being replaced as well as the customer’s cost of the 
recall, including labor to remove and replace the defective part.

Provisions for warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience and 
likely changes in performance of newer products and the mix and volume of 
products sold. The provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

Insurance Deposits
The Company has entered into liability and recall insurance contracts to miti-
gate the risk of costs associated with product recalls. This is accounted for 
under the deposit method of accounting based on the existing contractual 
terms.

Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at historical cost. Construction in 
progress generally involves short-term projects for which capitalized interest 
is not significant. The Company provides for depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment computed under the straight-line method over the assets’ esti-
mated useful lives. Depreciation on capital leases is recognized in the income 
statement over the assets’ expected life or the lease contract terms whichever 
is less. Repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. 

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of net as-
sets of businesses acquired. Goodwill is not amortized, but subject to at least 
an annual review for impairment. Other intangible assets, principally related to 
acquired technology and contractual relationships, are amortized over their 
useful lives which range from 5 to 25 years and 3 years, respectively. 

Impairment of Goodwill and Long-lived Assets
The Company evaluates the carrying value of goodwill and long-lived assets 
for potential impairment when indications of impairment appear, and in addi-
tion for goodwill, at least annually. Impairment testing is primarily done utiliz-
ing the cash flow method, using discounted future cash flows for goodwill and 
undiscounted future cash flows for long-lived assets other than goodwill. The 
Company discounts projected operating cash flows using its after-tax weight-
ed average cost of capital, including a risk premium to adjust for the market 
risk. The impairment testing of goodwill is based on three different product 
groups: 1) Airbags and Seatbelts, 2) Electronics and 3) Seat Sub-Systems.   

Income Taxes
The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, Account-
ing for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”) on January 1, 2007. Therefore 
the method of determining the liability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits 
has changed and is not comparable with prior years. For further information 
see Note 4 Income Taxes.

Current tax liabilities and assets are recognized for the estimated taxes 
payable or refundable on the tax returns for the current year. Deferred tax li-
abilities or assets are recognized for the estimated future tax effects attribut-
able to temporary differences and carry-forwards that result from events that 
have been recognized in either the financial statements or the tax returns, 
but not both. The measurement of current and deferred tax liabilities and as-
sets is based on provisions of enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets are re-
duced by the amount of any tax benefits that are not expected to be realized. 
Current and non-current components of deferred tax balances are reported 
separately based on financial statement classification of the related asset or 
liability giving rise to the temporary difference. If a deferred tax asset or liabil-
ity is not related to an asset or liability that exists for financial reporting pur-
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poses, including deferred tax assets related to carry forwards, the deferred 
tax asset or liability would be classified based on the expected reversal date 
of the temporary differences. Tax assets and liabilities are not offset unless 
attributable to the same tax jurisdiction and netting is possible according to 
law and expected to take place in the same period.

Tax benefits associated with tax positions taken in the Company’s income 
tax returns are initially recognized and measured in the financial statements 
when it is more likely than not that those tax positions will be sustained upon 
examination by the relevant taxing authorities. The Company’s evaluation of 
its tax benefits is based on the probability of the tax position being upheld if 
challenged by the taxing authorities (including through negotiation, appeals, 
settlement and litigation). Whenever a tax position does not meet the initial 
recognition criteria, the tax benefit is subsequently recognized and measured 
if there is a substantive change in the facts and circumstances that cause a 
change in judgment concerning the sustainability of the tax position upon ex-
amination by the relevant taxing authorities. In cases where tax benefits meet 
the initial recognition criterion, the Company continues, in subsequent peri-
ods, to assess its ability to sustain those positions. A previously recognized 
tax benefit is derecognized when it is no longer more likely than not that the 
tax position would be sustained upon examination. Liabilities for unrecognized 
tax benefits are classified as non-current unless the payment of the liability is 
expected to be made within the next 12 months. 

The Company’s effective tax rate includes the impact of undistributed non-
U.S. earnings for which no U.S. tax has been provided because such earnings 
are considered to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. 

Earnings per Share
The Company calculates earnings per share (“EPS”) by dividing income avail-
able to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common 
shares outstanding for the period (net of treasury shares). The EPS also re-
flects the potential dilution that could occur if common stock were issued for 
awards under the Stock incentive plan. 

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments purchased 
with a maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Financial Instruments
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, “derivatives”, as part of 
its debt management to mitigate the market risk that occurs from its expo-
sure to changes in interest and foreign exchange rates. The Company does 
not enter into derivatives for trading or other speculative purposes. The use 
of such derivatives is in accordance with the strategies contained in the Com-
pany’s overall financial policy. The derivatives outstanding at year-end are 
either interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps or foreign ex-
change swaps.

All swaps principally match the terms and maturity of the underlying debt 
and no swaps have a maturity beyond 2019. For further details on the Com-
pany’s debt, see Note 12.

All derivatives are recognized in the statement of financial position at fair 
value. Assets and liabilities which represent the hedged item in a fair value 
hedge are also recognized at fair value. The method for establishing the 
fair value of the instruments is based on dealer quoted prices for identical 
instruments, significant other observable inputs or on pricing models using 
certain relevant input and other current assumptions. The derivatives are 
designated either as fair value hedges or cash flow hedges in line with 
the hedge accounting criteria under FAS-133 as amended by FAS-138. 
However, in certain cases the hedges do not qualify for hedge accounting, 
although entered into applying the same rationale concerning mitigating 
market risk that occurs from changes in interest and foreign exchange 
rates. The mark-to-market adjustment of the latter category of derivatives 
was $0.3 million and was recorded as a decrease of interest expense at 
December 31, 2007.

When a hedge is classified as a fair value hedge, the change in the fair 
value of the hedge is recognized in the income statement along with the off-
setting change in the fair value of the hedged item. When a hedge is clas-
sified as a cash flow hedge, any change in the fair value of the hedge is not 
recognized in the income statement for the period but recorded in equity as 

2 Significant Business Acquisitions

Business acquisitions generally take place to either gain key technology or 
strengthen Autoliv’s position in a certain geographical area or with a certain 
customer. 

As of December 3, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 41% of the shares 
in Autoliv Changchun Maw Hung Safety Systems, a consolidated entity that 
now is a wholly-owned subsidiary. The purchase price and the preliminary 
goodwill in connection with the acquisition were $14 million and $3 million, 
respectively.

As of October 31, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 50.01% of the shares 
in its joint venture Autoliv IFB Private Limited that became a fully consolidated 
entity from November 1, 2007. The purchase price and the goodwill in con-
nection with the acquisition were $36 million and $23 million, respectively. 
This subsidiary had external sales in 2007 of $45 million. 

As of January 15, 2007, Autoliv acquired the remaining 35% of the shares 
in Autoliv Mando, a consolidated entity that now is a wholly-owned subsid-

a component of Other Comprehensive Income, (OCI). There were no material 
reclassifications from OCI to the income statement in 2007 and, likewise, no 
material reclassifications are expected in 2008. Any ineffectiveness has been 
immaterial. If the hedge accounting criteria under FAS-133 are not met, the 
changes in the fair values of the hedges are recognized in the income state-
ment at each balance sheet date.
The fair value of the debt-related derivatives are reported in “Other current 
assets”, “Investments and other non-current assets”, “Other current liabilities” 
and “Other non-current liabilities” depending on whether they have a positive 
or a negative value and depending on their maturity.

Receivables
The Company has guidelines for calculating provisions for bad debts. In de-
termining the amount of a bad debt reserve, management uses its judgment 
to consider factors such as the age of the receivables, the Company’s prior 
experience of the debtor, the experience of other enterprises in the same in-
dustry, the debtor’s ability to pay, and/or an appraisal of current economic 
conditions. Collateral is typically not required. There can be no assurance that 
the amount ultimately realized for receivables will not be materially different 
than that assumed in the calculation of the reserves.

The Company has sold receivables relating to selected customers to vari-
ous external financial institutions without recourse. The discount cost is rec-
ognized in “Other financial items, net”.

Receivables and Liabilities in Non-Functional Currencies
Receivables and liabilities not denominated in functional currencies are con-
verted at year-end rates of exchange. Net transaction gains/(losses), reflect-
ed in income amounted to $(9.9) million in 2007, $(14.7) million in 2006 and 
$(2.0) million in 2005.

Inventories
The cost of inventories is computed according to the first-in, first-out method 
(FIFO). Inventories are evaluated based on individual or, in some cases, groups 
of inventory items. Reserves are established to reduce the value of invento-
ries to the lower of cost or market, with the market generally defined as net 
realizable value for finished goods and replacement cost for raw materials 
and work-in process. Excess inventories are quantities of items that exceed 
anticipated sales or usage for a reasonable period. The Company has guide-
lines for calculating provisions for excess inventories based on the number 
of months of inventories on hand compared to anticipated sales or usage. 
Management uses its judgment to forecast sales or usage and to determine 
what constitutes a reasonable period. There can be no assurance that the 
amount ultimately realized for inventories will not be materially different than 
that assumed in the calculation of the reserves.

Reclassifications
Certain prior-year amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year 
presentation.
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4 Income Taxes      
Income before income taxes 2007 2006 2005

U.S. $72.6 $115.3 $33.7
Non-U.S. 373.6 366.1 448.3
Total $446.2 $481.4 $482.0

Provision for income taxes 2007 2006 2005

Current
   U.S. federal $20.0 $(19.9) $23.0
   Non-U.S. 129.7 94.8 146.9
   U.S. state and local 1.6 5.1 11.7
Deferred
   U.S. federal 2.1 (14.0) 8.2   
   Non-U.S. (3.1) (8.1) (15.8)
   U.S. state and local 0.0 1.0 (0.8)
Total income taxes $150.3 $58.9 $173.2

Effective income tax rate 2007 2006 2005

U.S. federal income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Jobs Creation Act  0.0 (2.4) 3.5
Net operating loss carry-forwards 0.0 (1.3) (0.6)
Non-utilized operating losses 3.2 2.1 0.2
Foreign tax rate variances (4.2) (3.7)  (2.2)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 0.5 0.8 1.5
Earnings of equity investments (0.5) (0.4) (0.5)
Export sales incentives (0.0) (0.6) (0.6)
Tax credits (4.3) (3.9) (2.6)
Changes in tax reserves 1.9 (11.6) 1.2
Accrual to return adjustments (1.2) (3.6) (2.3)
Other, net 3.3 1.8 3.3
Effective income tax rate 33.7% 12.2% 35.9%

The Company also has $9.7 million of U.S. Foreign Tax Credit carryforwards, 
which expire on various dates through 2017.  Valuation allowances have been 
established which partially offset the related deferred assets. The Company 
provides valuation allowances against potential future tax benefits when, in the 
opinion of management, based on the weight of available evidence, it is more 
likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. 
Such allowances are primarily provided against NOL’s of companies that have 
perennially incurred losses, as well as the NOL’s of companies that are start-
up operations and have not established a pattern of profitability.

The Company benefits from “tax holidays” in certain of its subsidiaries, 
principally in China and Korea. These tax holidays typically take the form of 
reduced rates of tax on income for a period of several years following the first 
year of profitability of an eligible company. These tax holidays have resulted 
in income tax savings of approximately $12 million ($0.15 per share) in 2007, 
$11 million ($0.13 per share) in 2006 and $6 million ($0.07 per share) in 2005. 
These special holiday rates are expected to be available for several years, but 
have begun to be phased out at some subsidiaries in 2007.

The Company has reserves for income taxes that may become payable in 
 future periods as a result of tax audits. These reserves represent the Com-
pany’s best estimate of the potential liability for tax exposures. Inherent un-
certainties exist in estimates of tax exposures due to changes in tax law, both 
legislated and concluded through the various jurisdictions’ court systems. The 
Company files income tax returns in the United States federal jurisdiction, and 
various states and foreign jurisdictions. At any given time, the Company is un-
dergoing tax audits in several tax jurisdictions and covering multiple years. In 
2006, the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) completed its examination of 
the six tax years since the formation of the Autoliv, Inc. U.S. tax group in 1997. 
As a result, the Company recognized a non-cash income tax benefit in its 
third quarter 2006 of $57 million resulting from the release of certain income 
tax reserves. Another $12 million was released from tax reserves at the end 
of 2006 as a result of the closing of the statute of limitations at certain non-
U.S. companies. In addition, net income in 2006 was positively impacted by 
other discrete tax items of $26 million, principally adjustments related to pre-
vious years’ tax returns. The decreases in the reserves in 2006 were partially 
offset by increases in reserves for other issues due to revisions to the best 
reasonable estimate of other tax exposure liabilities and interest accrued. The 
Company is no longer subject to income tax examination by the U.S. federal 
tax authorities for years prior to 2003. With few exceptions, the Company is 
also no longer subject to income tax examination by U.S. state or local tax 
authorities for tax years prior to 2003.  In addition, with few exceptions, the 
Company is no longer subject to income tax examinations by non-U.S. tax 
authorities for years before 2001. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) began 
an examination of the Company’s 2003-2005 U.S. income tax returns in 2006 
that is anticipated to be completed during 2008. In addition, the Company is 
undergoing tax audits in several non-U.S. jurisdictions covering multiple years. 
As of December 31, 2007, as a result of those tax examinations, the Company 
is not aware of any material proposed income tax adjustments. The Company 
expects the completion of certain tax audits in the near term. It is reasonably 
possible that the amount of unrecognized benefits with respect to certain of 
our unrecognized tax positions could significantly increase or decrease in 
some future period or periods. However, at this time, an estimate of the range 
of the reasonably possible outcomes is not possible.  
   The Company adopted the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 48, 
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (“FIN-48”), on January 1, 2007. As 
a result of the implementation of FIN-48, the Company recognized a decrease 
of $9.9 million in the liability recorded for unrecognized tax benefits as a cumu-
lative effect of a change in accounting principle, which was accounted for as 
an increase to the January 1, 2007 balance in retained earnings. The Company 
recognizes interest and potential penalties accrued related to unrecognized 
tax benefits in tax expense. As of January 1, 2007, the Company had recorded 
$39.6 million for unrecognized tax benefits related to prior years, including 
$5.3 million of accrued interest and penalties. During 2007, the Company re-
corded an increase of $4.3 million to income tax reserves for unrecognized 
tax benefits based on tax positions related to the current and prior years and 
accrued $4.3 million for interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax ben-
efits of prior years. The Company had $9.6 million accrued for the payment of 
interest and penalties as of December 31, 2007. Of the total unrecognized tax 
benefits of $48.2 million recorded at December 31, 2007, $25.1 million is clas-

3 Fair Values of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts reported in the balance sheet for long-term debt and 
other non-current financial assets and liabilities, including their respective 
short-term portion, represent their fair values if they are the hedged item in 
a fair value hedge. 

For hedged liabilities in cash flow hedges and liabilities without hedge ac-
counting, the fair value is below the carrying value by $1.2 million at December 
31, 2007, which mostly relates to the short-term portion of long-term debt. 

The fair value of debt instruments and related swaps are summarized in 
Note 12. 

iary. The purchase price and the goodwill in connection with the acquisition 
were $80 million and $40 million, respectively.

As of June, 2006, Autoliv acquired another 20% of the shares in Nan-
jing Honggouang-Autoliv Safety Systems Co., Ltd, a consolidated entity, and 
thereby increased its interest to 70%. As of December, 2006, Autoliv ac-
quired the remaining 9% of the shares in Autoliv Philippines Inc. and made it 
a wholly owned subsidiary. The purchase price of these acquisitions in 2006 
amounted to $3 million. 

There were no acquisitions in 2005.
The acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of 

accounting and the results of operations of the entities have been consolidat-
ed since the date control was achieved. Investments in which the Company 
previously exercised significant influence, but did not control prior to these 
acquisitions, were accounted for using the equity method.

There is no goodwill that is expected to be deductible for tax purposes 
arising from these acquisitions.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting 
purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. On December 31, 
2007, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOL’s”) of ap-
proximately $129 million, of which approximately $40 million have no expira-
tion date. The remaining losses expire on various dates through 2019.
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5 Receivables    
December 31 2007 2006 2005

Receivables $1,241.6 $1,222.1 $1,167.1
Allowance at beginning  
   of year (15.4) (18.1) (13.3)
Reversal of allowance 6.8 4.4 4.0
Addition to allowance (4.8) (7.3) (18.1)
Write-off against allowance 3.4 6.8 8.3
Translation difference (0.9) (1.2) 1.0
Allowance at end of year (10.9) (15.4) (18.1)
Total receivables, 
   net of allowance $1,230.7 $1,206.7 $1,149.0
 

Autoliv has several agreements that allow it to sell accounts receivable from 
selected customers at a discount to various financial institutions without any 
recourse. Receivable sales have the effect of increasing cash and reducing 
accounts receivable and days receivables outstanding. Discount costs were 
recorded in Other financial items, net and amounted to $4 million for 2007 
and $2 million for 2006. At December 31, 2007 and 2006 $124 million and 
$98 million, respectively, of sold receivables remained outstanding under 
these agreements.

6 Inventories
December 31 2007 2006 2005 

Raw material $250.4 $220.7 $186.4
Finished products 136.3 128.0 124.8
Work in progress 244.0 245.4 217.0
Inventories $630.7 $594.1 $528.2

Inventory reserve at 
   beginning of year $(48.7) $(42.8) $(38.8)
Reversal of reserve 6.7 5.6 3.9
Addition to reserve (29.5) (16.8) (18.1)
Write-off against reserve 6.0 7.7 7.3
Translation difference (3.9) (2.4) 2.9
Inventory reserve at end of year (69.4) (48.7) (42.8)
Total inventories,
   net of reserve $561.3 $545.4 $485.4
 

7 Investments and Other Non-current Assets 

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the Company had invested in five and 
six, respectively, affiliated companies which it currently does not control, but 
in which it exercises significant influence over operations and financial po-
sition. These investments are accounted for under the equity method. The 
Company is applying deposit accounting for an insurance arrangement. For 
additional information on derivatives see Note 12.

December 31  2007 2006 

Total investments in affiliated companies $29.8 $27.4
Deferred income tax receivables 100.0 100.9
Derivative receivables 12.2 5.2
Long-term interest bearing deposit 
   (insurance arrangement) 25.9 23.8
Other non-current assets 23.0 18.4
Investments and other non-current assets $190.9 $175.7
 

sified as current tax payable and $23.1 million is classified as non-current tax 
payable on the balance sheet. Substantially all of these reserves would impact 
the effective tax rate if released into income. Prior to the adoption of FIN-48, 
at December 31, 2006, the accrual for tax reserves was $49.5 million, and all 
unrecognized tax benefits were classified as current tax payable.

Tabular presentation of tax benefits  
unrecognized under FIN 48   2007

Unrecognized Tax Benefits at  
    beginning of year (post adoption of FIN-48)  $34.3 
Gross amounts of increases and decreases:
    Increases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during a prior period   5.9
    Decreases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during a prior period   (4.7)
    Increases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during the current period   1.5
    Decreases as a result of tax positions 
        taken during the current period   0.0
    Decreases relating to settlements
        with taxing authorities   0.0
    Decreases resulting from the lapse of 
        the applicable statute of limitations   0.0
    Translation Difference   1.7
Total Unrecognized Tax Benefits at end of year  $38.7

Deferred taxes 
December 31  2007 2006

Assets
Provisions $62.7 $61.1
Costs capitalized for tax 1.0 1.3
Property, plant and equipment 31.5 27.6
Retirement Plans 33.7 40.5
Tax receivables, principally NOL’s 41.6 39.3
Other 1.3 3.0
Deferred tax assets before allowances  $171.8 $172.8
Valuation allowances (30.8) (25.4)
Total $141.0 $147.4

Liabilities
Acquired intangibles $(46.5) $(40.1)
Statutory tax allowances (2.5) (3.0)
Insurance deposit (7.3) (8.3)
Distribution taxes (8.9) (7.6)
Other (1.8) 0.0
Total $(67.0) $(59.0)
Net deferred tax asset   $74.0 $88.4

Valuation allowances against tax receivables 
December 31 2007 2006 2005

Allowances at beginning of year $25.4 $23.8 $14.8
Benefits reserved current year  9.8 12.3 5.2
Benefits recognized current year  (2.8) (14.2) (2.8)
Write-offs and other changes (3.8) 0.8 6.9
Translation difference 2.2 2.7 (0.3)
Allowances at end of year $30.8 $25.4 $23.8

U.S. federal income taxes have not been provided on $2.1 billion of undistrib-
uted earnings of non-U.S. operations, which are considered to be permanent-
ly reinvested. These earnings generally would not be subject to withholding 
taxes upon distribution to intermediate holding companies. The Company has 
determined that it is not practicable to calculate the deferred tax liability if the 
entire $2.1 billion of earnings were to be distributed to the U.S.

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Jobs Act” or the “Act”), en-
acted in October 2004, provided for an 85% dividend received deduction on 
certain non-U.S. earnings repatriated during 2004 or 2005. During 2005, the 
Company made distributions under the Jobs Act of $855 million of which 
$802 million qualified under the Act. 
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10 Restructuring and Other Liabilities

Restructuring items
Restructuring provisions are made, on a case by case basis, for plant con-
solidation in mainly Europe, U.S. and Australia and primarily include sever-
ance costs. The liability amounts below include provisions for contractual and 
 liability issues related to ongoing litigation.

2005
In 2005, employee-related restructuring provisions of $19.6 million were made 
for severance costs related to plant consolidation, primarily in the United 
 Kingdom, Australia and France. The provision has been charged against 
“ Other income (expense), net” in the income statement. The change in liabil-

 December 31 Cash Change in Translation December 31
 2004 payments reserve difference 2005

Restructuring employee-related $4.7 $(15.7) $19.6 $(0.8) $7.8
Liability 16.2 – (6.0) (0.7) 9.5
Total reserve $20.9 $(15.7) $13.6 $(1.5) $17.3

2006
In 2006, the employee-related restructuring provisions mainly related to head-
count reductions in high-cost countries. The cash payments mainly relate 
to Europe and Australia for plant consolidation initiated in 2006 as well as 
in 2005. The change in liability during 2006 includes a resolution of a legal 

dispute resulting in cash payments. The changes in the reserves have been 
charged against “Other income (expense), net” in the income statement. The 
table below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the re-
structuring reserves from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2006.

 December 31 Cash Change in Translation December 31
 2005 payments reserve difference 2006

Restructuring employee-related $7.8 $(15.2) $13.2 $0.6 $6.4
Liability 9.5 (4.5) (5.3) 0.3 –
Total reserve $17.3 $(19.7) $7.9 $0.9 $6.4
  

ity during 2005 is mainly related to a resolution of a legal dispute. The table 
below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of the restructur-
ing reserves from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2005.

The tables below summarize the change in the balance sheet position of the 
restructuring reserves from December 31, 2004 to December 31, 2007.

8 Property, Plant and Equipment
   Estimated 
December 31 2007 2006 life

Land and land improvements $91.1 $84.8 n/a to 15
Machinery and equipment 2,607.5      2,273.4 3-8
Buildings 676.3 590.5 20-40
Construction in progress 139.8 135.0 n/a
Property, plant and equipment  $3,514.7 $3,083.7  
Less accumulated depreciation (2,254.9) (1,923.3) 
Net of depreciation $1,259.8 $1,160.4 

Depreciation included in 2007 2006 2005

Cost of sales $258.4 $246.8 $253.3
Selling, general and 
   administrative expenses 16.3 14.5 13.6
Research, development and 
   engineering expenses 25.8 22.4 26.5
Total  $300.5 $283.7 $293.4

No significant impairments were recognized during 2007, 2006 or 2005.
The net book value of machinery and equipment under capital lease con-

tracts recorded as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, amounted to $0.4 and 
$0.3 million, respectively. The net book value of buildings and land under capi-
tal lease contracts recorded as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, amounted 
to $4.9  and $5.1 million, respectively. 

9 Goodwill and Intangible Assets    
Unamortized intangibles  2007 2006

Goodwill 
Carrying amount at beginning of year  $1,537.1 $1,524.8
Goodwill acquired during year 65.7 – 
Translation differences 10.6 12.3 
Carrying amount at end of year $1,613.4 $1,537.1

Amortized intangibles  2007 2006

Gross carrying amount $353.3 $322.7
Accumulated amortization (207.2) (183.5)
Carrying value $146.1 $139.2

No significant impairments were recognized during 2007, 2006 or 2005. 
At December 31, 2007, goodwill assets include $1,208 million associated 

with the 1997 merger of Autoliv AB and the Automotive Safety Products Divi-
sion of Morton International, Inc.

The aggregate amortization expense on intangible assets was $20.3 million 
in 2007, $18.9 million in 2006 and $15.5 million in 2005. The estimated amor-
tization expense is as follows (in millions): 2008: $22.3; 2009: $22.2; 2010: 
$14.5; 2011: $8.5; and 2012: $8.3.
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11 Product Related Liabilities

Autoliv is exposed to product liability and warranty claims in the event that the 
Company’s products fail to perform as expected and such failure results, or is 
alleged to result, in bodily injury, and/or property damage or other loss. The 
Company has reserves for product risks. Such reserves are related to product 
performance issues including recall, product liability and warranty issues.

The Company records liabilities for product-related risks when probable 
claims are identified and when it is possible to reasonably estimate costs. 
Provisions for warranty claims are estimated based on prior experience and 
likely changes in performance of newer products and the mix and volume of 
the products sold. The provisions are recorded on an accrual basis.

Cash payments have been made mainly for warranty related issues in con-
nection with a variety of different products and customers. The significant 
payments in 2006 and 2005 were made in connection with ongoing recalls 
for the replacement of defective products. 

The table below summarizes the change in the balance sheet position of 
the product-related liabilities.

December 31 2007 2006 2005

Reserve at beginning  
   of the year $22.8 $33.3 $62.5
Change in reserve 5.2 7.3 12.3
Cash payments (10.7) (20.2) (36.7)
Translation difference 1.5 2.4 (4.8)
Reserve at end of the year $18.8 $22.8 $33.3
 

12 Debt and Credit Agreements

Interest expense, net increased by 40% or $15.2 million to $53.5 million as a 
result of higher average net debt and higher floating market interest rates as 
shown in the table below.

Average interest on net  
   debt and interest net 2007 2006 2005 

Interest, net  $53.5 $38.3 $37.4 
Average interest rate on net debt  4.9% 4.1% 5.1% 

As part of its debt management, the Company enters into derivatives to 
achieve economically effective hedges and to minimize the cost of its fund-
ing. In this note, short-term debt and long-term debt are discussed including 
DRD, i.e. debt including fair market value adjustments from hedges, but in 
the Debt Profile table it is also shown excluding DRD, i.e. reconciled to debt 
as reported in the balance sheet.

Short-Term Debt
Of short-term debt, $204 million represents the short-term portion of long-
term loans. These are primarily Swedish medium term notes which mature 
in 2008.

The Company also has credit facilities with a number of banks that manage 
the subsidiaries’ cash pools. In addition, the Company’s subsidiaries have 
credit agreements, principally in the form of overdraft facilities, with a num-
ber of local banks. Total available short-term facilities, as of December 31, 
2007, excluding commercial paper facilities as described below, amounted 

to $265 million, of which $108 million was utilized. The aggregate amount of 
unused short-term lines of credit at December 31, 2007, was $157 million. 
The weighted average interest rate on total short-term debt outstanding at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006 was 4.1 % and 3.6%, respectively. The interest 
rate increase comes from increased floating interest rates and more loans in 
Chinese Renmimbi at higher interest rates and less loans in Swedish Krona 
(“SEK”) and Euros at lower interest rates. 

Long-Term Debt
In 2007, Autoliv ASP Inc. a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, issued 
$400 million of senior notes guaranteed by the Company in a private place-
ment. The notes consist of four tranches of varying sizes, maturing in 2012, 
2014, 2017 and 2019 respectively and carry fixed interest rates between 5.6% 
and 6.2%. The Company has entered into swap arrangements with respect to 
the proceeds of the notes offering. After these swaps, $200 million of the notes 
carry fixed interest rates varying between 5.6% and 5.8% and $200 million 
carry floating interest rates varying between three-months LIBOR + 0.8% and 
1.0%. In order to take advantage of the steep drop in U.S long-term interest 
rates and further decrease the interest rate risk, the Company subsequent to 
year-end cancelled a nominal $35 million 7-year interest rate swap in January 
2008. Including this cancellation, $235 million of the notes carry fixed interest 
rates varying between 4.6% and 5.8% and $165 million carry floating interest 
rates varying between three-months LIBOR + 0.9% to 1.0%.

The Company has two commercial paper programs: one SEK 7 billion (ap-
proximately 1.1 billion USD) Swedish program, which at December 31, 2007, 
had notes of SEK 497 million outstanding ($77 million equivalent) at a weight-
ed average interest rate including DRD of 4.2%, and one $1,000 million U.S. 
program, which at December 31, 2007 had notes of $322 million outstand-
ing at a weighted average interest rate of 5.5%. All of the notes outstanding, 
in total $399 million, are classified as long-term debt because the Company 
has the ability and intent to refinance these borrowings on a long-term basis 
either through continued commercial paper borrowings or utilization of the 
revolving credit facility (RCF), which is available until 2012.

The current RCF of $1,100 million is syndicated among 15 banks. The com-
mitment supports the  Company’s commercial paper borrowings as well as 
being available for general corporate purposes. Borrowings are unsecured 
and bear interest based on the relevant LIBOR rate. The Company is not sub-
ject to any financial covenants in order to have the facility available but has a 
limitation on subordinated loans which the Company is in compliance with. 
The Company pays a commitment fee of 0.05% during the first five years  
(until November 2010) and of 0.06% during year six and seven on the unused 
amount of the RCF given the current rating of A- from Standard & Poor’s. Bor-
rowings are prepayable at any time and are due at expiration. The RCF was 
unutilized at December 31, 2007. 

Under the Swedish medium-term note program of SEK 5 billion (approxi-
mately $773 million), SEK fixed and floating rate notes and Euro floating rate 
notes are outstanding. Some of the Euro notes are swapped into fixed rate 
Japanese Yen. The notes have up to three years remaining maturity and bear 
interest rates currently up to 5.2%. In total $225 million of notes, with a re-
maining maturity of more than one year, were outstanding at year-end. The 
remaining other long-term debt, $4 million, consisted primarily of fixed rate 
loans and capital leasing.

2007
In 2007, the employee-related restructuring provisions mainly relate to head-
count reductions in the high-cost countries of North America and Europe, 
and in Australia. The cash payments mainly relate to North America, Europe 
and Australia for plant consolidation initiated in 2007, 2006 and 2005. The 

changes in the  reserves have been charged against “Other income (expense), 
net” in the income statement. The table below summarizes the change in the 
balance sheet position of the restructuring reserves from December 31, 2006 
to December 31, 2007.

 December 31 Cash Change in Translation December 31
 2006 payments reserve difference 2007

Restructuring employee-related $6.4 $(14.4) $23.7 $1.1 $16.8
Total reserve $6.4 $(14.4) $23.7 $1.1 $16.8
  
As part of the restructuring activities 461, 217 and 584 employees remained 
covered by the reserves at December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respec-

tively. As part of restructuring, 689 employees covered by the restructuring 
reserves left the company in 2005, 938 in 2006 and 647 in 2007.
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In the Company’s financial operations, credit risk arises in connection with cash deposits with banks  and when entering into forward exchange agreements, 
swap contracts or other financial instruments. In order to reduce this risk, deposits and financial instruments can only be entered with a limited number of 
banks up to a calculated risk amount of $75 million per bank. The policy of the Company is to work with banks that have a high credit rating and that partici-
pate in the Company’s financing.

The first table below shows debt maturity as cash flow in the upper part which is re conciled with reported debt in the last row. The third table below shows 
the fair value of derivatives excluding related debt and will therefore not reconcile with the fair value of debt table. For a description of hedging instruments 
used as part of debt management, see the Financial Instruments section of Note 1.

Debt Profile 

Principal (notional) amount by expected maturity         Total 
Weighted average interest rate 2008 2009 2010   2011  2012 Thereafter      long-term Total

US private placement notes (incl. DRD1))     $110.0 $290.0 $400.0 $400.0
   (Weighted average interest rate 5.7%)2)

Overdraft/Other short-term debt  
   (Weighted average interest rate 5.1%) $103.7 – – – – – – 103.7
Commercial paper      
   (Weighted average interest rate 5.3%)2) – – – – 398.8 – 398.8 398.8
Medium-term notes (incl. DRD2))   
   (Weighted average interest rate 4.0%)   193.2 $199.7 $25.6    – – – 225.3 418.5
Other long-term loans, incl. current portion3) 

   (Primarily fixed rates) 10.6 1.1 1.0 $0.7 0.3 1.0 4.1 14.7
Total debt as cash flow, (incl. DRD1)) $307.5 $200.8 $26.6 $0.7 $509.1 $291.0 $1,028.2 $1,335.7
DRD adjustment 4.4 3.4 3.7 - - 5.0 12.1 16.5
Total debt as reported $311.9 $204.2 $30.3 $0.7 $509.1 $296.0 $1,040.3 $1,352.2

1) Debt Related Derivatives (DRD), i.e. the fair market value adjustments associated with hedging instruments as adjustments to the carrying value of the underlying debt. 2) Interest rates will change as roll-overs 
occur prior to final maturity. 3) Primarily denominated in Japanese Yen and Euro.

Fair Value of Debt, December 31 13 Shareholders’ Equity

Number of shares outstanding as of December 31, 2007 was 73,802,784.

Dividends 2007 2006 2005

Cash dividend paid per share $1.54 $1.36  $1.17
Cash dividend declared per share $1.56 $1.41  $1.24
 
Other comprehensive Income /  
Ending Balance  2007 2006 2005

Cumulative translation adjustments  $193.3 $85.2 $43.6
Net gain/  
   loss of cash flow hedge derivatives 0.1 0.3 1.5
Unamortized portion of pension liability (5.9) (27.6) (7.4)
Total (ending balance) $187.5 $57.9 $37.7
Deferred taxes on cash 
   flow hedge derivatives  $(0.0) $(0.1) $(1.0)
Deferred taxes on the pension liability $1.8 $13.1 $3.5

The components of other comprehensive income are net of any related in-
come tax effects.

At December 31, 2006, the Company adopted FAS-158. The equity im-
pact of this retirement benefits recognition requirement was a charge to Ac-
cumulated other comprehensive income of $18.7 million, net of tax. The pen-
sion liability amount for 2005 refers to the additional minimum liability under 
FAS-87.  

During 2006, the Company began to accrue for dividends when declared 
by the Board of Directors. The effect of this change, which is recognized in 
“Other current liabilities”, is not significant to the Company’s financial posi-
tion for any year presented. 

Share Repurchase Program
The Board of Directors approved an expansion of the Company’s stock re-
purchase program and authorized the repurchase of an additional 10 million 
shares in Autoliv Inc. on December 15, 2005 and an additional 7.5 million 
shares on November 8, 2007.

 2007 2007 2006 2006
 Carrying1) Fair Carrying1) Fair
Long-term debt value value value value
Commercial paper 
   (reclassified)  $398.8 $398.8 $642.2 $642.2 
U.S. Private placement 405.0 406.0 – – 
Medium-term notes  232.4 232.7 223.9 223.1 
Other long-term debt 4.1 4.1 21.6 21.6 
Total  $1,040.3 $1,041.6 $887.7 $886.9 

Short-term debt 

Overdrafts and other     
   short-term debt $108.1 $108.1 $110.7 $110.7 
Short-term portion of  
   long-term debt 203.8 202.3 183.4 182.4 
Total  $311.9 $310.4 $294.1 $293.1 

1) Debt as reported in balance sheet.

Fair Value of Derivatives, December 31

 2007 2007 2006 2006 
In relation to Total Fair Total Fair 
Private Placement  nominal value nominal value

Interest rate swaps:  
   Fair value treatment $200.0 $5.0 – –
Total  $200.0 $5.0 – –

In relation to Medium-term notes 

Cross currency interest rate swaps:
   Cash flow treatment $82.6 $7.2 $77.8 $4.9 
Total  $82.6 $7.2 $77.8 $4.9  

In relation to inter company loans  

Foreign exchange swaps:
   Without hedge 
      accounting $709.4 $4.3 $381.4 $(1.2)
Total  $709.4 $4.3 $381.4 $(1.2)
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14 Supplemental Cash Flow Information   

The Company’s acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired were  
as follows:

 2007 2006 2005 

Acquisitions/Divestitures:
Fair value of assets acquired
   excluding cash $(100.9) – –
Liabilities assumed 24.5 – –
Minority interest acquired  (44.2) – –
Acquisition of businesses, 
   net of cash acquired $(120.6) – –

 
Payments for interest and income taxes were as follows:

 2007 2006 2005 

Interest $59 $54 $48
Income taxes $104 $201 $206
 

15 Stock Incentive Plan  

Under the Autoliv, Inc. 1997 Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) adopted by the 
Shareholders, and as further amended, awards have been made to selected 
executive officers of the Company and other key employees in the form of 
stock options and Restricted Stock Units (“RSUs”). 

The Plan provides for the issuance of up to 5,085,055 common shares for 
awards under the Plan. For more information on these rewards, see Note 1.

Information on the number of RSUs and stock options related to the Plan 
during the period 2005 to 2007 is as follows:

RSUs 2007 2006 2005

Shares 2007 2006 2005

Shares repurchased  
   (shares in millions) 6.6 4.0 8.4 
Cash paid for shares $380.0 $221.5 $377.8

In total, Autoliv has repurchased 30.6 million shares since May 2000 for cash 
of $1,299.7 million, including commissions. Of the total amount of repurchased 
shares, approximately 1.6 million shares have been utilized in the stock incen-
tive plans whereof 0.3 million were utilized during 2007.

The maximum number of shares that may yet be purchased under the 
Stock Repurchase Program amounted to 6,897,505 shares at December 
31, 2007.

Shareholder Rights Plan
Until December 4, 2007, Autoliv had a shareholder rights plan which provided 
each shareholder of record as of November 6, 1997, with certain rights upon 
the occurrence of specified events. The plan lapsed on December 4, 2007, 
without being replaced with a similar plan.

Outstanding at beginning of year 279,730 298,265 211,785
Granted 98,298 97,117 98,551
Shares issued (124,194)  (112,347)  (810)
Cancelled (8,301) (3,305) (11,261)
Outstanding at end of year 245,533 279,730 298,265
  

   Weighted  
    average
  Number of exercise  
Stock options  shares price

Outstanding at Dec 31, 2004 958,817 $25.91
Granted 295,661 47.46
Exercised (196,895) 23.27
Cancelled (17,990) 30.65
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2005 1,039,593 $32.45
Granted 291,350 49.60
Exercised (238,440) 32.30
Cancelled (10,519) 33.57
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2006 1,081,984 $37.10
Granted 281,075 58.91
Exercised (200,097) 41.96
Cancelled (17,050) 40.56
Outstanding at Dec 31, 2007 1,145,912 $41.55

Options exercisable 

At December 31, 2005  747,245 $26.58
At December 31, 2006  792,259 $32.52
At December 31, 2007 876,762 $36.22
 

The following summarizes information about stock options outstanding on December 31, 2007:

  Remaining  Weighted  Weighted 
 Number contract life  average Number  average 
Range of exercise prices outstanding (in years) exercise price exercisable exercise price

$16.99 - $19.96 215,865 3.76 $18.61 215,865 $ 18.61
$21.36 - $29.37 114,169 4.92 21.57 114,169 21.57
$31.07 - $38.25 7,800 0.62 34.34 7,800 34.34
$40.26 - $49.60 538,928 7.13 46.40 538,928 46.40
$57.40 - $59.01 269,150 9.15 58.91 0 n/a
 1,145,912 6.70 $ 41.55 876,762 $ 36.22
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17 Lease Commitments

Operating Lease
The Company leases certain offices, manufacturing and research buildings, 
machinery, automobiles, data processing and other equipment under operat-
ing lease contracts. The operating leases, some of which are non-cancelable 
and include renewals, expire at various dates through 2028. The Company 
pays most maintenance, insurance and tax expenses relating to leased as-
sets. Rental expense for operating leases was $26.4 million for 2007, $24.3 
million for 2006 and $24.7 million for 2005.

At December 31, 2007, future minimum lease payments for non-cancel-
able operating leases total $78.6 million and are payable as follows (in mil-
lions):  2008: $18.5; 2009: $15.1; 2010: $10.6; 2011: $8.2; 2012: $6.4; 2013 
and thereafter: $19.8.

Capital Lease
The Company leases certain property, plant and equipment under capital 
lease contracts. The capital leases expire at various dates through 2015. At 
December 31, 2007, future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable capi-
tal leases total $5.1 million and are payable as follows (in millions):  2008: $1.3; 
2009: $1.2; 2010: $0.8; 2011: $0.5; 2012: $0.3; 2013 and thereafter: $1.0.

16 Contingent Liabilities 

Legal Proceedings
Various claims, lawsuits and proceedings are pending or threatened against 
the Company or its subsidiaries, covering a range of matters that arise in the 
ordinary course of its business activities with respect to commercial, product 
liability and other matters.

Litigation is subject to many uncertainties, and the outcome of any litigation 
cannot be assured. After discussions with counsel, it is the opinion of man-
agement that the various lawsuits to which the Company currently is a party 
will not have a material adverse impact on the consolidated financial position 
of Autoliv, but the Company cannot provide assurance that Autoliv will not ex-
perience material litigation, product liability or other losses in the future.

In 1997, Autoliv AB (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv, Inc.) acquired 
Marling Industries plc (“Marling”). At that time, Marling was involved in a law-
suit relating to the sale in 1992 of a French subsidiary. In May 2006, a French 
court ruled that Marling (now named Autoliv Holding Limited) and another 
entity, then part of the Marling group, had failed to disclose certain facts in 
connection with the 1992 sale, and appointed an expert to assess the losses 
suffered by the plaintiff. The acquiror of the French subsidiary has made claims 
for damages of approximately €40 million (approximately $59 million) but has 
not yet provided the court appointed expert with the materials needed to eval-
uate the claims. Autoliv has appealed against the May 2006 court decision 
and believes it has meritorious grounds for such appeal. In the opinion of the 
Company’s management, it is not possible to give any meaningful estimate 
of any financial impact that may arise from the claim. While not probable, the 
final outcome of this litigation may result in a loss that will have to be recorded 
by Autoliv, Inc. No reserves have been accrued for this dispute.

In December 2003, a U.S. Federal District Court awarded a former supplier 
of Autoliv ASP Inc. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Autoliv Inc.), approximately 
$27 million plus pre-judgment interest of approximately $7 million in connec-
tion with a commercial dispute that relates to purchase commitments made in 
1995. As a result of a final court ruling in 2007, after multiple appeals, Autoliv 
ASP was held liable to the former supplier and deposited a total of $36.4 mil-
lion with the District Court in fulfillment of the award. The incremental cost of 
the legal settlement over amounts accrued in previous years of $ 30.4 million 
was charged to “other income (expense), net” in the income statement in 2007. 
On November 14, 2007, the District Court issued an order to the effect that 
Autoliv ASP had fully and completely satisfied the judgment. There remains 
an open issue as to the calculation of the pre-judgment interest. The former 
supplier has sought an additional approximately $4.9 million that it attributes 
to pre-judgment interest and on November 15, 2007, filed a notice of appeal 
from the District Court’s decision. Although the District Court denied the for-
mer supplier’s original motion seeking the additional pre-judgment interest, 
and Autoliv ASP believes it has meritorious grounds to oppose the appeal, 
the Court of Appeals may award the supplier some or all of the additional in-
terest sought. Autoliv has not made any reserves for any additional interest 
which could be awarded the former supplier.

The Company believes that it is currently reasonably insured against war-
ranty, recall and product (as well as other) liability risks, at levels sufficient to 
cover potential claims that are reasonably likely to arise in our businesses. 
Autoliv cannot be assured that the level of coverage will be sufficient to cover 
every possible claim that can arise in our businesses, now or in the future, or 
that such coverage always will be available on our current market should we, 
now or in the future, wish to extend or increase insurance.

Product Warranty and Recalls
Autoliv is exposed to various claims for damages and compensation if prod-
ucts fail to perform as expected. Such claims can be made, and result in 
costs and other losses to the Company, even where the product is eventu-
ally found to have functioned properly. Where a product (actually or allegedly) 
fails to perform as expected we face warranty and recall claims. Where such 
(actual or alleged) failure results, or is alleged to result, in bodily injury and/or 
property damage, we may also face product-liability claims. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will not experience material warranty, recall or 
product (or other) liability claims or losses in the future, or that the Company 
will not incur significant costs to defend against such claims. The Company 
may be required to participate in a recall involving its products. Each vehicle 
manufacturer has its own practices regarding product recalls and other prod-
uct liability actions relating to its suppliers. As suppliers become more inte-
grally involved in the vehicle design process and assume more of the vehicle 
assembly functions, vehicle manufacturers are increasingly looking to their 
suppliers for contribution when faced with recalls and product liability claims. 
A warranty, recall or product-liability claim brought against the Company in 
excess of its insurance may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s 
business. Vehicle manufacturers are also increasingly requiring their outside 
suppliers to guarantee or warrant their products and bear the costs of repair 
and replacement of such products under new vehicle warranties. A vehicle 
manufacturer may attempt to hold the Company responsible for some, or all, 
of the repair or replacement costs of defective products under new vehicle 
warranties, when the product supplied did not perform as represented. Ac-
cordingly, the future costs of warranty claims by the customers may be ma-
terial. However, we believe our established reserves are adequate to cover 
potential warranty settlements. Autoliv’s warranty reserves are based upon 
the Company’s best estimates of amounts necessary to settle future and ex-
isting claims. The Company regularly evaluates the appropriateness of these 
reserves, and adjusts them when appropriate. However, the final amounts 
determined to be due related to these matters could differ materially from the 
Company’s recorded estimates.
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18 Retirement Plans

Defined Contribution Plans
Many of the Company’s employees are covered by government sponsored 
pension and welfare programs. Under the terms of these programs, the 
Company makes periodic payments to various government agencies. In ad-
dition, in some countries the Company sponsors or participates in certain 
non-governmental defined contribution plans. Contributions to multi-employer 
plans for the year ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were $2.4 mil-
lion, $2.7 million and $3.1 million, respectively. Contributions to defined con-
tribution plans for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 were 
$16.1 million, $15.2 million and $16.1 million, respectively.

Defined Benefit Plans
On December 31, 2006, the Company adopted the recognition, disclosure 
and measurement provisions of FAS-158 which requires the funded status 
(i.e., the difference between the fair value of plan assets and the projected 
benefit obligations) of the Company’s defined benefit pension and other post 
retirement benefit plans to be recognized in the December 31, 2006 state-
ment of financial position, with a corresponding adjustment to Accumulated 
other comprehensive income, net of tax. The adjustment to Accumulated 
other comprehensive income at adoption represents the net unrecognized 
actuarial losses, prior service costs, and transition obligation remaining from 
the measurement and recognition provisions of FAS-87 which required these 
items to be netted against the plan’s funded status. These amounts will then 
be subsequently recognized as net periodic pension costs. Actuarial gains 
and losses arising in subsequent periods not recognized as net periodic pen-
sion costs will be recognized as a component of other comprehensive income 
and then taken in as a component of net periodic pension expense on the 
same basis as similar amounts reflected at adoption.      

The impact of adopting the provisions of FAS-158 at December 31, 2006 
is disclosed in the table below. The adoption of FAS-158 had no effect on the 
Company’s consolidated statement of income for 2006 or any prior period 
presented and will not affect the income in future periods. The effect of recog-
nizing the additional liability for 2006 is included in the “Adjustments” column. 
The column “Before application” illustrates how the pension obligations as of 
year end 2006 would have been reported before applying FAS-158.

Incremental Effect of FAS-158 on the Total Retirement Obligations 
 December 31, 2006

 Before  After 
 application Adjustments application

Pension liability $65.9 $27.9 $93.8
Other Post Employment Benefits
   (OPEB) liability 24.8 (0.5) 24.3
Total liability $90.7 $27.4 $118.1
Accumulated other
   comprehensive income (OCI) 13.3 27.4 40.7
Deferred income tax receivable (4.4) (8.7) (13.1)
Stockholders’ equity 
   (OCI, net of tax) $8.9 $18.7 $27.6

The Company has a number of defined benefit pension plans, both contribu-
tory and non-contributory, in the U.S., Australia, Canada, Germany, France, 
Japan, Mexico, Sweden, South Korea, India, Turkey, Philippines and the Unit-
ed Kingdom. There are funded as well as unfunded plan arrangements which 
provide retirement benefits to both U.S. and non-U.S. participants. The main 
plan is the U.S. plan for which the benefits are based on an average of the em-
ployee’s earnings in the years preceding retirement and on credited service. 
The Company has closed participation in the Autoliv ASP, Inc. Pension Plan 
to exclude those employees hired after December 31, 2003. The Company’s 
non-U.S. defined benefit plan with the main obligations is the U.K. plan. The 
Company has closed participation in the U.K. defined benefit plan for all em-
ployees hired after April 30, 2003. The U.K. benefits are based on an aver-
age of the employee’s earnings in the last three years preceding retirement 
and on credited service. Members in the U.K. plan contribute to the plan at 
the rate of 9% of pensionable salaries. 

The new minimum funding requirements of the U.S. Pension Protection Act of 
2006 did not have a significant impact on Autoliv, mainly since Autoliv adopted 
a new funding policy in 2005 for the U. S. plans. Autoliv has furthermore, in 
consultation with the relevant plan fiduciaries, revised its approach to invest-
ing global pension assets. From 2006 onwards, the level of equity exposure 
will be reduced. This move takes into account the increasing maturity of the 
U.K. pension plan and will reduce volatility in both balance sheet and income 
statement figures for pensions going forward.

The estimated prior service credit for the U.S. defined benefit pension plans 
that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit 
cost over the next fiscal year is $1.0 million. There are no net gains or loss-
es to be amortized. Net periodic benefit cost associated with these U.S. 
plans was $6.5 million in 2007 and is expected to be around $3.5 million in 
2008. The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the non-U.S. de-
fined benefit pension plans that will be amortized from other comprehen-
sive income into net benefit cost over the next fiscal year are $0.2 and $0.1 
million respectively. Net periodic benefit cost associated with these non-
U.S. plans was $15.6 million in 2007 and is expected to be around $12.1 
million in 2008. The net periodic benefit cost increased by $2.2 million dur-
ing 2007 due to pension benefits that became fully accrued when Mr. Lars 
Westerberg retired as President and Chief Executive Officer of Autoliv, Inc. 
on April 1, 2007 instead of June 2008 as originally planned. These pension 
costs are reported as special termination benefits in the table below. The 
amortization of the net actuarial loss is made over the estimated remaining 
service lives of the plan participants, ten years for U.S. and 6-26 years for 
non-U.S participants, varying between the different countries depending on 
the age of the work force.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost Associated with the Defined Benefit Retirement Plans

  U.S.   Non-U.S. 
 2007 2006  2005 2007 2006 2005

Service cost $6.6 $6.7 $9.9 $9.3 $8.9 $9.0
Interest cost 8.4 7.9 7.6 5.6 4.3 4.1
Expected return on plan assets  (8.9) (8.4) (6.8) (2.9) (2.4) (2.2)
Amortization of prior service costs 0.1 0.1 0.5 0.1 0.4 0.1
Amortization of actuarial loss  0.3 1.4 0.4 1.3 1.2 0.9
Special termination benefits – – – 2.2 – –
Other – – – (0.0) 0.1 –
Net periodic benefit cost $6.5 $7.7 $11.6 $15.6 $12.5 $11.9
Increase/(decrease) in minimum liability
   included in other comprehensive income n/a n/a – n/a n/a $(0.1)
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Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 
as of December 31 (before tax)

 U.S. Non-U.S.
 2007 2006 2007 2006

Net actuarial loss (gain) $7.2 $18.8 $10.3 $21.8
Prior service cost (credit) (9.0) 0.5 0.3 0.1
Total accumulated other comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(1.8) $19.3 $10.6 $21.9

Pension Plans for which ABO Exceeds the Fair Value of Plan Assets as 
of December 31 

  U.S. Non-U.S. 
  2007 2007

Projected Benefit Obligation (PBO) n/a $109.9
Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) n/a 93.8
Fair value of plan assets n/a $51.0
 

Assumptions used to determine the Benefit Obligations  
as of December 31

 U.S. Non-U.S.
%, weighted average 2007 2006 2007 2006

Discount rate 6.40 5.75 2-11 2.25-8.5
Rate of increases 
   in compensation level 4.00 4.00 2.25-8 2-7
 

Changes in Benefit Obligations and Plan  
Assets for the Periods Ended December 31

 U.S. Non-U.S.
 2007 2006 2007 2006

Benefit obligation at
   beginning of year $152.6 $147.4 $120.0 $98.6
Service cost 6.6 6.7 9.4 8.9
Interest cost 8.4 7.9 5.6 4.3
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate (9.5) (3.3) (10.3) (1.5)
   Experience (1.4) 2.7 (1.7) 2.9
   Other assumption changes – 1.7 1.6 (0.6) 
Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.3
Plan amendments (9.4) (2.5) 0.4 2.4
Benefits paid (10.1) (8.0) (4.2) (4.6)
Settlements and curtailments – – (0.6) (0.7)
Special termination benefits – – 2.2 –
Other – – (0.0) 0.8
Translation difference – – 6.1 9.2
Benefit obligation at end of year $137.2 $152.6 $128.7 $120.0
Fair value of plan assets at 
   beginning of year $122.7 $116.5 $56.1 $42.3
Actual return on plan assets 9.3 14.1 3.0 2.7
Company contributions 9.1 0.1 14.7 10.7
Plan participants’ contributions – – 0.2 0.3
Benefits paid (10.1) (8.0) (4.1) (4.6)
Settlements – – (0.2) (0.7)
Other – – (0.2) 0.8
Translation difference – – 2.1 4.6
Fair value of plan assets at year end $131.0 $122.7 $71.6 $56.1
Accrued retirement benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(6.2) $(29.9) $(57.1) $(63.9)

The short-term portion of the pension liability is not significant.

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income for the Periods 
Ended December 31 (before tax)

 U.S. Non-U.S.
 2007 2006 2007 2006

 Total retirement benefit recognized in 
   Accumulated other comprehensive   
   income at beginning of year $19.3 n/a $21.9     n/a
Net actuarial loss (gain) (11.3) $18.8 (10.6) $21.8
Prior service cost (credit) (9.4) 0.5 0.4 0.1
Amortization of prior service costs (0.1) – (0.1) –
Amortization of actuarial loss (0.3) – (1.5) –
Translation difference – – 0.5 –
Total retirement benefit recognized in 
  Accumulated other comprehensive   
   income at end of year $(1.8) $19.3   $10.6 $21.9

The Company, in consultation with its actuarial advisors, determines certain 
key assumptions to be used in calculating the projected benefit obligation 
and annual pension expense.

The discount rate for the U.S. plan has been set based on the rates of return 
on high-quality fixed-income investments currently available at the measure-
ment date and expected to be available during the period the benefits will be 
paid. In particular, the yields on bonds rated AA or better on the measurement 
date have been used to set the discount rate. The discount rate for the U.K. 
plan has been set based on the weighted average yields on long-term high-
grade corporate bonds and is determined by reference to financial markets 
on the measurement date. 

The expected rate of increase in compensation levels and long-term rate 
of return on plan assets are determined based on a number of factors and 
must take into account long-term expectations and reflect the financial envi-
ronment in the respective local market. 

From 2006 and on the level of equity exposure is targeted at approximately 
65%. The investment objective is to provide an attractive risk-adjusted return 
that will ensure the payment of benefits while protecting against the risk of 
substantial investment losses. Correlations among the asset classes are used 
to identify an asset mix that Autoliv believes will provide the most attractive 
returns. Long-term return forecasts for each asset class using historical data 
and other qualitative considerations to adjust for projected economic fore-
casts are used to set the expected rate of return for the entire portfolio. The 
Company assumes a long-term rate of return on the U.S. plan assets of 7.5% 
for calculating the 2007 expense.

The Company has assumed a long-term rate of return on the non-U.S. plan 
assets in a range of 2.25-6.75% for 2007. The non-U.S. plan with the majority 
of the plan assets is the closed U.K. plan. 

Assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost for years ended December 31

  U.S.      Non-U.S. 
%, weighted average 2007 2006 2005 2007  2006  2005

Discount rate 5.75 5.50 6.00 2.25-8.5 2-8.5 2-9
Rate of increases in compensation level 4.00 4.00 3.50 2-7 2.5-10 2-10
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.50 7.50 8.00 2.25-6.75 1.5-7 2.5-7

The accumulated benefit obligation for the U.S. non-contributory defined 
benefit pension plans was $112.3 million and $122.5 million at December 31, 
2007 and 2006, respectively. The accumulated benefit obligation for the non-
U.S. defined benefit pension plans was $111.6 million and $101.3 million at 
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

The pension plans for which the accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is in 
excess of the plan assets with the major amounts are the following countries: 
France, Germany, Japan, Sweden and the U.K. 
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In order to meet the Company’s target funding level – the Accumulated Benefit 
Obligation – Autoliv made contributions to the U.S. plan during 2007 amount-
ing to $9.1 million and in 2006 to $0.1 million. The Company expects to con-
tribute $5.1 million to its U.S. pension plan in 2008 and is currently projecting 
a funding level of $5.1 million in the years thereafter. For the UK plan, which 
is the most significant non-U.S. pension plan, the Company expects to con-
tribute $3.4 million annually in 2008 - 2010 and is currently projecting a falling 
funding level down to $0.4 million in the years thereafter.

Fair value of total plan assets for years ended December 31

Assets category in %, U.S. Non-U.S.
weighted average  Target allocation 2007 2006 2007 2006
Equity securities 65 67 67 19 13
Debt instruments 35 33 33 75 58
Other – – – 6 29
Total 100  100 100 100 100

The estimated future benefit payments for the pension benefits reflect ex-
pected future service, as appropriate. The amount of benefit payments in a 
given year may vary from the projected amount, especially for the U.S. plan 
since this plan pays the majority of benefits as a lump sum.

Changes in Benefit Obligations and Plan Assets as of December 31

 2007 2006

Benefit obligation at
   beginning of year $24.2 $23.3
Service cost 1.2 1.2
Interest cost 1.3 1.3
Actuarial (gain) loss due to:
   Change in discount rate (2.0) (0.8)
   Experience (0.2) 0.9
   Other assumption changes 1.0 (0.7)
Benefits paid (1.0) (1.0)
Employee contributions 0.4 - 
Benefit obligation at end of year $24.9 $24.2

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $– $–
Company contributions 1.0 1.0
Benefits paid (1.0) (1.0)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  $– $–
Accrued postretirement benefit cost 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(24.9) $(24.2)

The liability for postretirement benefits other than pensions is classified as 
other non-current liabilities in the balance sheet. The short-term portion of the 
liability for postretirement benefits other than pensions is not significant.

Components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income as of 
 December 31 (before tax)

 U.S.  Non-U.S.
 2007 2006 2007 2006

Net actuarial loss (gain) $(1.3) $0.2 $– $–
Prior service cost (credit) (0.6) (0.7) 0.2 –
Total accumulated other comprehensive income 
   recognized in the balance sheet $(1.9) $(0.5) $0.2 $–

For measuring end-of-year obligations at December 31, 2007, health care 
trend is not needed due to the fixed-cost nature of the benefits provided in 
2008 and beyond. For U.S. employees retiring after December 31, 1992, the 
Company’s policy is to increase retiree contributions so that the annual per 
capita cost contribution remains constant at the level incurred in the year 
2000. After 2006, all retirees receive a fixed dollar subsidy toward the cost of 
their health benefits. The subsidy will not increase in future years.

The weighted average discount rate to determine the postretirement ben-
efit obligation was 6.40% in 2007 and 5.75% in 2006. The average discount 
rate used in determining the postretirement benefit cost was 5.75% in 2007, 
5.50% in 2006 and 6.00% in 2005.

A one percentage point increase or decrease in the annual health care cost 
trend rates would have had no significant impact on the Company’s net ben-
efit cost for the current period or on the accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation at December 31, 2007. This is due to the fixed-dollar nature of the 
benefits provided under the plan.

The estimated net loss and prior service cost for the postretirement benefit 
plans that will be amortized from other comprehensive income into net benefit 
cost over the next fiscal year are less than $0.1 million combined.

The estimated future benefit payments for the postretirement benefits reflect 
expected future service as appropriate.

Postretirement Benefits   Expected Payments

2008  $ 0.9
2009  1.0
2010  1.0
2011  1.2
2012  1.3
Years 2013-2017  $ 8.9

Pension Benefits   
Expected Payments U.S. Non-U.S.

2008 $10.3 $3.5
2009 10.0 4.8
2010 10.1 5.1
2011 10.7 6.1
2012 10.9 7.1
Years 2013-2017 $66.3 $44.5

Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions
The Company currently provides postretirement health care and life insur-
ance benefits to most of its U.S. retirees. Such benefits in other countries are 
included in the tables below, but are not significant.

In general, the terms of the plans provide that U.S. employees who retire 
after attaining age 55, with five years of service (15 years after December 31, 
2006), are eligible for continued health care and life insurance coverage. De-
pendent health care and life insurance coverage is also available. Most retir-
ees contribute toward the cost of health care coverage with the contributions 
generally varying based on service. In June 1993, a provision was adopted 
which caps the level of the Company’s subsidy at the amount in effect as of 
the year 2000 for most employees who retire after December 31, 1992. Ad-
ditionally, the plan was further amended in 2003 to restrict participation to 
retirees who were eligible retirees or active participants in the Autoliv ASP, 
Inc. Pension Plan as of December 31, 2003. Effective January 1, 2007, the 
plan provides a company-paid subsidy based on service for all current and 
future retirees. The amount of the company-paid subsidy is closed and will 
not change in the future. Generally, employees will need 15 years of service 
to qualify for a benefit from the plan in the future. The effect of these chang-
es is reflected in the December 31, 2006 measurement of the Accumulated 
Postretirement Benefit Obligation.

At present, there is no pre-funding of the postretirement benefits recog-
nized under FAS-106. The Company has reviewed the impact of the Medicare 
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (Medicare 
Part D) on its financial statements under FAS-106. Although the Plan may 
currently qualify for a subsidy from Medicare, the amount of the subsidy is so 
small that the expenses incurred to file for the subsidy may exceed the subsidy 
itself. Therefore the impact of any subsidy is ignored in the FAS-106 calcula-
tions as Autoliv will not be filing for any reimbursement from Medicare.  

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost Associated with  
the Postretirement benefit plans other than pensions

Period ended December 31 2007 2006 2005
Service cost $1.2 $1.2 $1.2
Interest cost 1.3 1.3 1.2
Net periodic benefit cost $2.5 $2.5 $2.4
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19 Segment Information

Autoliv, Inc. is a U.S. registered company where the revenues are generated by 
sales of safety systems to the automotive industry. The automotive industry is 
made up of a relatively small number of customers. A significant disruption in 
the industry, a significant change in demand or pricing or a dramatic change 
in technology could have a material adverse effect on the Company. 

Automotive safety products (mainly various airbag and seatbelt products 
and components) are integrated complete systems that function together  
with common electronic and sensing systems, and hence are considered as 
one business segment. 

The customers consist of all major European, U.S. and Asian automobile 
manufacturers. Sales to individual customers representing 10% or more of 
net sales were: 
In 2007: Ford 18% (incl. Volvo Cars with 6%, Mazda, etc.); Re-
nault 12% (incl. Nissan); GM 11% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.); and  
Volkswagen 10%.
In 2006: Ford 20% (incl. Volvo Cars with 6%, Mazda, etc.); Re-
nault 12% (incl. Nissan); GM 12% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.); and  
Volkswagen 10%.
In 2005: Ford 21% (incl. Volvo Cars with 7%, Mazda, etc.); Renault 14%  
(incl. Nissan); and GM 13% (incl. Opel, Holden, SAAB, etc.)

The Company has concluded that its operating segments meet the criteria, 
stated in FAS-131 “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Relat-
ed Information”, for aggregation for reporting purposes into a single operat-
ing segment.

Net sales 2007 2006 2005

North America $1,711  $1,721 $1,720
Europe 3,661  3,251 3,392
Japan 627  559 535
Rest of the World 770 657 558
Total $6,769  $6,188 $6,205

Long-lived Assets 2007  2006 2005

North America $1,938  $1,962 $1,931
Europe 838  759 740
Japan 122  118 103
Rest of the World 312  173 129
Total  $3,210 $3,012 $2,903

The Company’s operations are located primarily in Europe and the  
United States. Exports from the U.S. to other regions amounted to approxi-
mately $311 million, $387 million and $410 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005 
respectively. Net sales in the U.S. amounted to $1,436 million, $1,549 million 
and $1,585 million in 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. 

20 Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) 1)

 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

2007
Net sales $1,699.2 $1,728.3 $1,557.2 $1,784.3
Gross profit 337.4 343.7 302.3 347.2
Income before taxes 113.2 88.82) 95.0 149.2
Net income 73.2 57.52) 63.2 94.0
Earnings per share
- basic $0.91 $0.732) $0.82   $1.25
- diluted $0.91 $0.722) $0.81 $1.25
Dividends paid $0.37 $0.39 $0.39 $0.39

2006
Net sales $1,567.9 $1,607.9 $1,410.6 $1,601.6
Gross profit 330.0 343.3 278.2 313.7
Income before taxes 133.1 132.4 91.8 124.1
Net income 94.6 82.8 121.73) 103.24)

Earnings per share
- basic $1.13 $1.00 $1.493) $1.284)

- diluted $1.13 $1.00 $1.483) $1.274

Dividends paid $0.32 $0.32 $0.35 $0.37

1) The Company’s reporting periods in this report consist of thirteen-week periods, ending on the Fri-
day closest to the last day of the calendar month. 2) Increase in legal reserve decreased income before 
taxes by $30 million, net income by $20 million and earnings per share by 26 cents. 3) Release of tax 
reserves and other discrete tax items increased net income by $66 million and earnings per share by 
80 cents. 4) Release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items increased net income by $24 million 
and earnings per share by 30 cents.

Exchange Rates for Key Currencies vs. U.S. dollar

 2007 2007 2006 2006 2005 2005 2004 2004 2003 2003 
 Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end Average Year end
EUR 1.368 1.465 1.255 1.317 1.243 1.186 1.241 1.362 1.127 1.250
SEK 0.148 0.155 0.136 0.146 0.134 0.126 0.136 0.151 0.123 0.137
JPY/1000 8.491 8.844 8.606 8.410 9.081 8.526 9.239 9.641 8.620 9.347
KRW/1000 1.074 1.068 1.045 1.076 0.984 0.997 0.872 0.960 0.830 0.835
MXN 0.092 0.091 0.092 0.092 0.092 0.094 0.089 0.089 0.093 0.089  

Long-lived assets in the U.S. amounted to $1,752 million, $1,780 million and 
$1,801 million for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. For 2007, $1,522 million 
(2006 $1,533 million) of the long-lived assets in the U.S. refers to intangible 
assets, principally from acquisition goodwill. 

The Company has attributed net sales to the geographic area based on 
the location of the entity selling the final product.

Sales by product 2007  2006 2005

Airbags and associated 
   products1) $4,377  $4,085 $4,116
Seatbelts and associated 
   products2) 2,392  2,103 2,089
Total $6,769  $6,188 $6,205

1) Includes sales of Steering wheels, Electronics, Inflators and Initiators 
2) Includes sales of Seat components 
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Auditor’s Reports

Report of Independent Registered  
Public Accounting Firm 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc., 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of 
Autoliv, Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consoli-
dated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each 
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our re-
sponsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Pub-
lic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing 
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by manage-
ment, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We 
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, 
in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Autoliv, Inc. at 

December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated results of its operations 
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 
31, 2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Autoliv, Inc.’s internal 
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria 
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Commit-
tee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report 
dated February 20, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

As discussed in Notes 1 and 4 to the financial statements effective January 
1, 2007 the Company changed its method of accounting for uncertainty in in-
come taxes. Also, as discussed in Notes 1 and 18 to the financial statements, 
in 2006 the Company changed its method of accounting for stock compensa-
tion, and defined benefit pension and other post retirement plans. 

Stockholm, Sweden 
February 20, 2008     Ernst & Young AB

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Autoliv, Inc., 
We have audited Autoliv, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as 

of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Inte-
grated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Autoliv, Inc.’s management is 
responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, 
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial re-
porting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Con-
trol over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards re-
quire that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all 
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of the inter-
nal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weak-
ness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
the internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other 
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accor-
dance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that 
(1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accu-
rately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 

company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded 
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable as-
surance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, 
use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect 
on the financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting 
may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation 
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may 
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of 
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, Autoliv, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective 
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on 
the COSO criteria. 

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public 
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated bal-
ance sheets of Autoliv Inc. as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the re-
lated consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash 
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of 
Autoliv, Inc. and our report dated February 20, 2008 expressed an unquali-
fied opinion thereon. 

Stockholm, Sweden   
February 20, 2008    Ernst & Young AB

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 



Autoliv is a Delaware holding corporation with 

its principal executive of�ce in Stockholm, 

 Sweden. 

In addition to federal or state law and regu-

lations, Autoliv is governed primarily by the fol-

lowing documents. All of them are available on 

Autoliv’s corporate website www.autoliv.com 

under Investors/Governance.

r� 3FTUBUFE�$FSUJàDBUF�PG�*ODPSQPSBUJPO

 of Autoliv, Inc.

r� 3FTUBUFE�#Z�MBXT�PG�"VUPMJW�*OD�

r� $PSQPSBUF�(PWFSOBODF�(VJEFMJOFT

r� $IBSUFST�PG�UIF�TUBOEJOH�$PNNJUUFFT�

� PG�UIF�#PBSE

r� $PEF�PG�#VTJOFTT�$POEVDU�BOE�&UIJDT

r� $PEF�PG�$POEVDU�BOE�&UIJDT�GPS�%JSFDUPST

r� $PEF�PG�$POEVDU�BOE�&UIJDT�

 for Senior Of�cers

Shareholders’ Meeting
5IF� 4IBSFIPMEFST�� .FFUJOH� FMFDUT� UIF� #PBSE�

of Directors. Shareholders also adopted  the 

Autoliv Inc. Stock Incentive Plan in 1997 and as 

further amended.  

At the Shareholders’ Meeting each sharehold-

er is entitled to one vote for each share of com-

mon stock. Shareholders can vote on the Internet 

PS�CZ�TFOEJOH�QSPYZ�DBSET�UP�UIF�$PNQBOZ��

Only such business shall be conducted at a 

Shareholders’ Meeting that has been properly 

brought before the meeting. Stockholder pro-

posals for the 2009 annual meeting must be re-

DFJWFE�CZ�UIF�$PNQBOZ�OP�MBUFS�UIBO�/PWFNCFS�

10, 2008. 

The Board
5IF� #PBSE� JT� FOUSVTUFE� XJUI� BOE� SFTQPOTJCMF�

for, overseeing the assets and business affairs 

PG�UIF�$PNQBOZ��

5P�BTTJTU�UIF�#PBSE�JO�UIF�FYFSDJTF�PG�JUT�SF-

TQPOTJCJMJUJFT� JU� IBT� BEPQUFE�$PSQPSBUF�(PW-

ernance Guidelines which re�ect its commit-

ment to monitor the effectiveness of policy and 

EFDJTJPO�NBLJOH�CPUI� BU� UIF�#PBSE� BOE�NBO-

agement level. The purpose is to enhance long-

term shareholder value and to assure the vitality 

of Autoliv for its customers, employees and oth-

er individuals and organizations that depend on 

UIF�$PNQBOZ�

5P� BDIJFWF� UIJT� QVSQPTF� UIF� #PBSE� NPOJUPST�

UIF�QFSGPSNBODF�PG�UIF�$PNQBOZ�JO�SFMBUJPO�UP�

its goals, strategy, competitors, etc., and the 

�QFSGPSNBODF� PG� UIF� $IJFG� &YFDVUJWF� �0GàDFS�

	$&0
� BOE� QSPWJEFT� DPOTUSVDUJWF� BEWJDF� BOE�

feedback.

5IF�#PBSE�JT�GSFF�UP�DIPPTF�JUT�DIBJSNBO�JO�

B�XBZ�UIBU�JU�EFFNT�CFTU�GPS�UIF�$PNQBOZ�BOE�

hence does not require the separation of the of-

àDFT�PG�UIF�$IBJSNBO�PG�UIF�#PBSE�BOE�UIF�$&0��

5IF�#PBSE�IBT� GVMM� BDDFTT� UP�NBOBHFNFOU�

and to Autoliv’s outside advisors. The work 

PG� UIF�#PBSE� JT� SFQPSUFE�BOOVBMMZ� JO� UIF�QSPYZ�

statement (see www.autoliv.com/investor/gov-

FSOBODF
��

"DDPSEJOH� UP� UIF� $FSUJàDBUF� PG� *ODPSQPSB-

tion, the number of directors may be �xed from 

UJNF�UP�UJNF�FYDMVTJWFMZ�CZ�UIF�#PBSE�BOE�UIF�EJ-

rectors are divided into three classes for terms 

PG�UISFF�ZFBST��5IF�#PBSE�CFMJFWFT�UIBU�JU�TIPVME�

generally have no fewer than nine and no more 

UIBO�UXFMWF�EJSFDUPST��$VSSFOUMZ�UIF�#PBSE�DPO-

sists of 12 directors.

Directors
Directors are expected to spend the time and 

effort necessary to properly discharge their re-

sponsibilities, and accordingly, regularly attend 

NFFUJOHT�PG�UIF�#PBSE�BOE�DPNNJUUFFT�PO�XIJDI�

directors sit. Directors are also expected to  

attend the Annual General Meeting of Share-

holders.

5IF� #PBSE� JT� SFTQPOTJCMF� GPS� OPNJOBUJOH�

NFNCFST�GPS�FMFDUJPO�UP�UIF�#PBSE�BOE�GPS�àMMJOH�

WBDBODJFT�PO�UIF�#PBSE�UIBU�NBZ�PDDVS�CFUXFFO�

annual meetings of shareholders.

5IF� /PNJOBUJOH� BOE� $PSQPSBUF� (PWFSO-

BODF�$PNNJUUFF� JT� SFTQPOTJCMF� GPS� JEFOUJGZJOH�

screening and recommending candidates to 

UIF�#PBSE��5IF�$PNNJUUFF�XJMM�DPOTJEFS�EJSFDUPS�

candidates nominated by shareholders.

/PNJOFFT� GPS� EJSFDUPS� BSF� TFMFDUFE� PO� UIF�

basis of many factors, for example experience, 

knowledge, skill, expertise, integrity, under-

standing of Autoliv’s business environment and 

willingness to devote adequate time and effort 

UP�UIF�#PBSE�

5IF�#PBSE�NVTU�CF�DPNQSJTFE�PG�B�NBKPSJ-

ty of directors who qualify as independent un-

EFS�UIF�MJTUJOH�TUBOEBSET�PG�UIF�/FX�:PSL�4UPDL�

&YDIBOHF��$VSSFOUMZ�BMM�CPBSE�NFNCFST�FYDFQU�

GPS�UIF�DVSSFOU�BOE�GPSNFS�$&0T�BSF�JOEFQFOE-

FOU��/PSNBMMZ�OP�NPSF� UIBO�POF�NBOBHFNFOU�

FYFDVUJWF�NBZ� TFSWF� PO� UIF� #PBSE�� $VSSFOUMZ�

UIF�$&0�JT�UIF�POMZ�FYFDVUJWF�NBOBHFS�XIP�BMTP�

TFSWFT�PO�UIF�#PBSE�

0O�BO�BOOVBM�CBTJT�UIF�#PBSE�SFWJFXT�UIF�SF-

MBUJPOT�UIBU�FBDI�EJSFDUPS�IBT�XJUI�UIF��$PNQBOZ�

to assess independence. Directors who are 

BMTP�FNQMPZFFT�PG�UIF�$PNQBOZ�BSF�HFOFSBMMZ�

FYQFDUFE�UP�SFTJHO�GSPN�UIF�#PBSE�BU�UIF�TBNF�

UJNF� BT� UIFJS� FNQMPZNFOU� XJUI� UIF� $PNQBOZ�

ends.

/FX� EJSFDUPST� BSF� QSPWJEFE� JOGPSNBUJPO�

about Autoliv’s business and operations, strate-

gic plans, signi�cant �nancial, accounting and 

risk management issues, compliance programs 

and various codes and guidelines.

Board Compensation
"�EJSFDUPS�XIP�JT�BMTP�BO�PGàDFS�PG�UIF�$PNQBOZ�

does not receive additional compensation for 

service as a director. 

$VSSFOU� #PBSE� DPNQFOTBUJPO� JT� EJTDMPTFE�

in Autoliv’s Proxy Statement together with the 

compensation of the �ve most highly compen-

sated senior executives. Directors’ fees are the 

only compensation that the members of the 

�"VEJU�$PNNJUUFF�DBO�SFDFJWF�GSPN�"VUPMJW�

5IF�/PNJOBUJOH�BOE�$PSQPSBUF�(PWFSOBODF�

$PNNJUUFF� TQPOTPST� BO� BOOVBM� TFMG�BTTFTT-

NFOU�PG�UIF�#PBSE�T�QFSGPSNBODF�BT�XFMM�BT�UIF�

QFSGPSNBODF�PG�FBDI�DPNNJUUFF�PG� UIF�#PBSE��

The results of such assessments are discussed 

XJUI�UIF�GVMM�#PBSE�BOE�FBDI�DPNNJUUFF�

Board Meetings
There shall be �ve regularly scheduled meetings 

PG�UIF�#PBSE�FBDI�ZFBS�BOE�BU�MFBTU�POF�SFHVMBS-

MZ�TDIFEVMFE�NFFUJOH�PG�UIF�#PBSE�NVTU�CF�IFME�

quarterly.

5IF�NFFUJOHT�PG�UIF�#PBSE�HFOFSBMMZ�GPMMPX�B�

master agenda which is discussed and agreed 

in the beginning of each year, but any director is 

GSFF�UP�SBJTF�BOZ�PUIFS�TVCKFDUT�

The independent directors normally meet 

JO�FYFDVUJWF�TFTTJPOT�JO�DPOKVODUJPO�XJUI�FBDI�

NFFUJOH�PG�UIF�#PBSE�BOE�TIBMM�NFFU�BU�MFBTU�GPVS�

This section should be read in conjunction with the proxy statement, which 
is available at www.autoliv.com. Please also refer to pages 39-42 about Risk 
Management and page 44 about Internal Control in this Annual Report. 
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times a year. The lead independent director is 

presently  Mr. S. Jay Stewart.

/PSNBMMZ�UIF�#PBSE�WJTJUT�POF�PS�NPSF�PG�UIF�

$PNQBOZ�T�CVTJOFTT�PQFSBUJPOT�FWFSZ�ZFBS��*O�

�����UIF�#PBSE�WJTJUFE�UIF�DPNQBOZ�T�$IJOFTF�

facilities in Shanghai.

Committee Matters
All members of the standing board committees 

BSF�EFUFSNJOFE�CZ�UIF�#PBSE�UP�RVBMJGZ�BT�JOEF-

pendent directors. The committees operate un-

der written charters and issue yearly reports 

that are disclosed in the proxy statement. 

There are three standing committees of the 

#PBSE��"VEJU�$PNNJUUFF�$PNQFOTBUJPO�$PN-

NJUUFF�BOE�/PNJOBUJOH�BOE�$PSQPSBUF�(PWFSO-

BODF�$PNNJUUFF�

Audit Committee
5IF�"VEJU�$PNNJUUFF�BQQPJOUT�JO�JUT�TPMF�EJT-

DSFUJPO�	TVCKFDU�UP�TIBSFIPMEFS�SBUJàDBUJPO
�UIF�

�rm of independent auditors that audit the an-

nual �nancial statements. The committee is 

also responsible for the compensation, reten-

tion and oversight of the work of the external 

auditors as well as for any special assignments 

given to the auditors. 

The committee also reviews the annual  

audit and its scope, including the independ-

ent auditors’ letter of comments and manage-

ment’s responses thereto; possible violations 

of Autoliv’s business ethics and con�icts of in-

UFSFTU� QPMJDJFT�� BOZ� NBKPS� BDDPVOUJOH� DIBOH-

FT�NBEF�PS�DPOUFNQMBUFE��BQQSPWF�BOZ�3FMBU-

ed Person Transaction; and the effectiveness 

and ef�ciency of Autoliv’s internal audit staff. 

In addition, the committee con�rms that no  

SFTUSJDUJPOT� IBWF� CFFO� JNQPTFE� CZ� $PNQBOZ�

personnel in terms of the scope of the independ-

ent auditors’ examinations. 

&BDI�PG�UIF�"VEJU�$PNNJUUFF�NFNCFST�QPT-

sesses �nancial literacy and accounting or relat-

ed �nancial management expertise.

Three members are determined to qualify as 

audit committee �nancial experts.

Compensation Committee
5IF� $PNQFOTBUJPO� $PNNJUUFF� BEWJTFT� UIF�

#PBSE�XJUI�SFTQFDU�UP�UIF�DPNQFOTBUJPO�UP�CF�

paid to the directors and senior executives and 

BQQSPWFT�BOE�BEWJTFT�UIF�#PBSE�XJUI�SFTQFDU�UP�

the terms of contracts to be entered into with the 

senior executives. 

The committee also administers Autoliv’s in-

centive plans as well as perquisites and other 

bene�ts to the executive of�cers.

Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee
5IF� /PNJOBUJOH� BOE� $PSQPSBUF� (PWFSOBODF�

$PNNJUUFF�BTTJTUT�UIF�#PBSE�JO�JEFOUJGZJOH�QP-

UFOUJBM� DBOEJEBUFT� UP� UIF�#PBSE� SFWJFXJOH� UIF�

DPNQPTJUJPO�PG� UIF�#PBSE�BOE� JUT�DPNNJUUFFT�

NPOJUPSJOH�B�QSPDFTT�UP�BTTFTT�#PBSE�FGGFDUJWF-

ness and developing and implementing Autoliv’s 

$PSQPSBUF�(PWFSOBODF�(VJEFMJOFT��

The committee will consider stockholder 

OPNJOFFT�GPS�FMFDUJPO�UP�UIF�#PBSE�JG�UJNFMZ�BE-

vance written notice of such nominees is re-

DFJWFE�CZ�UIF�TFDSFUBSZ�PG�UIF�$PNQBOZ��

� � � � � /PNJOBUJOH���

 Independent�
� #PBSE� "VEJU� $PNQFOTBUJPO�
� $PSQ��(PW� /BUJPOBMJUZ

-BST�8FTUFSCFSH�� /P� ���� m� m� m� 48&

3PCFSU�8��"MTQBVHI��
� :FT� ���� ���� m� m� 64

+BO�$BSMTPO��
� /P� ���� m� m� m� 48&

4VOF�$BSMTTPO� :FT� ���� ���� m� m� 48&

8JMMJBN�&��+PIOTUPO�+S�� :FT� ���� m� ���� ���� 64

8BMUFS�,VOFSUI� :FT� ���� m� m� ���� (&3

(FPSHF�"��-PSDI� :FT� ���� m� ���� m� 64

-BST�/ZCFSH�
� :FT� ���� ���� ���� m� 48&

+BNFT�.��3JOHMFS� :FT� ���� m� ���� m� 64

Kazuhiko Sakamoto �
� :FT� ���� m� m� ���� +1/

4��+BZ�4UFXBSU� �:FT� ���� m� m� ���� 64

Per Welin�
� :FT� ���� ���� m� m� 48&

Leadership Development
5IF� #PBSE� JT� SFTQPOTJCMF� GPS� JEFOUJGZJOH�

poten tial candidates for, as well as selecting, 

UIF�$&0��

5IF�#PBSE�JT�BMTP�SFTQPOTJCMF�GPS�BO�BOOVBM�

QFSGPSNBODF�SFWJFX�PG�UIF�$&0�BOE�B�TVNNB-

ry report is discussed amongst independent 

directors in executive sessions and thereafter 

XJUI�UIF�$&0�

5IF�#PBSE�NVTU�QMBO�GPS�UIF�TVDDFTTJPO�UP�

UIF�QPTJUJPO�PG�UIF�$&0�BOE�CF�BTTJTUFE�CZ�UIF�

$&0�XIP�TIBMM�QSFQBSF�BOE�EJTUSJCVUF�UP�UIF�

#PBSE�BO�BOOVBM�SFQPSU�PO�TVDDFTTJPO�QMBO-

ning for senior of�cers.

5IF�#PBSE�NVTU�EFUFSNJOF�UIBU�TBUJTGBDUP-

ry systems are in effect for education, develop-

ment and succession of senior and mid-level 

management.

Ethical Codes
To maintain the highest legal and ethical stand-

BSET�UIF�#PBSE�IBT�BEPQUFE�UISFF�$PEFT�PG�

#VTJOFTT�$POEVDU�BOE�&UIJDT��5XP�PG�UIFN�BSF�

speci�c for senior of�cers and directors, re-

spectively, while the third code is general for 

all employees. 

&NQMPZFFT�BSF�FODPVSBHFE� UP� SFQPSU�BOZ�

violations of law or the Autoliv codes, and no 

individual will suffer retaliation for reporting in 

good faith violations of law or the codes.

3FQPSUT�DBO�CF�NBEF�UP�"VUPMJW�T�$PNQMJ-

BODF�$PVOTFM�	GPS�DPOUBDU�TFF�QBHF���
�PS�CZ�

DBMMJOH�UIF�$PSQPSBUF�$PNQMJBODF�i)PUMJOFu�m�

B�UPMM�GSFF�OVNCFS�JO�FBDI�DPVOUSZ�m�BOE�MFBWF�B�

message anonymously on the voice mail.

1) Attended meetings in relation to total possible meetings for each member. 2)  Under the rules of the New York Stock Exchange, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the SEC. 3) Note that the composition of the 
compensation committee was changed during the year. 4) Elected May 3. 5) Elected August 16. 6) Qualifies as audit committee financial expert. 
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Board of Directors

1. Lars Westerberg
$IBJSNBO�TJODF�"QSJM���������#PSO�������%JSFD-
UPS�TJODF�������&MFDUFE�VOUJM�������'PSNFS�$&0��

$IBJSNBO�PG�)VTRWBSOB�"#��%JSFDUPS�PG�1MBTUBM�

"#�44"#�BOE�7PMWP�"#��.�4D��BOE�##"��

2. Robert W. Alspaugh
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VOUJM� 
������ 'PSNFS� $&0� PG� ,1.(� *OUFSOBUJPOBM��

'PSNFS�%FQVUZ�$IBJSNBO�BOE�$00�PG�,1.(�T�

6�4��QSBDUJDF��##"�

3. Jan Carlson
1SFTJEFOU�BOE�$&0��#PSO�������%JSFDUPS�TJODF�

.BZ�������&MFDUFE�VOUJM�������'PSNFS�7JDF�1SFT-
JEFOU�&OHJOFFSJOH��'PSNFS�1SFTJEFOU�PG�"VUPMJW�

&VSPQF�"VUPMJW�&MFDUSPOJDT�BOE�PG�4""#�$PN-
bitech. M.Sc.

4. Sune Carlsson
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� 
VOUJM� ������ 'PSNFS� 1SFTJEFOU� BOE� $&0� PG� "#�

4,'��'PSNFS�&YFDVUJWF�7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�PG�"4&"�

"#�BOE�"##�-UE��$IBJSNBO�PG�"UMBT�$PQDP�"#��

%JSFDUPS�PG�*OWFTUPS�"#��.�4D�

5. William E. Johnston, Jr.
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VO-
UJM� ������ 'PSNFS� 1SFTJEFOU�$00� BOE�%JSFDUPS�

PG�.PSUPO� *OUFSOBUJPOBM� *OD��'PSNFS�$IBJSNBO�

PG�UIF�4VQFSWJTPSZ�#PBSE�PG�4BMJOT�&VSPQF�4�"��

'PSNFS�4FOJPS�7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�PG�3PIN���)BBT�

$P��%JSFDUPS�PG�6OJUSJO�*OD���.#"��

6. Walter Kunerth 
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VOUJM�

������ *OEVTUSZ� DPOTVMUBOU�� 'PSNFS�NFNCFS� PG�

4JFNFOT��$PSQPSBUF�&YFDVUJWF�#PBSE�BOE�1SFT-
ident of Siemens’ Automotive Systems Group. 
$IBJSNBO�PG�UIF�4VQFSWJTPSZ�#PBSET�PG�(ÕU[�"(�

and Paragon AG. Director of the Supervisory 
#PBSE�PG�(JMEFNFJTUFS�"(��.�4D��)POPSBSZ�1SP-
fessor.

7. George A. Lorch 
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VOUJM�

������'PSNFS�$IBJSNBO�1SFTJEFOU�BOE�$&0�PG�

"SNTUSPOH�8PSME�*OEVTUSJFT��$IBJSNBO�&NFSJUVT�

PG�"SNTUSPOH�)PMEJOHT� *OD��%JSFDUPS�PG�1à[FS�

*OD��8JMMJBNT�$PT�)4#$�/PSUI�"NFSJDB�)PME-
JOHT�$PNQBOZ�BOE�)4#$�'JOBODF��#�4D�

8. Lars Nyberg 
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VO-
UJM�������1SFTJEFOU�BOE�$&0�PG�5FMJB�4POFSB�"#��

$IBJSNBO� PG� %BUB$BSE�$PSQPSBUJPO�� 'PSNFS�

$IBJSNBO�BOE�$&0�PG�/$3�$PSQ��##"��

9. James M. Ringler
#PSO�������%JSFDUPS�TJODF�������&MFDUFE�VOUJM�������

$IBJSNBO�PG�5FSBEBUB�$PSQ��'PSNFS�7JDF�$IBJS-
NBO� PG� *MMJOPJT� 5PPM� 8PSLT� *OD�� 'PSNFS� $IBJS-
NBO�1SFTJEFOU�BOE�$&0�PG�1SFNBSL�*OUFSOBUJPO-
BM�*OD��%JSFDUPS�PG�%PX�$IFNJDBM�$PNQBOZ�'.$�

5FDIOPMPHJFT�*OD��."1*�BOE�$1$�$PSQPSBUJPO��

#�4D��BOE�.#"�

10. Kazuhiko Sakamoto
#PSO�������%JSFDUPS�TJODF�"VHVTU�������&MFDUFE�

VOUJM�������4FOJPS�&YFDVUJWF�7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�BOE�

.FNCFS�PG�UIF�#PBSE�PG�.BSVCFOJ�$PSQPSBUJPO��

(SBEVBUF�GSPN�UIF�,FJP�6OJWFSTJUZ�BOE�BUUFOE-
BODFT�UP�UIF�)BSWBSE�6OJWFSTJUZ�3FTFBSDI�*OTUJ-
tute for International Affairs.

11. S. Jay Stewart
-FBE� *OEFQFOEFOU� %JSFDUPS�� #PSO� ������ 
%JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VOUJM� ������

'PSNFS��$IBJSNBO�PG�"VUPMJW�*OD��'PSNFS�$IBJS-
NBO� BOE� $&0� PG� .PSUPO� *OUFSOBUJPOBM� *OD�� 
%JSFDUPS�PG�)4#$�/PSUI�"NFSJDB�)PMEJOHT�*OD��

BOE�,BQ4UPOF�1BQFS�BOE�1BDLBHJOH�$PSQ��#�4D��

BOE�.#"�

12. Per Welin 
#PSO� ������ %JSFDUPS� TJODF� ������ &MFDUFE� VOUJM�

������$IBJSNBO�PG�-�&�-VOECFSH�GÕSFUBHFO�"#��

.�4D��5FDIO��-JD��BOE�.#"��

1. 2. 3. 4. 5. 6.

7. 8. 9. 10. 11. 12.

Lars Westerberg 80,0001)

Robert W. Alspaugh 1,000
Jan Carlson 2,500
Sune Carlsson 5,303
William E. Johnston, Jr. 1,000
Walter Kunerth  0
George A. Lorch  303
Lars Nyberg  0
James M. Ringler 964
Kazuhiko Sakamoto  0
S. Jay Stewart  78,459
Per Welin 8,8492)

Total 178,378

“Director since” includes time as director of Autoliv AB and Morton International, Inc. Number of shares as of February 19, 2008. For any changes thereafter please refer to Autoliv’s corporate website or 
each director’s or manager’s filings with the SEC. These insider filings are also lodged with Finansinspektionen in Sweden. For information on the work of the Board, compensation to and presentations of 
directors, please refer to the proxy statement which is an integrated part of this annual report. 
1) Mr. Westerberg also holds 222,500 stock options from his time as President, 1999-2007.
2) Including  5,018 Deferred Stock Units
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Senior Management

1. Jan Carlson
1SFTJEFOU���$&0

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT�� �����

3FTUSJDUFE�4UPDL�6OJUT��� �����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT�� ������

2. Steven Fredin
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�&OHJOFFSJOH

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT�� ����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� �����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT�� ������

3. Halvar Jonzon
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�1VSDIBTJOH

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT�� ����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� �����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� �����

4. Magnus Lindquist
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�$IJFG�'JOBODJBM�0GàDFS

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT�� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� ����

5. Benoît Marsaud
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�.BOVGBDUVSJOH�$IJFG� 
Operating Of�cer
#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT��� ������

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT�� ������

1. 2. 3. 4. 5.

6. 7. 8. 9. 10.

6. Svante Mogefors
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�2VBMJUZ

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� �����

7. Mats Ödman
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�$PSQPSBUF�$PNNVOJDBUJPOT

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT��� �����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� �����

8. Jan Olsson
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�3FTFBSDI

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

4IBSFT��� ����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� �����

9. Hans-Göran Patring
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�)VNBO�3FTPVSDFT

#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

3FTUSJDUFE�TUPDL�VOJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� �����

10. Lars Sjöbring
7JDF�1SFTJEFOU�-FHBM�"GGBJST

(FOFSBM�$PVOTFM�BOE�4FDSFUBSZ

Master of Laws 
#PSO�������&NQMPZFE�����

3FTUSJDUFE�4UPDL�6OJUT��� ����

4UPDL�PQUJPOT��� ����

Number of shares, RSUs and stock options as of February 19, 2008. For presentations of Senior Management, please  
refer to the 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), www.sec.gov, or www.autoliv.com.



1) Manufacturing of seatbelt components; 2) Distribution of child seats, airbags, steering wheels and seatbelts; 
3) Start up; 4) Manufacturing of child seats; 5) Manufacturing of seat components; 6) Corporate head office.

FINANCIAL DEFINITIONS
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Location Manufacturing Other

Argentina 294 � �

Australia 283 � � � �    �

Belgium 32 2)

Brazil 649 � � � � �

Canada 681 � � �

China 2,995 � � � � � � � � �

Czech Republic 39 1) �

Estonia 935 � 1)    �

France 4,910 � � � � � � � � �

Germany 3,184 � � 1) �     �

Hungary 958 �

India 608 �    �

Indonesia 118 �

Italy 18 �

Japan 2,219 � � � � �  �     � �

Korea 538 � � �  �

Malaysia 351 � � �

Mexico 5,159 � � � �

Netherlands 120 � � �

Philippines 999 � �

Poland 2,346 � �

Romania 1,632 � � � � � � �

Russia 4 3)

South Africa 189 � � �

Spain 1,158 � � � �

Sweden 1,664 � � �
4) 
5) �     � 6)

Taiwan 71 � �

Thailand 1,053 � � �

Tunisia 2,675 � �

Turkey 1,234 � � � 1)  �  �

United Kingdom 834 � 1)

USA 4,533 � � � � � � � �

Capital Employed
Total shareholders’ equity and net debt.
Capital Expenditures
Investments in property, plant and equipment.
Days Inventory On-hand
Outstanding inventory relative to average  daily 
sales.
Days Receivables Outstanding
Outstanding receivables relative to average 
 daily sales.
Earnings per Share
/FU�JODPNF�SFMBUJWF�UP�XFJHIUFE�BWFSBHF�

OVNCFS�PG�TIBSFT�	OFU�PG�USFBTVSZ�TIBSFT
�

 assuming dilution and basic, respectively.
Equity Ratio
Shareholders’ equity relative to total assets.
Gross Margin
Gross pro�t relative to sales.
Headcount
&NQMPZFFT�QMVT�UFNQPSBSZ�IPVSMZ�XPSLFST�

Interest-coverage Ratio
Operating income relative to interest expense, 
TFF�QBHF����GPS�SFDPODJMJBUJPO�PG�UIJT�OPO�6�4��

GAAP measure.
Leverage Ratio
/FU�JOUFSFTU�CFBSJOH�EFCU�JO�SFMBUJPO�UP�&#*5%"�

	&BSOJOHT�#FGPSF�*OUFSFTU�5BYFT�%FQSFDJBUJPO�

BOE�"NPSUJ[BUJPO
�TFF�QBHF����GPS�SFDPODJMJB-
UJPO�PG�UIJT�OPO�6�4��(""1�NFBTVSF�

Net Debt
Short and long-term debt including debt-relat-
ed derivatives less cash and cash equivalents, 
TFF�QBHF����GPS�SFDPODJMJBUJPO�PG�UIJT�OPO�6�4��

GAAP measure.
Net Debt to Capitalization
/FU�EFCU�JO�SFMBUJPO�UP�UPUBM�TIBSFIPMEFST��FRVJUZ� 
	JODMVEJOH�NJOPSJUZ
�BOE�OFU�EFCU�

Number of Employees
&NQMPZFFT�XJUI�B�DPOUJOVPVT�FNQMPZNFOU�

agreement, recalculated to full time equivalent 
heads.
Operating Margin
Operating income relative to sales.
Pretax Margin
Income before taxes relative to sales.
Return on Capital Employed
Operating income and equity in earnings of af�l-
iates, relative to average capital employed.
Return on Shareholders’ Equity
/FU�JODPNF�SFMBUJWF�UP�BWFSBHF�TIBSFIPMEFST��

equity.
Operating Working Capital
$VSSFOU�BTTFUT�FYDMVEJOH�DBTI�BOE�DBTI�FRVJWB-
lents less current liabilities excluding short-term 
debt. Any current derivatives reported in current 
assets and current liabilities related to net debt 
are excluded from operating working capital. 
4FF�QBHF����GPS�SFDPODJMJBUJPO�PG�UIJT�OPO�6�4��

GAAP measure.

Locations and Capabilities

Financial Definitions



Selected Financial Data 

(Dollars in millions, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Sales and Income     
Net sales $6,769 $6,188 $6,205 $6,144 $5,301
Operating income 5021) 520 513 513 427
Income before income taxes 4461) 481 482 485 397
Net income 2881) 4022) 2933) 326 268

Financial Position    
Current assets excluding cash 1,941 1,930 1,867 1,962 1,822
Property, plant and equipment 1,260 1,160 1,081 1,160 1,052
Intangible assets (primarily goodwill) 1,760 1,676 1,679 1,709 1,710
Non-interest bearing liabilities 1,552 1,441 1,418 1,678 1,493
Capital employed 3,531 3,413 3,193 3,236 3,187
Net debt 1,182 1,010 877 599 785
Shareholders’ equity 2,349 2,403 2,316 2,636 2,402
Total assets 5,305 5,111 5,065 5,354 4,931
Long-term debt 1,040 888 757 667 846

Share data    
Earnings per share (US$) – basic 3.70 4.90 3.28 3.49 2.83
Earnings per share (US$) – assuming dilution 3.681) 4.882) 3.263) 3.46 2.81
Equity per share (US$) 31.83 30.00 27.67 28.66 25.31
Cash dividends paid per share (US$) 1.54 1.36 1.17 0.75 0.54
Cash dividends declared per share (US$) 1.56 1.41 1.24 0.85 0.56
Share repurchases 380 221 378 144 43
Number of shares outstanding (million)4) 73.8 80.1 83.7 92.0 94.9

Ratios     
Gross margin (%) 19.7 20.4 20.4 19.9 18.9
Operating margin (%) 7.41) 8.4 8.3 8.4 8.1
Pretax margin (%) 6.61) 7.8 7.8 7.9 7.5
Return on capital employed (%) 15 16 16 16 14
Return on shareholders’ equity (%) 121) 172) 123) 13 12
Equity ratio (%) 44 47 46 49 49
Net debt to capitalization (%) 33 29 27 18 24
Days receivables outstanding 64 70 71 73 77
Days inventory outstanding 33 34 32 31 31

Other data     
Airbag sales5) 4,377 4,085 4,116 4,028 3,608
Seatbelt sales6) 2,392 2,103 2,089 2,116 1,693
Net cash provided by operating activities 781 560 479 680 529
Capital expenditures 324 328 315 324 258
Net cash used in investing activities (431) (288) (303) (303) (275)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (375) (438) (86) (261) (273)
Number of employees, December 31 35,300 35,700 34,100 34,500 32,100

1) Excluding impact of a court ruling (see page 37), operating income would have been $532 million, income before taxes $476 million, net income $308 million, operating margin 7.9%, pretax margin 7.0%, earnings 

per share $3.94 and return on equity 12.8%. See page 32 for reconciliation of these non-U.S. GAAP measures. 2) Excluding release of tax reserves and other discrete tax items, net income would have been $307 mil-

lion, earnings per share $3.73 and return on equity 13.2%, see page 32 for reconciliation of these non-U.S. GAAP measures. 3) Excluding the effect of the Jobs Creation Act transactions, net income would have been 

$306 million, earnings per share $3.41 and return on equity 12.2%, see page 32 for reconciliation of these non-U.S. GAAP measures. 4) At year end, net of treasury shares. 5) Incl. electronics, steering wheels, infla-

tors and initiators. 6) Incl. seat components.
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Multi-Year Summary



Autoliv Inc.
Visiting address: World Trade Center 
Klarabergsviadukten 70 
Section E
Mail: P.O. Box 70381
SE-107 24 Stockholm
Sweden
Tel: +46 (0)8 587 20 600
Fax: +46 (0)8 411 70 25
info@autoliv.com
www.autoliv.com

Every year, Autoliv’s products save over 20,000 lives

P
ho

to
: M

ag
nu

s 
S

ko
gl

öf
, G

et
ty

 Im
ag

es
, K

ar
en

 K
el

le
y,

 B
er

nh
ar

d 
S

tu
rm




